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Company Profile
NI b

BYD Company Limited (“BYD” or “the Company” together with its
subsidiaries, “the Group”; stock code: H Shares: 01211; A Shares: 002594)
is principally engaged in automobile business which includes traditional
fuel-engined vehicles and new energy vehicles, handset components
and assembly services, as well as rechargeable battery and photovoltaic
business while taking advantage of its technological superiority to actively
develop urban rail transportation business segment.

Since tapping into the automobile business in 2003, by leveraging on
its advanced technology and cost advantages and international quality
products, the Group has achieved remarkable growth in automobile
business and has rapidly grown into a leading automobile manufacturer in
China with domestic self-owned brand. As a pioneer in the research and
development and promotion of new energy vehicles in the world, the Group
has accumulated extensive skills and gained leading market share in the
new energy vehicles area, which has established the leading position of
BYD in the global new energy vehicles sector.

As a global leading high-end platform-based manufacturing enterprise,
the Group provides world renowned customers with innovative materials
development, product design, research and development, parts and
components, as well as complete machine manufacturing, supply chain
management and, logistics, after-sales and other one-stop services.
Its products cover four major areas including smartphone and PC, new
intelligent product, automotive intelligent system and medical and health,
but the Group does not produce its own brand of whole products. Main
customers of the business include Huawei, Samsung, Apple, vivo, Xiaomi
and other intelligent mobile terminal leaders.

BYD is one of the leading rechargeable battery manufacturers in the global
arena. Major clients include leading consumer electronics manufacturers
such as Samsung and Dell, as well as global leading professional robot
brands such as Ecovacs and iRobot. Lithium-ion batteries produced by the
Group are widely applied in consumer electronics and new smart products.

In September 2008, MidAmerican Energy Holdings Company (now
renamed as Berkshire Hathaway Energy), a subsidiary of Berkshire
Hathaway, entered into an agreement with the Company, pursuant to which
MidAmerican Energy Holdings Company acquired 225 million H Shares of
the Company, (representing approximately 7.86% of the Company’s total
capital at present, approximately 8.25% of the Company’s total capital
as of 31 December 2020), to become the Group’s long term investment
strategic partner. In June 2011, the Company made an IPO of 79 million
RMB ordinary shares (A shares) which were listed on the SME Board of
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (“the Shenzhen Stock Exchange”).

New energy vehicles and urban rail transportation businesses are
important areas for BYD’s future development. By leveraging its technology
and quality advantages in related business areas, the Group will
actively develop the application of new energy vehicles and urban rail
transportation products at home and abroad to facilitate the Group’s long-
term and sustainable development.
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Financial Highlights
MBREE

FIVE-YEAR COMPARISON OF KEY FINANCIAL FIGURES IEH&FEHKEE LR
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—-RLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—EZ8E —T-hE —E-N\FE Tt E TR F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARE®TT
Revenue e 153,469,184 121,778,117 121,790,925 102,650,614 100,207,703
Gross profit £ 27,243,591 18,075,993 18,066,764 17,935,074 19,018,263
Gross profit margin (%) EFIE (%) 18 15 15 17 19
Profit attributable to equity ~ BFARERHEA 4,234,267 1,614,450 2,780,194 4,066,478 5,052,154
holders of the parent [ 16 7
Net profit margin (%) SRR E (%) 2.8 1.3 2.3 4.0 5.0
As at 31 December
W+=A=+-H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—ECEF —E-NE —T-)\#F —T—tF ZE-RE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARETRT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETET
Net assets FEEE 56,874,274 56,762,289 55,198,289 55,004,194 51,255,929
(less minority interests) (B DB R ER)
Total assets EERE 201,017,321 195,641,593 194,571,077 178,099,430 145,070,778
Gearing ratio (%) (Note) BRBELE(%) (H15T) 69 124 104 93 74
Current ratio (times) BN X (%) 1.05 0.99 0.99 0.98 1.00
Receivables turnover eSS 141 190 189 192 132
(days) (Note) (B) (f7:t)
Inventory turnover (days) FEEEXRH(A) 83 92 82 81 76

Note: Gearing ratio = Total borrowings net of cash and cash  f/if -

equivalents/net assets (less minority interests)

Receivables include trade receivables, trade receivable

financing, contract assets, accounts due from associates and

joint ventures, accounts due from related parties.

EXAELER-RAEENRReRRESEE

W,/ FEEE RO BRRER)

EWIERER 2 RIKE SRR - BUGRIER
A AREE BUBEREERR - EKE

Bt 73 5R0R -
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Financial Highlights
MBEE

REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY PRODUCT CATEGORIES RERERIZISMNEESE

@ Rechargeable Batteries and Photovoltaic
—RABEBIAR

@® Mobile handset components, assembly service
and other products
FHEM  ARREMBER

@ Automobiles and related products, and other products
B ABEEER R EMESR

REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY LOCATIONS OF #®ZEFAEHhESHEREEE
CUSTOMERS

@® PRC (including Hong Kong,
Macau and Taiwan)

TR (BIEERALE)

® Overseas
2N




Dream ToGETHER To
Buito A New FuTure
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AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Wang Chuan-fu
Li Qian

LEGAL ADDRESS

No. 1 Yan’an Road
Kuichong Sub-district
Dapeng New District
Shenzhen
Guangdong Province
The PRC

INTERNATIONAL AUDITORS
Ernst & Young

DOMESTIC AUDITORS
Ernst & Young Hua Ming (LLP)

PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 1712, 17th Floor

Tower 2 Grand Central Plaza

No. 138 Shatin Rural Committee Road
New Territories

Hong Kong

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

INVESTOR AND MEDIA RELATIONS CONSULTANT

iPR Ogilvy Ltd.

Tel: (852) 2136 6185

Fax: (852) 3170 6606
Email: byd@iprogilvy.com

WEBSITE

www.byd.com

STOCK CODE

H Shares: 01211 (The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”))
A Shares: 002594 (Shenzhen Stock Exchange)
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Chairman’s Statement
FERES

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of BYD Company Limited
(“BYD” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”), | hereby present the annual report of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year” or
the “Period”).

In 2020, the international situation presented sudden and
perplexing changes. The COVID-19 outbreak dealt a heavy blow
on the global economy. However, China was the only major
economy that achieved a positive growth worldwide. In the full
Year, China realized a Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth rate
of 2.3%.

During the Year, China recorded an automobile sales volume
of approximately 25,311,000 units, representing a year-on-
year decrease of 1.9%. Among them, the new energy vehicle
industry rose against the headwind with a full year sales volume
of 1,367,000 units, representing a year-on-year growth of 10.9%.
Driven by the tide of new energy vehicle development across the
board, the sales volume of new energy vehicles increased month
by month and hit an all-time monthly high in December. The new
energy vehicle industry in China is gradually evolving from the
incubation period to development period, transforming into a
vital force which leads the conversion of the global automobile
industry. In respect of the smart terminal segment, the shipments
of 5G smartphone, laptop and tablet continued to rise. In terms
of rechargeable batteries, due to the pandemic, the sales
performance of global consumer electronics was under pressure,
further influenced the upstream demands of the rechargeable
batteries. As for photovoltaic industry, since the feed-in tariff
gradually achieved a price parity with power prices, the global PV
market recorded a higher-than-expected growth during the Period.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group realized
an operating revenue of RMB153,469 million. The earnings
attributable to the owners of the parent company were RMB4,234
million, up 162%, with the earnings per share of RMB1.47. The
Board of Directors suggests distributing an ending dividend of
RMBO0.148 per share (tax-inclusive).

BEAIRR

AANERK LT ARNDERAR ([HaE@ | [ AR
A REMBAR (REAEE] TSE)EFS
AEURRREEAEERE_Z_TF+ A=+
—HLEFE(TFRIRTHA]) 2FH -

—ToTE  ERBRBER  BEFEEHE
B ([HEH4 ) BAIZ AT - B EATE—
BAES  RARHE - BEREEFEROEREH
B 2EENEEBERR23%ER -

FR PR AEHEELH2,531.188H - B TR
1.9% c Heh - S RABEHEEE 2 FHsE
136.78% ' FAHIER10.9% - AR EHEEFERA
HERARET  FRERAEAHSEENRS &
ToABRETELY® -  FEMERIEEEL
BEWEEIEARRE  KASIBERAEEE
HANEZHE - EEERIKE - 5GEEEF -
FRAERMIREMEESFERA - ZARE
BEE  ZRBYE  RREBEETEMEE
AE - HENEOERITZHE - ARITEBEEF
B EEBROZELER  BAERHCLRTEERR
JEHAE R -

BHE-_Z-_TF+-_A=1+—RHIEE  £HEE:
BAARBA53,460H 87T - B RBHAE AENE
FMEARB4234BET + LH162% - BREF A
ARBA4TTL - BEEQRBRERBREERAR
#0.148 7T (BF) o



During the Year, the Group’s new energy vehicle sales placed
firmly in global front rank. In particular, the Group launched an
all-new flagship model “Han” and a facelift flagship SUV “Tang”,
which have been widely acclaimed among consumers, and the
brand influence continued to grow. Meanwhile, the Group caught
the tide of online ride-hailing industry, actively cooperated with
DiDi to develop the world's first customized online ride-hailing
vehicle, D1, which specifically caters to the needs of online ride-
hailing users.

In the field of traditional fuel automobiles, during the Year, the
Group released the fuel version of “Song Plus”. “Song Plus” is
powered by an all-new BYD Xiaoyun 1.5Ti high-power powertrain
and has introduced the exterior design language of Dragon
Face. After launch, it has been widely appreciated by the market,
therefore boosted the Group’s fuel vehicle business to grow
against the market downtrend.

2020 is an important milestone for BYD' s marketization strategy.
BYD Semiconductor has completed internal reorganization,
introduction of strategic investors, shareholding reform and
other related works. It symbolized the key step forward in BYD’s
marketization strategy.

Guided by the thought of marketization strategy, BYD has actively
opened its arm wide and displayed an inclusive mindset. During
the Year, the Group and Toyota set up a joint venture, which is
a research and development company specialized in electric
vehicles. Later on, the Group signed a strategic business alliance
agreement with Hino Motors. Hence further accelerate the
marketization process of the Group.

During the Period, BYD became the shareholder of Allystar
Technology (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd., Canadian Solar Inc., Hunan
Yuneng New Energy Battery Material Co., Ltd. and other core
companies along the industry chain. In aspect of high-precision
navigation, the Company carried out in-depth cooperation
with Allystar, to strengthen its layout in intellectualization and
differentiation based on chip technology; in aspect of new energy
industry, the Company and Canadian Solar Inc. reached a
consensus that the photovoltaic industry and the business model
of “photovoltaic+energy storage integration” have a promising
prospect, furthermore, they committed to jointly provide first-
class solutions for global photovoltaic development; in aspect of
battery industry, leveraging the strategic synergy in the upstream
and downstream of the industrial chain with Hunan Yuneng, the
Group’s competitive advantage will be enhanced.
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Chairman’s Statement

EEHRES

Further, in early 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic broke out. By
exerting its advantages and applying its own resources, the
Group actively participated in the epidemic prevention and anti-
epidemic, to meet the needs of the community and to fulfill its
corporate social responsibility.

In terms of handset components and assembly business, the
Group has increasingly diversified its product portfolio with its
industry-leading advantages of research, development and
manufacturing strengths. Currently the Group covers four major
businesses, including smartphone and PC, new intelligent
product, automotive intelligent system and healthcare products.
With the optimization of the product mix and the improvement in
the overall operational efficiency, the profitability has also been
further improved.

The rechargeable battery business achieved relatively rapid
growth during the Year. The photovoltaic business realized further
increase in revenue benefiting from faster-than-expected growth
in the industry.

Looking ahead to 2021, a new round of global scientific and
technological innovation and industrial revolution will achieve
profound progress. In terms of automobile, electrification is
inevitable, and the Group has kept its tenacious hold on the
core technologies of motor, electric control, battery, power
semiconductor and other fields. The Group also leveraged on
technological revolution, “blade battery” and super hybrid DM-
i, to promote a comprehensive electrification of the automotive
business.

In addition, the Group is now accelerating the pace of
marketization. The spin-off listing of BYD Semiconductor will
help it further improve the multiple-channel financing capacity
and brand recognition, and therefore improving the sustainable
competitive strengths in the long term. In future, the Group will
incubate more competitive subsidiaries, realize marketization
operation, fully unleash the market potentials of different business
units within the Group, and generate incremental value to the
Group.

In terms of automotive intellectualization, the Group has
completed strategic investment in Horizon Robotics, an automotive
intelligence core chip manufacturer, representing a further step
in BYD’s industrial investment. BYD’s chip and intellectualization
technology accumulations, together with Horizon Robotics’ Al chip
and algorithm, the cooperation created a matrix of complementary
advantages, which enable the Group to further develop the in-
depth technology innovation.
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In January 2021, the Group successfully completed the private
placement of 133 million new H shares. The nearly HK$30 billion
lightning placement of H shares has attracted many top long-term
and sovereign funds in the world. This round of financing will
significantly enhance the Company’s capital strength, provide
strong financial support for the Company’s investment in the fields
of electrification, intellectualization and power batteries, and help
the Company’s business to achieve rapid growth.

In terms of the handset component and assembly segment, the
Group will leveraging on the advantages, leading technologies
and advanced manufacturing capacity, to vigorously develop
utilization of the key customer in North America while maintaining
its leading position in the field of Android customers. BYD aims at
increasing the market share of current product line and expand
into new product lines. Therefore optimize the customer structure
and product mix, realizing the coordinated and rapid development
of component business and assembly, further, to generate new
growing momentum for the smart phone and PC business. On the
other side, the Group will take hold of vast business opportunities
in emerging fields, continuously expand the product lines of
intelligent product and automotive intelligent system, in particular,
to expand the product portfolio with electronic atomizers,
unmanned aerial vehicles and smart home appliances, which
will enter the stage of sharp growth in sales volume, with the
expectation of driving the robust growth of the Group’s business.

As to the rechargeable battery segment, the Group will apply
new technologies to enlarge the customer base and increase the
market share in related niches. In terms of photovoltaic business,
the Group will seize the market opportunity, leveraging on its
reputation of high product quality to build up a solid foundation for
new round of increments, continuously increase the market share
at home and abroad.

In the coming future, the Group will continue to take new energy
vehicles and urban rail transit business as important strategic
development direction and provide cites with comprehensive
solutions for pollution control and congestion issue, devoting
itself to the performance of corporate social responsibility fully by
addressing the issues of urban air pollution and traffic congestion
that exist universally.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Within the context of China's acceleration in achieving carbon
neutrality, BYD will accelerate the development and application
of new energy. Meanwhile, the Group will strengthen the efforts
in core technology research and development, build up an
ecosystem of win-win industrial cooperation, and speed up
marketization development. Therefore achieve the enduring
prosperous and the sustainable development of the Group, further
more, build BYD into a longstanding company in Chinese industry.

Lastly, on behalf of BYD, | would like to express sincere gratitude
to our loyal customers for their persistent support. | also give
my heartfelt thanks to all business partners, investors and
shareholders for their trust. Besides, | would also like to present
my heartfelt gratitude to all staff for their consistent hard work,
sacrifice and contribution in the past year. BYD will continue
to embrace the future as usual, always arm itself, seize market
opportunities and leverage its own advantages to promote the
long-term healthy development of the Company and focus on
maximizing returns for shareholders.

Chairman
Wang Chuan-fu
Shenzhen, the PRC, 29 March 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

INDUSTRY ANALYSIS AND REVIEW
Automobiles Business

In 2020, amid the severe and complicated international situation
and the COVID-19 outbreak, the global economy took a big hit,
and the domestic economy was greatly affected. According to
the data released by the National Bureau of Statistics, the annual
GDP growth rate was only 2.3%. However, as China implemented
effective control over the pandemic in an relatively early stage, the
economic growth shifted from negative to positive throughout the
year, and economic operation firstly declined and then rose. In
the fourth quarter, the GDP rebounded to 6.5%. China’s economy
recovered strongly and China became the only one of the major
economies that achieved positive economic growth.

According to the statistics from the China Association of
Automobile Manufacturers, the accumulated production and sales
volume of automobiles in China were 25.225 million and 25.311
million units in 2020, respectively, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 2.0% and 1.9%. Among them, the production and
sales volume of new energy vehicles in China grew against the
trend, both hitting new highs. The annual production and sales
volume was 1.366 million units and 1.367 million units respectively,
representing a year-on-year increase of 7.5% and 10.9%. Under
the wave of the all-round development of new energy vehicles, the
sales of new energy vehicles in China rebounded month by month
as the pandemic was steadily under control. Furthermore, the
production and sales volume recorded new highs in December.
The industry of China’s new energy vehicles is gradually
evolving from the incubation period to the development period,
transforming into a vital force which leads the conversion of the
global automobile industry.
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In 2020, efforts were made to push the industry of China’s new
energy vehicles further into the new stage of high-quality market-
oriented development steadily. In April, the Ministry of Finance,
the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, the Ministry
of Science and Technology, and the National Development and
Reform Commission jointly issued the “Notice on Improving the
Financial Subsidies for the Promotion and Application of New
Energy Vehicles”. The Notice made it clear that the validity period
of financial subsidies for new energy vehicles would be extended
to the end of 2022 and the financial subsidies will phase out in the
following two years. This move consolidated the early development
results of the industry while further promoting the healthy, stable,
and market-oriented development of the industry. the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, the Ministry of
Finance, the Ministry of Commerce, the General Administration
of Customs, and the State Administration for Market Regulation
jointly issued the “Decision on Revising the Measures for the
Parallel Management of the Scores of Average Fuel Consumption
of Passenger Car Enterprises and New Energy Vehicles”. By
improving the assessment method of passenger car enterprises
based on the points of the average fuel consumption of passenger
cars and new energy vehicles, the Decision would further step
up the structural adjustment, transformation and upgrading of
the automobile industry. In November, the General Office of the
State Council formally promulgated the “Development Plan for the
New Energy Automobile Industry (2021-2035)", making it explicit
that by 2025, the market share of new energy vehicles sales
volume would account for about 20% of the total, and by 2035,
pure electric vehicles should become the mainstream among
sales of vehicles, therefore realize the full electrification in the
public transportation vehicles. The Development Plan indicated
the direction for the high-quality development of the automobile
industry. It would also help China transform from a big automobile
country to a powerful one. Other than that, with the proposing
and implementing of the peak carbon dioxide emissions and
carbon neutrality, China will further accelerate the transformation
of energy structures, hence promote the revolution both on the
supply side and the demand side.

In June,

—E-THE 7‘%3&—*%&@)%&@%5 Jﬁiﬁ%ﬂ?%f&
AREENTIHCERMBER B T
SR BHEED  BRHMEZR @*VFH& (R
TEEMBR A EE R BB BN - B
i@ﬁ%%ﬁé‘%/\mﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬁl%%_%ﬁ__iﬁ AR T
Tﬂiﬂéﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬂl RFEED - ZETITERHE
ERAROER - FPHBTITEREFROMS
L3R - XA IED CMERED - ASER BRI
E BHERTSEEERERAAZEMBANIEN
CRAELEFHREDERE B R TEE N LT
ERIE) WRE)  BBTERMELERRER
B FHREDEREE D BRI TEE D O E
EE—HMBRAIEEENEBAREERTIR -

+— A BBE#HAEEREHMChIERABEEE
ZEREHE(2021 2035¢)>> b e sk = <
RAB B HEEED ABMBEEEE20% T
A iJ—%:ﬂfﬁ CHEHAEKAEEEEHANE

W AHEHPAEIEEDL RAEEXSEE
BERIEBFT AR BHHPEHIEREBRTER
o JbAN - BEE [HUEE R R I RENE
it FEIE - FIRERGEENEE - KRG
BT RAE R o



Annual Report 2020
—RCREER

Management Discussion and Analysis

Handset Components and Assembly Business

According to the statistics from IDC, a market research institute,
in 2020, the shipment of global smart phones dropped by 5.9% to
1.292 billion units year on year, of which the market penetration
and shipment of 5G smart phones were still on the rise. According
to the data released by the China Academy of Information and
Communications Technology, in 2020, the shipment of China’s
domestic smart phones decreased by 20.4% to 296 million units
year on year, whereas that of 5G smart phones showed an upward
trend. Accumulative 163 million units were shipped throughout
the year. At the same time, the pandemic catalyzed new business
opportunities like online education, remote office, and online
entertainment. The sales volume of notebook computers and
tablet computers grew year on year. According to the statistics
from IDC, a market research institute, in 2020, the shipment of the
global PC market exceeded 300 million units, a 13.1% increase
over last year, and that of the global tablet computers reached
164 million units, a 13.6% increase over last year.

Rechargeable Batteries and Photovoltaic Business

In 2020, due to the impact of the pandemic, global consumer
electronics sales was under pressure, and the upstream battery
demand was also affected. In the field of photovoltaics, despite
the impact of the COVID-19, the global photovoltaics achieved
more than expected growth. According to the statistics of CPIA,
it's estimated that the global newly installed photovoltaic capacity
was 130GW, a 13% increase over last year.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

BYD Company Limited (“BYD” or “the Company” together with its
subsidiaries, “the Group”) is principally engaged in automobile
business which includes new energy vehicles and traditional fuel-
engined vehicles, handset components and assembly services,
rechargeable batteries and photovoltaic products, as well as the
urban rail transit and other business segments which the Group
has actively developed. During the Year, the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately RMB153,469 million, representing
a year-on-year increase of 26.02%, among which, the revenue
from the automobiles and related products, and other products
amounted to approximately RMB81,958 million, representing a
year-on-year increase of 37.66%; the revenue from the mobile
handset components, assembly service and other products
amounted to approximately RMB59,354 million, representing
a year-on-year increase of 13.01%; and the revenue from the
rechargeable batteries and photovoltaic business amounted to
approximately RMB11,705 million, representing a year-on year
increase of 20.44%. These three business segments accounted
for 53.40%, 38.68% and 7.63% of the Group’s total revenue,
respectively.

Automobiles Business

2020 was a year when the global automobile industry underwent
transformation and upgrading, therefore accelerated the pace
of revolution. As a pioneer and leader in the new energy
vehicle industry, BYD leveraged on technological innovation for
developing a better life. The Group promoted the high-quality
development of the industry through technology iteration. BYD was
determined to upgrade itself from being “Made in China” to the
“China Brand”. The Group further enhanced the comprehensive
competitiveness and brand influence of its products by fully
upgrading the interior and exterior decoration, man-machine
interaction, and intelligence of automobile products. During the
year, the Group’s new energy vehicles sales placed firmly in
global front rank.

In the field of new energy passenger cars, the Group based on
the advanced technologies and the customer-centered mindset
to constantly launch market-competitive models. Therefore make
steady progresses on the way of brand premiumlization. During
the Year, the Group unveiled the brand-new flagship model
“Han” and the revamped flagship SUV “Tang”, which won the
favor of the market and consumers. With the drivers of 2 flagship
models, the sales volume’s percentage of RMB200,000 above
grew significantly. Among them, the sales volume of model “Han”
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has kept rising steadily since its launch in July. Model “Han” is
the very first high-end C-class sedan that recorded a monthly
sales over 10,000 units in China’s automobile industry. The brand-
new flagship Model “Han” are the world’s first model equipped
with the Group’s new-generation power battery “blade battery”.
The “blade battery” was released in March of the year. It has six
technological innovations including super safety, super durability,
super traveling range, super strength, super power, and ultra-low
temperature performance. Its safety performance redefines the
industry standards, it guaranteed the safety of consumers. With
full upgrade in aspect of intelligence and continued evolve of OTA
upgrade service, Model “Han” provide consumers with a richer
and more convenient car experience. The hot sales of Model
“Han” break the unchangeable pattern of the self-owned brands
and help continuously improve the Group’s brand image.

During the Year, the Group unveiled the world’s first customized
model “D1” of the online car-hailing nature in November, which
had been jointly created by the Group and DiDi. Model “D1” is an
intelligent ride-sharing new species, tailored to satisfy the unique
needs of the online ride-hailing market. The model were created
by the Group and DiDi by leveraging their respective unique
advantages in the electric automobile, ride-sharing fields and the
demand and travel data of 550 million passengers and a great
many drivers on the DiDi platform.

In the field of pure electric buses, due to the impact of the
COVID-19, market clearing is accelerated, and the industry
concentration further increased. By relying on the long-term
established good reputation and brand image, the Group acts
faster to expand the domestic and overseas markets. In the
domestic market, through market expansion, service model
improvement and other strategies, the Group has not only entered
a number of cities including Chengde, Zhenjiang, Yichang,
Yongzhou, etc., but also deepened its market operations in
Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Changsha, Tianjin, etc. In overseas
markets, although the COVID-19 has wreaked havoc, the Group’s
overseas business has still achieved rapid growth. During
the Year, BYD completed the delivery of orders to the United
Kingdom, Sweden, Germany, and other countries. In the European
market, the Group’s market share of pure electric buses exceeded
20%. In 2020, the sales volume of the Group’s electric buses grew
against downtrend, and the market share of electric buses further
increased.
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In the field of traditional fuel-engined vehicles, BYD released
the “Song Plus” fuel version in September 2020. Model “Song
Plus” is the first model equipped with BYD'’s new-generation 1.5Ti
highpower powertrain. Since their launch, they have been widely
praised by the market, which boosts the hot sales of “Song”
series products and drives the growth of the Group’s fuel-engined
vehicle business against the downtrend.

In the field of urban rail transit, breakthroughs have been made
in the two major “SkyShuttle” projects in the Bishan District of
Chongging and the Pingshan District of Shenzhen. Meanwhile,
the Group acquired the Contracts in Salvador and Sao Paulo, the
famous cities of Brazil respectively in 2020.

In addition, in 2020, BYD stepped into a new stage of
marketization development. The spin off and listing of BYD
Semiconductor is an important milestone in the marketization
strategy. Currently, BYD Semiconductor has completed
internal reorganization, introduction of strategic investors, and
shareholding reforms. Meanwhile, BYD Semiconductor has been
authorized to start the preparatory work for the spin-off listing. As
an independent leading manufacturer of automotive-grade IGBTs
in China, BYD Semiconductor possesses “first mover advantage”
in terms of technology accumulation, reserve of talents, and
product application experience. BYD Semiconductor breaks
technological monopoly of overseas manufacturers.

With respect to outside cooperation, under the guidance of the
marketization strategy, BYD and Toyota established BYD TOYOTA
EV Technology Co., Ltd. (trepim @M ESHEREE AR AF]) during
the Year. With respect to the cooperation in the field of new energy
passenger cars, BYD and Hino Motors, Ltd. signed a Strategic
Business Alliance Agreement on the proposed establishment of a
joint venture for the joint development of BEVs and electric vehicle
parts for the purpose of promoting the worldwide popularization of
BEVs and fulfilling a low-carbon society as soon as possible.

During the Period, BYD became the shareholder of Allystar
Technology (Shenzhen) Co. Ltd., Canadian Solar Inc., Hunan
Yuneng New Energy Battery Material Co., Ltd. and other core
companies along the industry chain. In aspect of high-precision
navigation, the Company carried out in-depth cooperation
with Allystar, to strengthen its layout in intellectualization and
differentiation based on chip technology; in aspect of new energy
industry, the Company and Canadian Solar Inc. reached a
consensus that the photovoltaic industry and the business model
of “photovoltaic+energy storage integration” have a promising
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prospect, further more, they committed to jointly provide first-class
solutions for global photovoltaic development; in aspect of battery
industry, leveraging the strategic synergy in the upstream and
downstream of the industrial chain of Hunan Yuneng, the Group’s
competitive advantage will be enhanced.

At the beginning of 2020, the COVID-19 broke out in China. The
pandemic prevention task is arduous due to the shortage of
facial masks. BYD, as a representative of Chinese manufacturer,
based on its strong R&D capabilities and manufacturing
strengths, supported the production of masks spare no efforts.
BYD accomplished the feat of completing drawings in 3 days,
developing mask machines in 7 days, and producing masks in 10
days. In addition to ensuring the supply of domestic pandemic
prevention and control supplies, BYD actively assist the fight
against the pandemic globally to fulfill its corporate social
responsibilities. During the Period, the pandemic prevention and
control supplies produced by BYD were shipped to more than 70
countries and regions around the world. BYD thus earned broad
admiration from home and abroad.

Handset Components and Assembly Business

As a world-leading platform for high-end manufacturers, BYD
provides customers with the development of new materials,
product design and development, components and machine
manufacturing, supply chain management, logistics and
after-sales service and other one-stop services. The Group’s
businesses covers from smartphone and PC, new intelligent
product, automotive intelligent system and healthcare. The Group,
thanks to the world-leading R&D and manufacturing capabilities,
diversified product portfolios, and close strategic customer
relationships, has entered a new cycle of rapid growth.

During the Year, the Group’s market share in Android customers
and key customers in North America further increased, and the
business continued to expand, in particular, the rapid growth
of glass and ceramic product shipments; the introduction of
new customers in the new smart product sector, which greatly
increased the business scale and opened up new growth
space. The development of smart automotive systems business
outperforms the market. At the same time, BYD promoted lean
production, reduced costs and increase efficiency, with the overall
operational efficiency further improved. With the optimization of
the product mix and the improvement in the overall operational
efficiency, the profitability of the Group has also been enhanced.
During the Period, the revenue of the Group in the mobile
handset components, assembly service and other products was
approximately RMB59,354 million.
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Rechargeable Batteries and Photovoltaic Business

The Group’s rechargeable batteries mainly include lithium-ion
batteries and iron batteries products, which are widely used in
mobile phones, electronic tools and other portable electronic
devices. During the Year, the Group’s traditional battery business
achieved steady growth. In respect of photovoltaic business,
the Group actively explored the global market and achieved
steady growth in sales revenue. During the Year, the revenue
of rechargeable batteries and photovoltaic business was about

RMB11,705 million.

PROSPECT AND STRATEGY

Looking into 2021, the international environment is becoming
increasingly complex, instability and uncertainty still exist and
COVID-19 has a far-reaching impact, all of which will represent
a countercurrent for economic globalization. as a
new round of global scientific and technological revolution and
industrial reform deepens, the automobile industry is facing a
period of major change that's rarely seen in a century. With the

However,

global electrification tide approaching, OEMs are accelerating
the pace of developing of new energy vehicles. The new energy
vehicle industry is facing a historical opportunity.

Automobiles Business

In January 2021, BYD Auto officially released the brand new
LOGO, which expressed BYD Auto’s willingness to link with users
and partners with a more open attitude. So as to jointly explore
new business models of automobile products and services in the
intelligent era; to build up a new value automobile brand together.
At the same time, BYD will bring forth the new, based on the
technology innovation of “blade batteries” and super hybrid DM-
i, to accelerate the era of price parity between new energy vehicle
and traditional fuel vehicles, to promote the full electrification of

the automobile industry.

In the field of passenger cars, BYD launched three models of
DM-i super hybrid automobiles “Qin PLUS DM-i", “Song PLUS
DM-i", and “Tang DM-i". The DM-i models, designed with a super
bringing consumers
an outstanding driving experience that is of ultra-low fuel

hybrid system, features electric power,

consumption, quiet and smooth. The fuel consumption is only 3.8
/100 kilometers in the mode of low battery, with the combination
traveling range of electricity and fuel over 1,200 kilometers. The
model’s 0-100km/h acceleration time is 2 to 3 seconds faster than
the fuel vehicles that with similar purchase price. Meanwhile, in
order to provide a safer consumption experience for consumers,
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the Group’s new energy vehicles will be gradually switched to
the “blade battery” following model “Han”’s practice. In addition,
the launch of D1 is expected to bring new drivers to the Group’s
growth as the COVID-19 epidemic in China under control,
resulting in travel resumption over time.

In the field of battery electric bus, BYD, as the world’s first
new energy enterprise originating the strategy of “urban bus
electrification”, provides green environmental protection solutions
for more and more countries and regions with high-quality new
energy vehicles, and earns market preference for its significant
environmental benefits and reliable quality.

For the traditional fuel vehicles, the Group will enhance the
overall competitiveness through continuous optimization of
exterior and interior decoration and continuous improvement
in product performance, providing consumers with a better
driving experience. This will help enhance the influence of BYD
automobile brand.

For the rail transit, “SkyRail” and “SkyShuttle”, as low-cost urban
rail transit solutions, have a huge market demand. With the
accelerating development of new infrastructure, the Group will
continue pushing forward the construction schedule of domestic
and overseas projects. It is expected that related businesses will
bring new increments to the Group’s revenue and profits.

In terms of marketization strategy, the semiconductor’'s spin-off
listing will bring BYD an improving financing ability and brand
effect. And BYD will enjoy a sustainable competitive edge by
enhancing its abilities in both resource integration and product
R&D. This will help BYD secure market development opportunities
based on the domestic capital market resources, building up a
solid foundation for becoming a supplier of new semiconductors
that are efficient, smart and integrated. The Group will embark on
incubating more subsidiaries with strong market competitiveness
to realize marketization operation. This is aimed at stretching the
market potential of each business under BYD and enhancing the
overall valuation of the Group.

In terms of automotive intellectualization, the Group has
completed strategic investment in Horizon Robotics, an automotive
intelligence core chip manufacturer, representing a further step
in BYD’s industrial investment. BYD’s chip and intellectualization
technology accumulations, together with Horizon Robotics’ Al chip
and algorithm, the cooperation created a matrix of complementary
advantages, which enable the Group to further develop the in-
depth technology innovation.
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In January 2021, the Group successfully completed the private
placement of 133 million new H shares. The nearly HK$30 billion
lightning placement of H shares has attracted many top long-term
and sovereign funds in the world. This round of financing will
significantly enhance the Company’s capital strength, provide
strong financial support for the Company’s investment in the fields
of electrification, intellectualization and power batteries, and help
the Company’s business to achieve rapid growth.

Handset Components and Assembly Business

With the post-epidemic economic recovery and the sustained
advancement of 5G technology, 2021 is expected to see the
resumption of the market demand in an all-round way. According
to a report released by market research agency TrendForce, the
global mobile phone production volume will increase by 9% year-
on-year to 1.36 billion units in 2021, 5G smart phone shipments
are expected to double to about 500 million units, and the
market penetration rate will increase to 37%. The global laptop
shipments are likely to grow to 217 million units, an increase of
8.6% year-on-year. As a leading industry manufacturer that lead
technologies and advanced manufacturing capabilities, the Group
will benefit more from the recovery of the industry boom and drive
business growth, especially the rising share of glass and ceramic
business is expected to reach a new level in shipment While
maintaining its leading position in the field of Android users, the
Group will continue promoting the business of key customers in
North America, devoting itself to increasing the share of existing
products and expanding more categories so as to optimize the
customer structure and product mix, and realizing the coordinated
and rapid development of component business and assembly
business, to inject new growth momentum into the smart phone
and PC business.

Furthermore, the Group will grasp the huge business opportunities
in emerging business areas by means of the multi-dimensional
layout of business areas and expanding categories. Meanwhile,
the Group will invest more in research and development of
product technology upgrading and dedicate itself to new customer
development for an improving market share.In particular, business
segments such as electronic atomization devices, unmanned
aerial vehicles, smart home and other products will enter mass
production, which will propel the Group’s business on the high-
speed growth track. With the continuous development and
application of technologies such as the electrification, intelligence,
and autonomous driving of automobiles,, the intelligent vehicle
market will expand, driving the Group’s vehicle intelligent system
business into the fast track of development. The Group will
increase research and development investment to expand product
line, and continue to deepen cooperation with automobile OEMs
at home and abroad, so as to realize the long-term development
of its automotive intelligent system business. In the medical and
health segment, the Group will continue expand business team.
Meanwhile, leverage on its advantages in precision manufacturing
technology and R&D in software and hard-ware, the Group further
expands its medical and health products to cultivate a new
backbone for the its future development.

“EC—F—F AEERINTTHK.33EBITHR
FLtE o RIRITB00 BB HPIEEE WS T 2K
TMEERRE  THRES2H8H - KAREHBELR
BARERES  BRATMBIEEBHEL Bl
MEBHEAZRHNRARRBANES IR - B
NRAREBERREKE

FHRBHERARER

BE & B R IE R R A BB 8 IA MG RUIT R B HeaE -
- FHPARTERTRKNEEESR - BT
F B TrendForceB R{EEA » — - —F%
HRFHAEERERFIEINI%T13.61855  5GE#E
FHNESBHEMEINSES  MHL2BEREH
B37%  RHEEHEEAEHESEREE217ES
BB RS8.6% o fEATA BB MM LERERE
RITERERE  SESENZERNTESRER
T B ERRERERE  CEEFEBEREAEESRD
HMIBERA HESELEBELHAR - ERENE
BREFEBMEBLNMNORE - EEBFEXNNE
EIAEXBRFPER  MAONIRAIRBERNDEEHM
PLZRENE  BEGLEFPABINERES B
HEAHEBNEALERNHRSRER - BE 42
FHNFEEBIAZTHIERIRE -

R - RESEENRREALAOEADHE 24
EMBERES - SHERME - MAMERAE
MBMAR  BAOMEFHE - X TEREATSH
Mo LERETHILERE BEAK BEREFE
BREFEARES  HEFEXBEANGRIER
PE - BEAENEDL  BRICUAREDHERS
RIHIHEERMER - NESRLETERELT
HiEA  wHEETEERAREREAZRRRE
& - REBIHEMKABERA  BRERR 8
MREFRINTEIEBMOEE - ABRITELRE
EGEBOREER  HEBRBREFIE - KR
SEBBBEEAERKEN  ANECEFREBRE
RMREREANHRES - P HRBEREEE
o REBERKNERZEN —WHPENE -



Annual Report 2020
—RCREER 23

Management Discussion and Analysis

Rechargeable Batteries and Photovoltaic Business

In terms of rechargeable batteries, the Group will continue
promoting the application of new technologies, expanding its
customer base, and gaining market shares in related fields. In
terms of photovoltaic business, the Group will seize the market
opportunity and lay a foundation for the new round of growth
using its premium products to keep an increasing market share at
home and abroad.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue and Profit attributable to Owners of the Parent
Company

During the Year, revenue increased by 26.02% as compared to
that of 2019, mainly attributable to increase in business volume
of automobiles sector. Profit attributable to equity holders of the
Parent Company increased by 162% as compared to the previous
year, mainly attributable to the improvement of overall operating
efficiency and increase in gross profit of new products.

Segmental Information

The following charts set out comparisons of the Group’s revenue
by product categories for the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2020:

Revenue Breakdown by Product Categories
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Revenue Breakdown by Locations of Customers

RERERNESWE X REFEMBDNEREE
2020 6)20 p ‘ 2019 ’
“ECFTF —E-hF “TFF —E-hF
@ Rechargeable Batteries and ® Mobile handset compo- ® PRC (including Hong Kong, ® Overseas
Photovoltaic nents, assembly service Macau and Taiwan) BHN
ZRFEEBRAK and other products FE(BESRAE)
) FHeERM - AAE R HAD
Automobiles and related =2
products, and other products "
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Gross Profit and Margin E R R BEEFE

During the Year, the Group'’s gross profit increased by 50.72% to
approximately RMB27,244 million. Gross profit margin increased
from approximately 14.84% in 2019 to approximately 17.75%
during the Year. The gross profit margin increased in comparison
with 2019, mainly attributable to increase in business volume of
automobiles sector.
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

During the Year, BYD generated operating cash inflow of
approximately RMB45,393 million, compared with operating
cash inflow of approximately RMB14,741 million in 2019. Cash
inflow of the Group during the Period was mainly arising from
the increase in cash generated from the sales of goods and
provision of services in operating activities. Total borrowings as
at 31 December 2020, including all bank loans and bonds, were
approximately RMB51,271 million, compared with approximately
RMB75,978 million as at 31 December 2019. The maturity profile
of the bank loans and bonds thereof spreads over a period of ten
years, with approximately RMB27,645 million repayable within
one year, approximately RMB23,380 million within the second
to the fifth years and approximately RMB246 million over five
years. The Group had adequate liquidity to meet its daily liquidity
management and capital expenditure requirements and control
internal operating cash flows.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, turnover period of
receivables (including trade receivables and trade receivable
financing, amounts due from associates and joint ventures,
amounts due from related parties) was approximately 141 days,
as compared to approximately 190 days for the same period in
2019, which was mainly due to the increase of trade receivables
balance in average was lower than that of sales revenue over the
same period. The inventory turnover period was approximately 83
days for the year ended 31 December 2020 as compared to about
92 days for the same period in 2019, which was mainly due to the
increase of inventory in average was lower than that of cost of
sales over the same period.

Please refer to notes 35 and 42 to the financial statements for
details of Financial Resources.

Capital Structure

The Group’s Financial Division is responsible for the Group’s
financial risk management which operates according to policies
implemented and approved by senior management. As at 31
December 2020, borrowings were primarily settled in RMB, while
cash and cash equivalents were primarily held in RMB and US
dollar. The Group plans to maintain an appropriate mix of equity
and debt to ensure an efficient capital structure during the Period.
As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s outstanding loans included
RMB loans and foreign currency loans and approximately 56%
(2019: 72%) of such outstanding loans were at fixed interest rates,
with the remaining at floating interest rates.
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The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by equity. The Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing
ratio as low as possible. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Equity
represents equity attributable to owners of the parent. Therefore,
the gearing ratios of the Group was 69% and 124% as at 31
December 2020 and 31 December 2019, respectively.

As at 31 December 2020, certain items of the Group’s land and
buildings with a net carrying amount of RMB191,209 thousand (31
December 2019: RMB209,019 thousand) and transit equipment
with a net carrying amount of RMB1,781 thousand (31 December
2019: RMB2,088 thousand) have been pledged as securities for
the long term loans of RMB116,295 thousand (31 December 2019:
RMB132,102 thousand) granted to the Group, of which RMB6,675
thousand (31 December 2019: RMB7,091 thousand) was long
term loans due within a year. In addition, as at 31 December
2020, a pledged bank deposit of RMB429,041 thousand
(2019: RMB837,921 thousand) and a restricted bank deposit
of RMB277,491 thousand (2019: RMB137,865 thousand) were
pledged for bank bills, guarantee deposits and others.

Exposure to Foreign Exchange Risk

Most of the Group’s income and expenditure are settled in RMB
and US dollar. During the Period, the Group did not experience
any significant difficulties in or impacts on its operations or
liquidity due to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. The
directors believe that the Group has sufficient foreign exchange
to meet its own foreign exchange requirements and will adopt
practical measures to prevent exposure to exchange rate risk.

Employment, Training and Development

As at 31 December 2020,
224.3 thousand employees. During the Period,
accounted for approximately 15.80% of the Group’s turnover.
Employees’ remuneration was determined based on performance,
qualifications and prevailing industry practices, with compensation

the Group had approximately
total staff cost

policies being reviewed on a regular basis. Bonuses were also
awarded to employees, based on their annual performance
evaluation.
motivation.

Incentives were offered to encourage personal
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Share Capital [N
As at 31 December 2020, the share capital of the Company was WR-Z-_ZTF+-A=+—H  AQARHKRADN
as follows: T
Number of Approximate
shares issued Percentage (%)
BITROBE HIEBE D (%)
A shares AR% 1,813,142,855 66.46
H shares HA% 915,000,000 33.54
Total B 2,728,142,855 100.00
Note: the Company successfully alloted and issued an aggregate Bia: KRR -—BE-—F— A -+ NBRNEER
of 133,000,000 new H shares on 28 January 2021, and the 21T A 133,000 000 /B FHE - FLE AL
shareholding structure after the placing is as follows: AEREZERE N T -
Number of Approximate
shares issued Percentage (%)
ERITROEE KA B D (%)
A shares AR 1,813,142,855 63.37
H shares HA% 1,048,000,000 36.63
Total Pk 2,861,142,855 100.00

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

The Company did not redeem any of its shares during the period
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020. During the Period,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased or sold
any of the Company'’s shares.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD AND MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

During the reporting period, there was no significant investment
held, material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures.

In addition, BYD Semiconductor Company Limited (Lt anih-E g
&P B R AR (formerly known as “BYD Semiconductor Co., Ltd.”,
hereinafter referred to as “BYD Semiconductor”), a subsidiary of
the Company, entered into the Investment Agreement and the
Shareholders’ Agreement and appendices thereof and related
supplementary agreements (if any) with 14 and 30 investors
respectively on 26 May 2020 and 15 June 2020, to make a capital
increase of RMB2,699,999,999 in aggregate.
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In the First Round Capital Increase, approximately RMB76,050,059
has been included in the increased registered capital of BYD
Semiconductor and approximately RMB1,823,949,941 has
been be included in the capital reserve of BYD Semiconductor.
Upon the First Round Capital Increase, these 14 investors
obtained a total of approximately 20.21% equity interest in
BYD Semiconductor. In the Second Round Capital Increase,
approximately RMB32,021,077 has been included in the increased
registered capital of BYD Semiconductor and approximately
RMB767,978,922 has been be included in the capital reserve of
BYD Semiconductor. Upon the Second Round Capital Increase,
these 30 investors obtained a total of approximately 7.84% of
the enlarged equity interest in BYD Semiconductor. After the
completion of the Capital Increase, the registered capital of
BYD Semiconductor is approximately RMB408,268,736 and the
Company holds approximately 72.30% of the enlarged equity
interest in BYD Semiconductor after the Capital Increase. The
aforesaid introduction of strategic investors of BYD Semiconductor
doesn’t constitute discloseable transaction of the Company under
the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange. For more information,
please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 26 May 2020
and 15 June 2020.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

Please refer to note 45 to the financial statements for details of
capital commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Please refer to note 43 to the financial statements for details of
contingent liabilities.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND SOCIAL
SECURITY

During the reporting period, the Company had no significant
environmental protection or social security issues.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Wang Chuan-fu

Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, aged 55, Chinese national with no right
of abode overseas, master's degree holder, senior engineer,
younger brother of Mr. Wang Chuan-fang and younger cousin
of Mr. Lv Xiang-yang. Mr. Wang graduated from Central South
University of Technology (4@ L¥ AE) (currently Central South
University (FREAZ)) in 1987 with a bachelor's degree majoring
in metallurgy physical chemistry, and then graduated from Beijing
Non-Ferrous Research Institute in the PRC (Bl A &L BHIE
#FT) in 1990 with a master's degree majoring in material science.
Mr. Wang held positions as vice supervisor in Beijing Non-Ferrous
Research Institute, general manager in Shenzhen Bi Ge Battery
Co. Limited (FYNTLIEEMBRAFMELIR). In February 1995,
he founded Shenzhen BYD Battery Company Limited (F3IITH
LM EEABRAR) (‘BYD Battery”) (became BYD Company
Limited on 11 June 2002) with Mr. Lv Xiang-yang and took the
position of general manager. He is the Chairman, an executive
Director and the President of the Company and is responsible
for the general operations of the Group and the development of
business strategies for the Group. He is a non-executive director
and the chairman of BYD Electronic (International) Company
Limited (Stock Code: 0285), the chairman of BYD Semiconductor
Company Limited (formerly known as “BYD Semiconductor Co.,
Ltd."”), a director of Shenzhen DENZA New Energy Automotive Co.,
Ltd. ORYIEZFee)R/AEBRAR]) (formerly known as “Shenzhen
BYD Daimler New Technology Co., Ltd.” (&3IIILt o5 ith & 48 $h 3 £ 1l
AFRAR]), a director of Tianjin BYD Auto Co., Ltd. (KZEthari#/5
BEAMRAF]), a director of China Railway Engineering Consulting
Group Co., Ltd. (F# T2 =£AKEFRAA]), an independent
director of Renren Inc., and a director of Southern University of
Science and Technology of China (@ /5 Bl K£2).

Mr. Wang, being a technology expert, enjoyed special allowances
from the State Council. In June 2003, he was awarded the Star
of Asia by BusinessWeek. He was awarded with Mayor award
of Shenzhen in 2004, “The 2008 CCTV Man of the Year China
Economy Innovation Award”, Southern Guangdong Meritorious
Service Award in 2011, and Zayed Future Energy Prize Lifetime
Achievement Award in 2014 and Best Business Leader in China
in 2015, a founding member of the United Nations Development
Programme’s “Advisory Council for Sustainable Development” in
2016 (ZE—R"FHABMEHEZT FIREERBNZE S ALK
8), an “Outstanding Private Entrepreneur for the 40th Anniversary
of Reform and Opening Up in 2018" (=& — \FREMMEO+
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BFFHEERZEMZER), an “Outstanding Builder of Socialism with
Chinese Characteristics in the Fifth National Non-Public Economic
Sector in 2019” (ZE—NFEREZEERABHLEBEALEFTFHEH
BEdeTaREERE) and the winner of Xian's first “Mayor’s
Special Award” in 2020 (ZZ-ZTFRETTEHE ‘“TREHNE") and
the “Businessman of China” in 2020 awarded by the Fortune
Magazine (ZZ_ZF(HE) "FEFEREA"), “National Advanced
Person in the Private Economy for the Fight against COVID-19
Pandemic” (2B T A KI5 R &L LEREA) ete.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Lv Xiang-yang

Mr. Lv Xiang-yang, aged 59, Chinese national with no right of
abode overseas, bachelor's degree holder, economist and elder
cousin of Mr. Wang Chuan-fu. Mr. Lv worked at Chaohu Centre
Branch of the People’s Bank of China. In February 1995, he
founded Shenzhen BYD Battery Company Limited (ZYIHEepiE
EEARAT]) (became BYD Company Limited on 11 June 2002)
with Mr. Wang Chuan-fu. He is the Vice Chairman and a non-
executive Director of the Company and also the chairman of
Youngy Investment Holding Group Co., Ltd. (Bt B REBER
‘A@]), chairman of Youngy Co., Ltd. (B2 D AR A A]), chairman
of Youngy Health Technology Co., Ltd. (BiiEfEEREBRMNHAERA
7)), chairman of Onyx International Inc. (B/MXAEERFEAR
‘A|]), chairman of Nanjing Regenecore Biotechnology Co., Ltd.
(ARBREREMEHEBMRAF]), chairman of Guangdong Youngy
Financing Renting Company Limited (BRaFEREHEER A7),
a director of Anhua Agricultural Insurance Company Limited (%&
EE2RBARM AR AT, honorary chairman of Anhui Chamber
of Commerce in Guangdong province (EXEZ#E <€), honorary
chairman of Guangdong Manufacturers Association (R4 &k
%1 2), honorary chairman of Guangdong Association for the
Promotion of Industrial Development (EEREEE%£ZERERES) and
vice chairman of BYD Charity Foundation.
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Xia Zuo-quan

Mr. Xia Zuo-quan, aged 58, Chinese national with no right
of abode overseas, master’s degree holder. Mr. Xia studied
computer science in Beijing Institute of Iron and Steel Engineering
(At REMEEELT ) (now known as University of Science & Technology
Beijing (At REHE A E)) from 1985 to 1987 and he graduated from
Guanghua School of Management of Peking University (Jt A2
FEFIBERT) with an MBA in 2007. Mr. Xia worked in the Hubei
branch of The People’s Insurance Company and joined BYD
Industries in 1997 and held positions as an executive Director and
Vice President of the Company. He is a non-executive director of
the Company and chairman of Shenzhen Zhengxuan Investment
(Holdings) Co., Ltd. (FIITIEHKERBRRA),
Zhengxuan Qianhai Equity Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd.
ORIV EEF R B EREESEIE AR AF) and Beijing Zhengxuan
Investment Co., Ltd. (At RIEFIKREBREIEAA]), a director of
Shenzhen UBTECH Robotics Co., Ltd. (&YIITEXERHE AR A A)),
a director of Shenzhen Uni-Fortune Supply Chain Service Co., Ltd.
(ORYITE A M L HEEREIEEMR AF]), a director of Beijing Lingyi
Space Technology Limited (It REZZ=RHEHEABRAF]), chairman
of Annuo Youda Gene Technology (Beijing) Co. Ltd. (LB EE
ERE (J53R) AR A F]), an independent director of China Baofeng
(International) Limited (FREEEREHFRAF) (formerly known
as “Mastercraft International Holdings Limited” (55{iE BB 2%
B ~7])), an independent director of China Yuhua Education
Corporation Limited (FBIFE#HEFEEHERAF), chairman of
Shenzhen Dichuanghui Technology Limited (&Yl A& R AR
A |]), vice chairman of BYD Charity Foundation and vice chairman
of Shenzhen Lianxia Charity Foundation (#JITTEEZZES@).

Shenzhen
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Cai Hong-ping

Mr. Cai Hong-ping, aged 67, Chinese (Hong Kong) national,
bachelor’s degree holder. Mr. Cai was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 8
September 2020. Mr. Cai graduated from Fudan University (58
KE) in 1988 with a bachelor’'s degree in mass communications.
Mr. Cai served as an office director of Sinopec Shanghai
Petrochemical Company Limited (F B At E&ABIETRDABRA
A]), member of the Overseas Listing Team for Chinese Enterprises
under the Restructuring Committee of the State Council (B
PR E R RGN ETIEE/\H), the chairman of the
Joint Committee of Board Secretaries for H Share Companies in
the PRC, managing director of the investment banking division
of Peregrine Investments Holdings Limited, chairman of the
investment banking division of UBS AG in Asia and chairman
of Deutsche Bank (fEE&3IRTT) in the Asia Pacific region. He
currently serves as the chairman and founding partner of AGIC
(E®EX), and an independent director of China Eastern
Airlines Corporation Limited (FFEIER FZERHBERAR]), COSCO
SHIPPING Development Co., Ltd. (F&/&EZRERMN AR A A]) and
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd. ( H/&#HEERERTT
R BRAR).

Zhang Min

Mr. Zhang Min, aged 44, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, doctoral degree holder and professor of accounting.
Mr. Zhang was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 8 September 2020. Mr. Zhang
graduated from Beijing Wuzi University (It Z#&E7) in 1999
with a bachelor’s degree in management majoring in accounting,
from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (7 F8 B & BUE
KE) in 2005 with a master's degree in management majoring
in accounting, and from Renmin University of China (FEIAR
KE) in 2008 with a doctoral degree in management majoring
in accounting. He also completed his post-doctoral training in
Peking University Guanghua School of Management in 2010. Mr.
Zhang currently serves as the accounting professor, supervisor
for Ph.D. candidates and accounting director of Business School,
Renmin University of China as well as an independent director of
Shanghai Fullhan Microelectronics Co., Ltd. (L/8EHME T %
ABRAF]), Beijing HanjianHeshan Pipeline Co., Ltd. (3b R 1L
EEBRMABRAT), SDIC Capital Co., Ltd. (BIEEARBRHDBR AR,
and Beijing SPC Environment Protection Tech Co., Ltd. (3t FE#T
REBEMRHBRAF).
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Jiang Yan-bo

Mr. Jiang Yan-bo, aged 55, Chinese national with no right of
abode overseas, doctoral degree holder, professor of law. Mr.
Jiang was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of the Company on 8 September 2020. Mr. Jiang graduated
from Jiangxi College of Finance and Economics (/I 788/ 45E36t)
(currently known as Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics
CIPEEEKE)) with a bachelor’s degree in economics in 1987,
from China University of Political Science and Law (FFBIBUE KE2)
with a second bachelor’s degree in law in 1989, and from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics with a doctoral degree in
economics in 2007. Mr. Jiang is currently a professor at the Law
School of Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics and an
independent director of Guangdong Dowstone Technology Co.,
Ltd. (BERBEBIEMRMNDERAF) and a director of Shenzhen
Pagoda Industrial (Group) Corporation Limited (FJII5 REE % (&
) RHBERAR).

SUPERVISORS
Dong Jun-qing

Mr. Dong Jun-ging, aged 87, Chinese national with no right of
abode overseas, bachelor's degree holder, and a senior engineer
at professor level. Mr. Dong graduated from Non-Ferrous Metal
and Gold Faculty in Moscow, USSR (5l EHR AR BHEES &
Bt) in 1959, with a bachelor’'s degree majoring in aluminum and
magnesium metallurgy, and obtained the title of USSR engineer.
Mr. Dong lectured at Non-Ferrous Metallurgy Faculty of the
Northeast University in the PRC (FREI®RILRE) and researched
at Beijing Non-Ferrous Research Institute and was engaged in
research and development work in our Company. He has been a
Supervisor and the chairman of the Supervisory Committee since
July 2002.
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Li Yong-zhao

Mr. Li Yong-zhao, aged 60, Chinese national with no right of
abode overseas, bachelor's degree holder, and a researcher
level senior engineer. Mr. Li graduated from Xi'an Institute of
Technology (A% T2&5%) in August 1982 with a bachelor’s
degree in mechanical manufacturing technology and equipment.
Mr. Li worked as technician, office head, deputy director, director,
deputy plant manager and held other posts in state-owned Factory
615 of China Industries Group Corporation (FEIEsSTHEER
Al). He also acted as the general manager of the Sino-foreign joint
venture named Baoji Xingbao Machinery & Electric Co., Ltd. (&%t
EBENT), plant manager of state-owned Factory 843 of China
Industries Group Corporation since May 2002, general manager of
Xi'an Northern Qinchuan Machinery Corporation Co., Ltd. (Fa% 3t
7 E) | T2 AR A 7)), the chairman of Xi'an Northern Qinchuan
Company Ltd. (Fa%1t75 &) B AR A 7)) since October 2010. He
has been a Supervisor of the Company since June 2008 and now
serves as as the member of science and technology committee
of China North Industries Group Corporation (Fait TE&£EBE AR A
A]), and the executive director, Party secretary of Xi'an Northern
Qinchuan Company Ltd.

Wang Zhen

Ms. Wang Zhen, aged 45, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, bachelor’s degree holder. Ms. Wang graduated from
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies (FERINEINE KE) in
the PRC in 1998, majoring in Spanish and obtained a bachelor
degree. Ms. Wang joined Shenzhen BYD Battery Company
Limited (RINTLLEE@EEZEFRAF) (became BYD Company
Limited on 11 June 2002) in 1998 and served as a manager in
overseas Ministry of Commerce, officer of the President’s office,
director of the rail transit industry office, Secretary-General of
BYD Charity Foundation and general manager of BYD Company
(Pingshan District). She is a Supervisor and the general manager
of Human Resources Office of the Company, a supervisor of
Shenzhen Qianhai Green Transportation Co., Ltd. (&I AT
FEREMAMRAT), a supervisor of East Shenzhen Sky Rail
Investment Construction Co., Ltd (FYIEBEHIZREEZRBER A
Al), a supervisor of China Metallurgical New Energy Technology
Co., Ltd (FIRImAFTEEREHZBRAA), a supervisor of Chengdu
Shudu BYD New Energy Vehicles Co., Ltd. (S #B&#RLE am s #T AL R
AEARAT]), a supervisor of Yinchuan Sky Rail Operation Co.,
Ltd. (BRI EEE LA A F]), a supervisor of Shantou City Sky Rail
Transportation Co., Ltd. (GUEBETEBZ @A PR A7), a supervisor of
Jining City Sky Rail Transportation Co., Ltd. (EEMEZNIBAER
~A)).
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Yang Dong-sheng (resigned with effect from 25 March 2021)

Mr. Yang Dong-sheng, aged 42, Chinese national with no right of
abode overseas, master’'s degree holder, and a senior engineer. Mr.
Yang graduated from Northeastern University (81tK£) in March
2005 with master's degree. Mr. Yang joined the Company in 2005
and has held positions including senior engineer in Automotive
Engineering Research Institute, vice manager in the Chassis Division
of the Automotive Engineering Research Institute, senior business
secretary of the President, general manager of the Product and
Technical Planning Division, and is a supervisor of the Company and
the dean of the Company’s Product Planning and New Automotive
Technology Research Institute during the Period. Mr. Yang resigned
as a staff representative supervisor of the Company with effect from
25 March 2021.

Tang Mei (appointed with effect from 25 March 2021)

Ms. Tang Mei, aged 38, is a Chinese national with no right of
abode overseas and a bachelor's degree holder. Ms. Tang
graduated from Central South University (FREIAZ) in June 2005,
with a bachelor’'s degree in English. Ms. Tang joined the Company
in 2005 and held positions as secretary of the President, a
manager in Cultural Propaganda Department of the Group, a
manager in reception center of the Group, executive officer of
BYD Charity Foundation. She is currently the vice officer of the
President’s office and she was appointed as a staff representative
supervisor of the Company with effect from 25 March 2021.
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Huang Jiang-feng

Mr. Huang Jiang-feng, aged 41, Chinese national with no right of
abode overseas, bachelor’s degree holder. Mr. Huang graduated
from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (7F /8 B & BUE K 22)
in 2003 with a bachelor’'s degree in administration. Mr. Huang held
positions in Sinopec Chenzhou Petroleum Branch in Hunan (FEIA
(LR AR DA A]), Dongguan Hsu Fu Chi Foods Co., Ltd. (33
%EZRARMBARAR]) and Guangzhou Office (&N & %EF) of Guosen
Securities. He has been working in Youngy Investment Holding
Group Co., Ltd. (B EZEREEBR A R]) since August 2008, and
has been a supervisor of the Company since September 2014 and
now serves as a director and vice president of Youngy Investment
Holding Group Co., Ltd. (RUEIREZEREEBR AR, general
manager of Shenzhen Qianhai Youngy Financial Services Company
Limited CFIIBTERES BAREHRAF]), a supervisor of Shenzhen
Qianhai Youngy High Technology Investment Company Limited (%
BT ERE S AT E AR A R]), a supervisor of Shenzhen Youngy
Internet Financial Services Company Limited (F3II885E B B4 € B AR
%A /AF]), general manager of Shenzhen Qianhai Youngy Supply
Chain Factoring Services Co., Ltd (FRIIFT/EG R EERIERES
fR/2d]), director and manager of Guangdong Youngy Financing
Renting Company Limited (EBXREiEREHEHBRAF), manager
of Guangdong Youngy Financing Service Company Limited (B
EhEREE RSB R A A]), chairman of Guangdong Youngy Financing
Renting Company Limited (BEXREtEgEHEHBRAF]), manager
of Guangdong Youngy Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. (&
HEhEHEBEE AR AR, director of Shenzhen Youngy Asset
Management Co., Ltd (RIIEEEEEEHBRAF]) and chairman of
the supervisory committee of Youngy Co., Ltd (BN BRAF]).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Li Ke

Ms. Li Ke, aged 51, Chinese national with the right of abode
in the US, bachelor's degree holder. Ms. Li graduated from
Fudan University in 1992 with a bachelor’'s degree in statistics.
Ms. Li worked at Asia Resources (2/1&JR) and joined the
Group in September 1996. She served various positions
including Marketing Manager and General Sales Manager,
executive director and chief executive officer of BYD Electronic
(International) Company Limited (thas@EF (EE) AR A F)
(Stock Code: 0285) and is a Vice President of the Company and a
director of BYD Charity Foundation.

Lian Yu-bo

Mr. Lian Yu-bo, aged 57, Chinese national with no right of
abode overseas, master's degree holder, and a professorate
senior engineer. Mr. Lian graduated from Nanjing University of
Aeronautics and Astronautics (FREMZEMAARE) in July 1986,
with a bachelor's degree majoring in aircraft manufacturing
engineering. In September 2000, he obtained a professional
MBA degree from Nanjing University. Mr. Lian worked in China
Automotive Research Center (FREISEMFTH L)), and served as
the chief engineer of SAIC Motor Yizheng Automobile Co., Ltd. (E
AEEEBUTEAMRAR]), and executive deputy general manager
of Shanghai Tongji Tongjie Automotive Design Company (/% &%
FHEAERETAA]). Mr. Lian joined the Company in February 2004
and is a Senior Vice President of the Company, president of the
Automotive Engineering Research Institute and chairman of Fudi
Jinggong Co.,Ltd. (3@ T HBR A F]). He is also a director of BYD
TOYOTA EV Technology Co., Ltd. (frabid @M EFERIFEAR Q)
and Shenzhen DENZA New Energy Automotive Co., Ltd. (&I
HEER/SE AR A R)) and a director of BYD Charity Foundation.
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He Long

Mr. He Long, aged 49, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, master's degree holder. Mr. He graduated from Peking
University in 1999 and obtained a bachelor’'s degree of science
in applied chemistry, an LLB and a master's degree in inorganic
chemistry. Mr. He joined the Group in July 1999 and held
positions as quality control manager of Division 1 and Division
2, deputy general manager of Division 2 and vice-chairman of
Foshan Jinhui Hi-Tech Optoelectronic Material Co., Ltd. (1L &
ESREMEARAT). He is a Vice President of the Company,
CEO of Battery Division, general manager of Division 2, a director
of Tibet Shigatse Zhabuye Lithium High-Tech Co., Ltd. (FE# B %
Bz M ERSE S S R B R A F), a director of Qinghai Salt Lake BYD
Resources Development Co., Ltd. (588 #tL @& RAZERA
A]), a director of China Metallurgical New Energy Technology Co.,
Ltd (IR ARFTEEREHE AR AR]) and a director of BYD Charity
Foundation.

Liu Huan-ming

Mr. Liu Huan-ming, aged 58, Chinese national with no right of
abode overseas, master’'s degree holder, and a senior engineer.
Mr. Liu graduated from Northeastern Institute of Technology (&
b TEBT) (currently known as Northeastern University (E1bKE))
in 1988 with a bachelor’'s degree and later a master’'s degree in
Metallurgical physical chemistry. Mr. Liu worked for the Iron and
Steel Institute of Panzhihua Iron and Steel Company in Sichuan (I
JIZE R FE 8 8 A B8 S 75 P2 ) and Benxi Iron and Steel Company in
Liaoning (EZEZAZ{#E A F]). He joined the Group in March 1997
and served as a general manager of Human Resources Office
and Department of New Energy Vehicle Direct Sale Management.
He is currently a Vice-President of the Company, and a general
manager of Division 3 of the Rail Department of the Company, and
a director of BYD Charity Foundation.
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Luo Hong-bin

Mr. Luo Hong-bin, aged 55, Chinese national with no right of
abode overseas, master’s degree holder and a professorate senior
engineer. Mr. Luo graduated from Air Force Engineering University
in 1990, with a master's degree in computer application. Mr. Luo
joined the Company in October 2003. He served various posts
including manager of the third Electronics Sub-division of Division
15, director of the Institute of Electric vehicles, president of the
Electric Power Research Institute, general manager of Division
14, and general manager of Division 17. He currently is a Senior
Vice President of the Company, the chairman of Fudi Power Co.,
Ltd. (F#BHARAQF), a director of Beijing Hualin Loading
Co., Ltd. (At REMEFEBEFRARF]) and a director of BYD Charity
Foundation.

Wang Chuan-fang

Mr. Wang Chuan-fang, aged 60, Chinese national with no right of
abode overseas, is the elder brother of Mr. Wang Chuan-fu. Mr.
Wang joined BYD Industries in August 1996 and held positions
including Personnel Manager and Logistics Manager. He currently
is a Vice President of the Company, general manager of Logistics
Division, general manager of Division 22 and a director of
Yinchuan Sky Rail Operation Co., Ltd. ($8)I|Z#EZLER A R]) and
a director of BYD Charity Foundation.

Ren Lin

Mr. Ren Lin, aged 54, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, bachelor’s degree holder, and a senior engineer. Mr.
Ren graduated from Beijing Institute of Technology in 1989, with a
bachelor's degree majoring in mechanical design, manufacturing
and automation. He went to Japan, Tsinghua University (BZ X
&) and Beijing Institute of Technology (Jt 3 T K£8) for multiple
times for further study during his terms of office. Mr. Ren once
worked in Shaanxi Qinchuan Motor Co., Ltd. (BEEZ)IRER
[RE{E/AR]). He joined the Company in January 2003 and held
positions as executive Vice President of Automotive Engineering
Institute (VR T#2FT). He currently is a Vice President of the
Company, general manager of Division 21 and a director of BYD
Charity Foundation.
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Wang Jie

Mr. Wang Jie, aged 57, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, bachelor's degree holder. Mr. Wang graduated from
Xi'an Institute of Gold Mining and Construction (FA% )6 & 25 E0R)
(now known as Xi'an University of Architecture and Technology (78
LEERHEKE)) in 1988 with a bachelor’'s degree in engineering,
majoring in Industry Enterprises Automatisation; Mr. Wang once
worked in Jiaxing Metallurgy Manufacture Factory of Metallurgy
Department (A& #5EAS#MMR) and other institutions. Mr.
Wang joined the Group in September 1996, he served various
positions including sales manager, sales director and deputy
general manager of the Company’s Sales & Marketing Division.
He currently is a Vice President of the Company and the CEO of
Commercial Vehicles Division of the Company.

He Zhi-qi

Mr. He Zhi-qi, aged 49, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, master's degree holder. Mr. He graduated from
Changchun Institute of Applied Chemistry Chinese Academy of
Sciences (R R RHFEACEMIAT) in 1998, with a master’s
degree majoring in inorganic chemistry, and then graduated
from China Europe International Business School (BT pE%E 2
Ep7) with an MBA in 2010. Mr. He joined Shenzhen BYD Battery
Company Limited (RIITELEHEEERAF]) (became BYD
Company Limited on 11 June 2002) in July 1998 and served
various posts including central research manager, quality control
manager, general manager of Division 4 and general manager
of Purchasing Office of the Company. He currently is a Vice
President of the Company and COO of Passenger Car Division of
the Company.
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BEE  EEkaEEE

Li Qian

Mr. Li Qian, aged 48, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, master's degree holder. Mr. Li graduated from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics ((TAAE & AZ) in 1997, with
a bachelor’'s degree in economics. He graduated from Guanghua
School of Management of the Peking University (1bmKE %
EEELT) with an MBA in July 2016. Mr. Li was the auditor and
business adviser of PwC China and Arthur Andersen, respectively,
and the securities business representative of ZTE Corporation (¥
BB B AR AR]). Mr. Li joined the Company in August 2005
and is the secretary to the Board, Company Secretary and general
manager of Investment Department. He is also a member of the
first GEM Listing Committee of Shenzhen Stock Exchange, a joint
company secretary of BYD Electronic (International) Company
Limited (bb2es# 5 F (BIFR ) AR A R)) (stock code: 0285), a director
of BYD Semiconductor Company Limited (Lt 25 SN AR A
A]), a director of Tibet Shigatse Zhabuye Lithium High-Tech Co.,
Ltd. (FafE AR R mERE E = BHE AR A R]), chairman of Shenzhen
BYD Electric Car Investment Co., Ltd. (#YILLenEE)THILER
fR 72 ®]), chairman of Energy Storage Power Station (Hubei) Co.,
Ltd. (FEEEE UL (8dE) BFRAA]), a director of Meihao Chuxing
(Hangzhou) Automotive Technology Co., Ltd. (ZE&HH 7T (F)
RERHEERZAT]), a director of Shenzhen Electric Power Sales
Co., Ltd. (RIITTFEEEEE AR AR, and a director of Shenzhen
Faurecia Automotive Parts Co., Ltd. (FIIGE S a0/ REIMFER A 7).

Zhou Ya-lin

Ms. Zhou Ya-lin, aged 44, Chinese national with no right of abode
overseas, bachelor’s degree holder. Ms. Zhou graduated from
Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics (JIABEAE) in
1999, with a bachelor's degree in economics. Ms. Zhou joined
the Group in March 1999 and is the Chief Financial Officer of the
Company. She is also the chief financial officer of BYD Electronic
(International) Company Limited (tbas@EEF (EE) AR A F)
(Stock Code: 0285), a director of BYD Semiconductor Company
Limited (bbEn@+BERM AR AF]), chairman of BYD Auto
Finance Company Limited (tb35:@/9E B ER A A]), a supervisor
of Shenzhen DENZA New Energy Automotive Co., Ltd. (EIIES
FELRAEBE AR A A]), a director of Shenzhen Faurecia Automotive
Parts Co., Ltd. ORIIHSTRAEFHFARAF) and a director of
BYD Charity Foundation, etc.
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SUPERVISORS’ AND SENIOR &

EE

HAES -

MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD

EENEREER

ESNSREEASRMN

Total
remuneration
received from

the Company
(Unit: RMB’ 000)
N AREH
Name Position held within the Company Status of employment RMAE
Be REARBEENES R (Bfr: A\R%TR)
Wang Chuan-fu Chairman, Executive Director and President [ncumbent 5,336
TER BER UES 23 R
Lv Xiang-yang Vice-chairman and non-executive Director Incumbent 200
Ak BEER FRNES Rt
Xia Zuo-quan Non-executive Director Incumbent 200
BE2 FNTES B
Wang Zi-dong Independent non-executive Director Resigned (effective from 8 September 2020) 138
FFE BUEHTES BE(EZZ24NANAREEL)
Zou Fei Independent non-executive Director Resigned (effective from 8 September 2020) 138
PR BUFHTES BE(BEZZZZFNAN\BREE)
Zhang Ran Independent non-executive Director Resigned (effective from 8 September 2020) 138
RA BUEHTES BE(E-Z-ZFNANAREE)
Cai Hong-ping Independent non-executive Director Incumbent (effective from 8 September 2020) 62
ZHT BUEHTES RE(BZZ-ZFNANARER)
Zhang Min Independent non-executive Director Incumbent (effective from 8 September 2020) 62
R BUFRTES RE(BZZZZFNAN\BRER)
Jiang Yan-bo Independent non-executive Director Incumbent (effective from 8 September 2020) 62
BEK BUEHTES RE(BZZZZFNA\BRER)
Dong Jun-qging Supervisor and chairman of the supervisory committee  Incumbent 100
BN EF EFeIR B
Li Yong-zhao Supervisor [ncumbent 100
Fk4l S Rt
Huang Jiang-feng Supervisor Incumbent 100
BIL# E=S Rt
Wang Zhen Supervisor Incumbent 3,521
1% £ Bt
Yang Dong-sheng Supervisor Resigned (effective from 25 March 2021) 2,499
BRE E= BT (A2 —F=-A-thARET)
LiKe Vice president Incumbent 8,173
FH glies Rt
Lian Yu-bo Vice president Incumbent 6,829
RER ElFGEs Bt
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Total
remuneration
received from

the Company
(Unit: RMB’ 000)
fenRBEH
Name Position held within the Company Status of employment HMEE
i REARBEENERE R (Bfr: AR T7)
He Long Vice president Incumbent 5,947
fars Bl B
Liu Huan-ming Vice president [ncumbent 4,832
Bl ket R
Luo Hong-bin Vice president Incumbent 7,378
38 glias Rt
Wang Chuan-fang Vice president Incumbent 4,595
TER gl Bt
Ren Lin Vice president [ncumbent 4,678
fEH gl B
He Zhi-qi Vice president Incumbent 3,732
&S gl Rt
Chen Gang Vice president Resigned (effective from 14 April 2020) 940
BRI gl BE(E-Z-ZFMATMARER)
Wang Jie Vice president Incumbent 5,298
T Bl B
Li Qian Secretary to the Board, Company Secretary Incumbent 2,786
Ex BEZENE  RANE Rt
Zhou Ya-lin Chief Financial Officer Incumbent 3,778
[EE gt Rt
Total - - 71,622
A

AR
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The Board believes that good corporate governance is an
essential element in enhancing the confidence of current and
potential shareholders, investors, employees, business partners
and the community as a whole. To this end, we strive to promote
and uphold the highest standard of corporate governance.

The Company has put in place corporate governance practices
to comply with all the provisions and most of the recommended
best practices of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) except for
the deviation from the code provisions A.2.1 and A.6.7.

Code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Mr. Wang Chuan-fu is the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The Board considers that
this structure will not impair the balance of power and authority
between the Board and the management of the Company. The
balance of power and authority is ensured by the operations of the
Board, which comprises experienced and high caliber individuals
and meets regularly to discuss issues affecting operations of the
Group. The Board believes that this structure is conducive to
strong and consistent leadership, enabling the Group to make and
implement decisions promptly and efficiently. The Board has full
confidence in Mr. Wang and believes that this appointment to the
posts of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is beneficial to the
business prospects of the Company.

Code provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive
directors and non-executive directors should attend general
meetings. Given some independent non-executive directors and
non-executive directors were unable to travel and had other
important business engagement as a result of COVID-19 outbreak
during relevant periods, not all of them attended the annual
general meeting held on 23 June 2020 and extraordinary general
meetings held on 8 September 2020 and 10 December 2020.

During the reporting period, except for the deviation from code
provisions A.2.1 and A.6.7 as explained above, the Directors are
of the opinion that the Company had complied with all applicable
provisions of the Code.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1) of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Accountable to the Shareholders, the Board of Directors is
collectively responsible for formulating the strategic business
direction of the Group and setting objectives for management,
overseeing its performance and assessing the effectiveness
of management strategies. The Board is also responsible for,
and has during the Year performed the corporate governance
duties set out in code provision D.3.1 of the Code (including the
determining of the corporate governance policy of the Company).

DIRECTORS

As of the date of this report, the Board comprises six Directors.
There is one executive Director who is the President, two non-
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
directors. Detailed biographies outlining each individual Director’s
range of specialist experience and suitability of the successful
long-term running of the Group are set out on pages 30 to 34 of
this annual report.

The Group believes that its executive and non-executive directors
composition is well balanced with each Director having sound
knowledge, experience and/or expertise relevant to the business
operations and development of the Group. All Directors are
aware of their collective and individual responsibilities to the
Shareholders and have exercised their duties with care, skill and
diligence, contributing to the successful performance of the Group
for the Year under review.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
as required under the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive directors to be independent. As at the
date of this annual report, the years of service of all independent
non-executive directors are less than 9. Should the Board
wish to seek for the further appointments of any independent
non-executive directors serving more than 9 years from the
Shareholders, separate resolutions will be proposed to the
Directors and the reasons to justify their independence despite
of the length of their services will be contained in relevant papers
to the Shareholders in accordance with code provision A.4.3 in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover
in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management with the extent of this insurance being reviewed
each year.
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The Board met twenty-two times this year to discuss the Group's
overall strategy, operation, financial performance and review the
status of regulatory compliance. The Board also ensures that it
is supplied in a timely manner with all necessary information in
a form and of a quality appropriate to enable it to discharge its
duties. All Board meetings adhere to a formal agenda in which
a schedule of matter is specifically addressed to the Board for
its decision. Topics discussed at these Board meetings include,
among others, quarterly, interim and annual results; (re) election
of (existing) new Directors and supervisors, recommendations on
the remuneration of Directors and supervisors, recommendations
of auditors, approval of major capital project; dividend policies;
and other significant operational and financial matters.

The Directors decide on corporate strategies, approve overall
business plans and supervise the Group’s financial performance,
management and organization on behalf of the shareholders.
Specific tasks that the Board delegates to the Group's
management included the preparation of annual and interim
accounts for the Board’s approval before public reporting;
implementation of strategies approved by the Board; the
implementation of internal control procedures; and the ensuring
of compliance with relevant statutory requirements and other
regulations and rules.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, each
director and each supervisor are appointed for a term of 3 years. In
addition, in accordance with the Guiding Opinions on Establishing
the Independent Director System in Listed Companies issued
by CSRC, an independent director shall not hold the office for
more than six years. The respective term of office of the Directors
being Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, Mr. Lv Xiang-yang, Mr. Xia Zuo-quan,
Mr. Wang Zi-dong, Mr. Zou Fei and Ms. Zhang Ran expired on 8
September 2020. Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, Mr. Lv Xiang-yang and Mr.
Xia Zuo-quan have been nominated as candidates for the Directors
of the Company by the Board and the Nomination Committee
of the Company, and were re-elected by the shareholders at
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 8
September 2020. The former independent non-executive directors
of the Company, namely Mr. Wang Zi-dong, Mr. Zou Fei and Ms.
Zhang Ran had retired and ceased to be the independent non-
executive directors of the Company at the aforesaid extraordinary
general meeting. Mr. Cai Hong-ping, Mr. Zhang Min and Mr. Jiang
Yan-bo were appointed as the independent non-executive directors
of the Company after the end of the aforesaid extraordinary
general meeting. In accordance with the Company's Articles of
Association and related Board resolutions, each Board member
and each member of the Supervisory Committee are appointed for
a term of 3 years, being the period from 8 September 2020 to 7
September 2023.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Newly appointed Directors of the Company will be provided with
relevant induction materials to assist them to fully understand
the Company’s operations, business and governance policies
and their responsibilities and duties as a director under the
requirements of the relevant laws and regulations, such as

AABERERER  ARRREEBRAEETMN

B UNEDESTE2ERARRKLE  EBNME
AR EmRRAERBERERRENES
BE UYRHEDEEEBRARREBREZER
MER  RERBUIFNTEERIETRE K

the Listing Rules. They will also be provided with materials RQARNEHEMBYIFRTESTETEMER TR
to help them to gain insights in the Company’s business and EBIEEHETADER RBRELEETARE R BE2
operation. In order to ensure adequate performance of duties ERIFEFREERE - UBEREMESHH LK
by the independent non-executive directors, the Company will  #& » A T3IEH B EEEZHFFS
also arrange on-site visits and sufficient communication with
the management for the independent non-executive directors.
Pursuant to the corporate governance requirements, the Directors
participated in continuous professional development programme
to develop and update their knowledge and skills. The particulars
of the trainings of each Director are as follows:
Training/
seminars
participated Reading
s8I materials
Name of Director EEMR Bneg B R AT R
Executive Director HITES
Wang Chuan-fu TEE V Vv
Non-executive Director FHTES
Lv Xiang-yang &[5 vV Vv
Xia Zuo-quan Etker vV v
Independent non-executive director BIFHTES
Wang Zi-dong FFE
(resigned with effect from 8 September 2020) (BZZ=ZF A NBRET)
Zou Fei a7
(resigned with effect from 8 September 2020) (BZZEZZFNANBEET)
Zhang Ran IR A
(resigned with effect from 8 September 2020) (BZZ=FTFANBRET)
Cai Hong-ping B V v
(in office from 8 September 2020) (BZZ=ZF A N\BRER)
Zhang Min IR K v Vv
(in office from 8 September 2020) (BZZ=FFhANBRER)
Jiang Yan-bo H%E/Bi Vv v

(in office from 8 September 2020)

(BZZ2-ZFhAN\HRER)




BOARD MEETINGS

To ensure the highest attendance of Directors, written notices
are sent to all Directors 14 days before a regular board meeting;
written notices are sent to all Directors 2 days before a provisional
board meeting. The meeting agenda is set in consultation with
members of the Board. The Board held twenty-two meetings in
2020. The attendance of individual Director at the Board meetings
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as well as general meetings in 2020 is set out below:

EEEER

RTREZRSNESHFEX  THEFEEENT
MAAMAEEBENEES  BHEETTANMK
AIAEEABNEES - FRARNEAEETIKE
BHEE R-_F_TFHBET_t-_REFEE

%-EEN-T-TFES
NHEERIIT -

T
BH B R

ZN IR KRG E

Annual Extraordinary
Board General General
Meetings Meeting Meetings
Members of the Board EEgRE EEgeR RERBFERE REBFIARE
Executive Director HITESE
Wang Chuan-fu FERE 22/22 11 2/2
Non-executive Director FHTES
Lv Xiang-yang = [R5 22/22 1/1 1/2
Xia Zuo-quan B 22/22 0/1 1/2
Independent non-executive director BAFHTES
Wang Zi-dong (resigned with FFE(AZZTZZF 14/22 11 0/2
effect from 8 September 2020) HANBREEET)
Zou Fei (resigned with PR(AE=ZZT=_ZTF 14/22 11 0/2
effect from 8 September 2020) NANBEEEE)
Zhang Ran (resigned with KRBT ZTF 14/22 11 0/2
effect from 8 September 2020) NANBHEEET)
Cai Hong-ping Z2RV (B2 ZF 8/22 0/1 0/2
(in office from 8 September 2020) NANBEER)
Zhang Min R (BT _ZF 8/22 0/1 0/2
(in office from 8 September 2020) NANBRER)
Jiang Yan-bo BER(BZZZZF 8/22 0/1 1/2
(in office from 8 September 2020) NANBBER)
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In furtherance of good corporate governance, the Board has set
up a number of committees, including:

- the Audit Committee;

- the Remuneration Committee;
- the Nomination Committee; and
- the Strategy Committee.

Each Committee reports regularly to the Board, addressing
major issues and findings with valuable recommendations for the
decision making of the Board. The particulars of these Committees
are set out hereunder.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

One of the primary duties of the Audit Committee is to review the
financial reporting process and the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. As at 31 December 2020, Audit
Committee consists of three independent non-executive directors,
namely Mr. Cai Hong-ping, Mr. Zhang Min and Mr. Jiang Yan-bo,
and a non-executive director, Mr. Lv Xiang-yang, with Mr. Zhang
Min as the chairman. Meetings were convened by the Company’s
Audit Committee and the Company’s auditors to review the
accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group and to
discuss auditing, internal control, risk management and financial
reporting matters before recommending them to the Board for
approval.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee follow the
guidelines set by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the Listing Rules and the provisions of the Code.
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The Audit Committee held six meetings in 2020 to review the
internal and external audit findings, the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, Listing Rules and
statutory compliance, deliberate its relationship,
and appointment terms and independence with the external
auditor with reference to its work performance and to make
recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding the
reappointment of the external auditor,
auditing, internal controls, risk management and financial
reporting matters (including auditing the announcement in relation
to the unaudited annual results of the Company for the year

remuneration

as well as to discuss

ended 31 December 2019, and the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2019, the three months ended 31 March
2020, the six months ended 30 June 2020 and the nine months
ended 30 September 2020), before recommending them to the
Board for approval, and performed its other duties under the
Code. The individual attendance of its members of the meetings is

J/_t_\‘ ,M\Aiﬁﬂ:
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set out as follows:

Number of
Committee
Meetings
Attended Attendance
HEZES Rate
Member of the Audit Committee EREEENE BER™ HE =R
Lv Xiang-yang Sl 4 100%
Zhang Ran (chairman) RN (EFE) 4 100%
(resigned with effect from 8 September 2020) (BZZ=ZFhANBRET)
Wang Zi-dong E—FX 4 100%
(resigned with effect from 8 September 2020) (BZZ=FFhANBRET)
Zou Fei 1PN 4 100%
(resigned with effect from 8 September 2020) (BZZE=TFNANBEBET)
Zhang Min (chairman) RE(EFE) 2 100%
(in office from 8 September 2020) (BZZ=ZFhANBRER)
Cai Hong-ping FOHF 2 100%
(in office from 8 September 2020) (BZZ=FFhANBRER)
Jiang Yan-bo BEE=p51 2 100%

(in office from 8 September 2020)

(BZZ=ZFNANBRER)
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board of Directors established a Remuneration Committee on
27 June 2005. The primary role of the Remuneration Committee is
to regularly review human resource management policies, make
recommendations on the remuneration packages, compensation
and benefit plans of Directors and senior executives, as well as
setting performance goals for senior management of the Group.
As at 31 December 2020, the Remuneration Committee comprises
an executive Director, Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, a non-executive
director, Mr. Xia Zuo-quan, and three independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Cai Hong-ping, Mr. Zhang Min and Mr. Jiang
Yan-bo, with Mr. Cai Hong-ping as the chairman.

The Remuneration Committee has reviewed its terms of reference,
which is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company, in 2020 to comply with the Code.

In terms of the summary of the work of the Remuneration
Committee, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings in
2020 to, among others, assess the performance of executive
Directors and review the remuneration of Directors, supervisors
and senior management of the Group. The individual attendance
of its members of the meeting is set out as follows:
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Number of
Committee
Meetings
Attended Attendance
HEZSE Rate
Member of the Remuneration Committee FMEEERE SRRH =
Wang Chuan-fu TEE 2 100%
Xia Zuo-quan B2 2 100%
Zou Fei (chairman) B (x ) 2 100%
(resigned with effect from 8 September 2020) (BZZ=FFhANBRET)
Wang Zi-dong E?% 2 100%
(resigned with effect from 8 September 2020) (BEZZE=TFNANBBET)
Zhang Ran iR A 2 100%
(resigned with effect from 8 September 2020) (BZZ=ZFhANBRET)
Cai Hong-ping (chairman) %//\1(1}*) - -
(in office from 8 September 2020) (BZZ=FFhANBRER)
Zhang Min ?E@ﬁ( - -
(in office from 8 September 2020) (BEZZE_ZFNA/\HiEBTE)
Jiang Yan-bo BEK - -

(in office from 8 September 2020)

(BZZ=TFhANHRER)
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REMUNERATION POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

The primary goal of the Group's remuneration policy for executive
Directors is to enable the Company to retain and motivate
executive Directors by linking their compensation with their
individual performance as measured against the corporate
objectives and the Group’s operating results and taking into
account of comparable market conditions. For the remuneration
of the executive Directors and senior management, the
Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of individual executive directors
and senior management (adopting the model described in code
provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code) which would then be
reviewed and subject to approval by the Board. The remuneration
package of the executive Directors would also be subject to
approval by shareholders at general meetings. The principal
elements of the remuneration package of executive Directors
include basic salary and discretionary bonus. The remuneration
of non-executive directors includes mainly the Director’s fee. The
Company reimburses reasonable expenses incurred by Directors
in the course of their carrying out of duties as Directors.

Directors do not participate in decisions on their own
remuneration.

The emoluments paid to each Director for the year ended 31
December 2020 are set out in note 9 to the financial statements.
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Remuneration of Senior Management During the Year FARREEAESTH
Number of senior
management
Remuneration by bands RERENHE SREEREAH
RMBO to RMB5 million ARETITE ARKS0087T 7

RMB5 million to RMB11 million

AR¥ES00ETE ARKE1,100& 7T 5
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Group has established the Nomination Committee. As at
31 December 2020, the Nomination Committee comprises an
executive Director, Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, a non-executive director,
Mr. Lv Xiang-yang, and three independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Cai Hong-ping, Mr. Zhang Min and Mr. Jiang
Yan-bo, with Mr. Jiang Yan-bo as the chairman. The Nomination
Committee has been delegated with the powers and authorities
to review the structure, size and composition of the Board, make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships and senior management, appointment
and reappointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors and assess the independence of independent non-
executive directors and determine the policy for the nomination of
Directors.

In light of the latest amendments made to the Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules,
the Board has further adopted the revised terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee. For more details on such terms of
reference, please refer to the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

During the Year, no actual meeting was held by the Nomination
Committee, but members meet and communicate as and when
required, through which the Committee has, among other things,
considered the structure, size, composition and diversity of
the Board and reviewed the standards and procedures for the
selection of directors and senior management.
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The Nomination Committee has also adopted a nomination
policy (the “Nomination Policy”) which includes the selection
criteria and nomination procedures of new appointments and re-
appointments of directors. The selection criteria for assessing
candidates include, in particular, his/her educational background
and professional qualifications, experiences in the industry,
personality and integrity, as well as his/her contributions to the
diversity of the Board according to the Board Diversity Policy.
In the case of re-appointment of Directors, the Nomination
Committee would take into account factors such as contribution
from the retiring Directors. Where the candidate is appointed
for the position of independent non-executive director, the
Nomination Committee will also assess his/her independence
with reference to the requirements set out in the Listing Rules. In
appointing a new Director, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board will first identify potential candidates. After the Nomination
Committee evaluated the candidates based on the selection
criteria, the Nomination Committee will nominate one or more
qualified candidates for the Board’s consideration and the Board
will determine and agree on a preferred candidate. The Company
and/or the Chairman of the Board will then negotiate the terms of
appointment with the preferred candidate. Finally, the Chairman of
the Board, in consultation with the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and the chairman of the Nomination Committee, will
then finalise a letter of appointment for the Board’s approval.
The Nomination Committee shall ensure the transparency and
fairness of the selection procedure and continue to adopt diverse
selection criteria during the appointment procedure, taking into
consideration a range of elements such as age, educational
background, professional experience, industrial skills and
professional knowledge. Since its establishment, the Nomination
Committee has assumed the role of reviewing such diverse
selection policy at the nomination level, maintaining a diversified
spectrum of varying perspectives, educational background and
professional knowledge in the Board.
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The Board’s Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy, which sets out
the approach to the diversity of Board members. The Company
recognises the importance of diversity to corporate governance
and an effective Board. The Board Diversity Policy aims to set
out the approach to achieve Board diversity, so as to ensure that
the Board members possess appropriate skills, experience and
diverse views necessary for the business of the Company. In
determining the Board composition,
Committee consider a range of diversity elements, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills and knowledge. All appointments
of the Board will be made based on merit and objective criteria
while taking into full account the interest of the Board’s diversity.

the Board and Nomination

The selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
elements and measurable objectives which will be reviewed
regularly. Such measurable objectives shall include, but be not
limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and/or terms of service.
The final decision will be made according to the strengths of
the candidate and his/her contribution that would bring to the
Board. Having considered the business needs of the Company,
the Nomination Committee considers that the current Board is
sufficiently diversified in terms of its skills, experience, knowledge
and independence.

The Nomination Committee has performed the above duties during
the Year.

STRATEGY COMMITTEE

The Group established the Strategy Committee on 20 March 2008.
As at 31 December 2020, the Strategy Committee comprises
an executive Director, Mr. Wang Chuan-fu,
directors, namely Mr. Lv Xiang-yang and Mr. Xia Zuo-quan, and
two independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Cai Hong-
ping and Mr. Zhang Min, with Mr. Wang Chuan-fu as the chairman.
The main duty of the Strategy Committee is to consider and make
recommendations on the Company’'s long-term development
strategy and major investment decisions.

two non-executive
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Li Qian, Company Secretary of the Company, is a full-time
staff of the Group, and is familiar with the daily affairs of the
Company. During the financial year, the Company Secretary had
complied with the relevant professional training requirements
under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The biographical details
of the Company Secretary are set out in the section headed
“Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS AND THEIR REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total remuneration
paid to the international auditor, Ernst & Young and the domestic
auditor, Ernst & Young Hua Ming (LLP), was RMB6,350,000 for
audit services and non-audit services provided for the Company
and its subsidiaries. The audit fee was approved by the Board.
During the reporting period, the total remuneration in respect of
the non-audit services provided was RMB900,000.
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2020 2019
Item HE —EEH —E-NF
Review of interim results ERP IS RMB900,000 RMB1,050,000

AER#900,0005t A X1 050,0007C
Other non-audit services H b IEEET RS - RMB808,000

AR#808,0007T

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibilities for
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out in
the section headed “Independent Auditor's Report” in this annual
report.

The Board has proposed to re-appoint Ernst & Young as the
international auditor of the Company for 2021 and Ernst &
Young Hua Ming (LLP) as the domestic auditor of the Company
for 2021, which is subject to approval by shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. There was no disagreement
between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection and
reappointment of the internal and external auditors during the year
under review.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board confirms its responsibility for risk management and
internal control systems, and for reviewing their effectiveness
through the Audit Committee at least annually. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in performing its responsibilities
for supervision and corporate governance, covering financial,
operational, compliance, risk management and internal control, as
well as internal audit functions of the Company.

Various measures have been designed for safeguarding assets
against unauthorised use or disposition; for maintaining proper
accounting records and for the reliability of financial information
used within the business or for publication. The Company’s
systems of risk management and internal control are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material errors, losses or fraud. The
Board considers that the Company is fully compliant with the
provisions of risk management and internal control as set forth in
the Corporate Governance Code.

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

The Company’s risk management system is composed of a
well-established organizational structure as well as all-rounded
policies and procedures. The responsibilities of each business
and functional department are clearly defined to ensure effective
balance. The Company’s risk management and internal control
structure comprises of:

Board of Directors

o Evaluating and determining the nature and magnitude of
the risks to be assumed by the Company, to achieve its
business and strategic goals;

o Ensuring that the Company has established and maintained
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems;

° Supervising the designing, implementation and inspection
of the risk management and internal control systems by the
management team.
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Audit Committee

Assisting the Board in performing its duties of risk
management and internal control systems;

Supervising the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis, to provide opinions
and suggestions with regard to the improvement of the risk
management and internal control systems;

Reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems at least once a
year;

Ensuring that the Company has sufficient resources, staff
qualifications and experiences in accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions.

Management Team

Designing, implementing and inspecting the risk
management and internal control systems;

Identifying, evaluating and managing risks that may exert
potential impacts on major operational procedures;

Responding to and following up in a timely manner with
regard to the investigation results of risk management
and internal control issues raised by the Internal Audit
Department;

Providing opinions to the Board and the Audit Committee
on the acknowledgment of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems.

Internal Audit Department

Reviewing the due effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems;

Reporting the audit results and making suggestions to
the Audit Committee, to improve major drawbacks of the
systems or identify the deficiency of the control.
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IDENTIFICATION, EVALUATION AND MANAGEMENT
OF MAJOR RISKS

The management team and relevant staff identify risks that may
exert potential impacts on the Company and its operation, and
evaluate and monitor risks in the environment and process.
Through comparison of the risk appraisal results and risk
prioritization, risk management strategies and internal control
procedures are determined to prevent, avoid or reduce risks.

Major risks and related control measures are reviewed and
upgraded on an ongoing basis to ensure proper internal control
procedures in place. Based on the testing results, persons
in charge confirm with the senior management that internal
control measures have played their roles as expected, their
weakness identified in the control have been corrected, and
risk management policies and internal control procedures have
been revised, in the event of any major changes. The Board
and the Audit Committee supervise the control activities of the
management team to ensure the effectiveness of the control
measures.

Annual Review

In 2020, the Board reviewed the soundness and effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
covering financial, operational and compliance control, with a
self-evaluation report issued on the internal control. In addition,
the Company retained an auditor to audit the effectiveness of the
internal control related to the Company’s financial reports, and to
provide independent and objective assessments and suggestions
in the form of auditor's report.
Company’s risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.

The Board considers that the

Internal Audit

The Group has an Internal Audit Department which, equipped
with an independent internal audit system, plays an important role
in the Group’s risk management and internal control framework.
The Internal Audit Department reports directly to the Audit
Committee. The annual and quarterly work plans of the Internal
Audit Department are reviewed by the Audit Committee and
reported to the Audit Committee regularly. Major audit findings
will be reported on a timely basis. Based on its consideration, the
Audit Committee will provide advice for the Board and the senior
management, with subsequent measures taken to review the
implementation of the rectification and improvement plans.
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Disclosure of Inside Information

The Group has put in place a set of policy for the disclosure of
inside information which sets out the procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information
in a timely manner and in compliance with the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
Unless the inside information falls within any of the safe harbors
as permitted under the Securities and Futures Ordinance, the
Group is required to disseminate such information through the
electronic publication system operated by the Stock Exchange to
the public in a timely manner. All Directors, officers and relevant
employees are required to take reasonable precautions for
preserving the confidentiality of inside information and the relevant
announcement (if applicable) before publication. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained, the Group will immediately disclose the information to
the public as soon as reasonably practicable. The policy and its
effectiveness are subject to review on a regular basis.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Company’s
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by its Directors.
Having made specific inquiry of all Directors, the Company
confirmed all Directors have complied with their obligations under
the Model Code regarding their securities transactions during the
Year.

Specified employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Group are also subject to
compliance with the Model Code. No incident of non-compliance
was noted by the Company in 2020.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Under the Company’s Articles of Association, any one or more
shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for considering any matters specified in such
requisition.
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Further, pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association,
shareholders individually or jointly holding no less than 3% of
the Company’s shares may submit an extempore proposal to the
convener of a general meeting in writing ten days prior to the date
of the meeting. The convener shall dispatch a supplementary
notice of general meeting and announce the contents of such
extempore proposal within two days upon receipt of the proposal.

Furthermore, a shareholder may propose a person other than a
retiring Director for election as a Director at a general meeting.
For such purpose, the shareholder must send to the Board a
notice in writing of the intention to propose a person for election
as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his or her
willingness to be so elected, no earlier than the day after the
dispatch of the notice of the relevant general meeting and not
later than 7 days prior to the date appointed for the relevant
general meeting.

Shareholders may send their requisitions and inquiries requiring
the Board’s attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit 1712, 17th Floor,
Tower 2 Grand Central Plaza, No. 138 Shatin Rural Committee
Road, New Territories, Hong Kong. Other general inquiries can be
directed to the Company through our Investor and Media Relations
Consultant, whose contact information is disclosed in the section
headed “Corporate Information” of this annual report.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that effective communication with
investors is essential for enhancing investors’ knowledge and
understanding of the Company. To achieve this, the Company
pursues a proactive policy of promoting investor relations and
communications. The main purpose of the Company’s investor
relations policy, therefore, is to enable investors to have access,
on a fair and timely basis, to information that is reasonably
required for making the best investment decisions.
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During the year, in order to fulfill legal requirements related to
“Decision to Amend Guidelines on Articles of Association of
Listed Companies” (CSRC Announcement (2019) No. 10), issued
by China Securities Regulatory Commission on 17 April 2019,
“State Council’s Official Reply Regarding Adjustment of Rules on
Notice Period of General Meetings Convened by Overseas Listed
Companies” (State Letter (2019) No. 97), issued by State Council
on 22 October 2019, Securities Law of the People’s Republic of
China as amended in 2019, current Listing Rules of Shenzhen
Stock Exchange and actual needs of the Company, the Board
and Shareholders passed the resolutions on amendments to
the Articles of Association at a Board meeting held on 21 April
2020, and an annual general meeting held on 23 June 2020
respectively, resolved to amend provisions related to re-purchase
of shares, notice period of shareholders’ general meetings and
transactions that are required to be considered and approved
by the Board; the following amendments were made thereby to
Article 1, Article 29, Article 30, Article 32, Article 43, Article 64,
Article 68, Article 70, Article 108 and Article 116 of the Articles
of Association. For amendment information, please refer to the
Company'’s circular dated on 29 April 2020. Except the aforesaid
amendments, there is not been any other significant change in
the Articles of Association of the Company. The latest version of
the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is
available on the websites of the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.

In addition, in accordance with the Securities Law of the People’s
Republic of China as amended in 2019, State Council’s Official
Reply Regarding Adjustment of Rules on Notice Period of General
Meetings Convened by Overseas Listed Companies (State Letter
(2019) No. 97), Guidelines on Articles of Association of Listed
Companies as amended in 2019, and current valid Listing Rules
of Shenzhen Stock Exchange and actual needs of the Company,
the Company mainly amended provisions related to the notice
period of shareholders’ general meetings as stipulated in the
Rules of Procedure of Shareholders’ General Meetings. For details
of amendments, please refer to the Company’s circulars dated on
29 April 2020.
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The directors of the Company (“Board”) submit their report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of
BYD Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together with the Company hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The Group is principally engaged in automobile business which
includes traditional fuel-engined vehicles and new energy
vehicles, handset components and assembly services, as well
as rechargeable battery and photovoltaic business while taking
advantage of its technological superiority to actively develop
urban rail transportation and other business segment. The
activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to
the financial statements. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group’s principal activities for the year ended
31 December 2020. Further discussion and analysis of principal
activities are set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis
on pages 13 to 27 of the annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31
December 2020 by business and geographical segments is set
out in note 4 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020
are set out in the consolidated financial statements and their notes
on page 82 to 279 of this annual report.

Dividend Distribution Policy

(0] The Company’s profit distribution policy shall focus on
providing investors with reasonable investment returns
as well as maintaining the sustainable development of
the Company. The Company’s profit distribution shall not
exceed the range of the accumulated distributable profits
or damage the Company’s ability to continue operations.
A sustained and steady profit distribution policy shall be
implemented.

(11 The Company may distribute dividends in cash, in
shares or in a combination of both cash and shares or as
otherwise permitted by the laws and regulations. When the
conditions for cash dividend are satisfied, cash dividend
shall be the priority method of profit distribution.
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(V)

The Company’s profit distribution shall be prepared by
the Board of Directors in accordance with the Company’s
operating conditions and the relevant requirements of
China Securities Regulatory Commission and shall be
considered and approved at the shareholders’ general
meeting.

After the profit distribution plan is approved at the general
meeting of the Company, the Board of Directors of the
Company shall complete the distribution of dividends within
two months after convening the shareholders’ general
meeting.

The profit distributed by the Company in cash each year
shall not be less than 10% of the realized distributable
profit for the year, provided that the following cash
dividend conditions are satisfied and the capital needs for
the normal production, operation and development of the
Company are met. The cumulative profit for distribution in
cash for any three consecutive years shall not be less than
30% of the average annual distributable profit for such
three years:

(1) The distributable profit (i.e. the Company’s profit
after tax net of loss and contribution of reserve
funds) realized by the Company for the year or
half year is positive in value and the cash flow is
sufficient. The payment of cash dividends will not
affect the subsequent continuing operation of the
Company;

(2) The cumulative distributable profit of the Company
is positive in value;

(3) The audit firm issues an unqualified audit report on
the financial report of the Company for the year.

The Board of Directors of the Company may propose the
Company to make interim cash distribution according to the
Company’s earnings and capital requirement conditions,
provided that the cash dividend conditions are satisfied.

Depending on the profitability and business growth for the
year, the Company may distribute profits by way of shares
to match share capital expansion with business growth,
provided that the minimum cash dividend payout ratio and
an optimal share capital base and shareholding structure
are maintained.
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(VII)  When considering and conducting profit distribution,
the Board of Directors of the Company shall take into
account certain circumstances and factors as set out in the
Company'’s Articles of Association.

(VIII) The Company shall calculate, declare and pay dividends
and other amounts which are payable to holders of
domestic shares in Renminbi within the period as
prescribed by the Articles of Association. The Company
shall calculate and declare dividends and other payments
which are payable to holders of overseas-listed foreign
shares in Renminbi, and shall pay such amounts in the
foreign currency within the period as prescribed by the
Articles of Association. The applicable exchange rate
shall be the average closing rate for the relevant foreign
currency announced by the People’s Bank of China of the
five working days prior to the announcement of payment
of dividend and other amounts. The Company shall pay
foreign currencies to holders of overseas-listed foreign
shares in accordance with the relevant foreign exchange
control regulations of the State. Authorised by general
meetings, the Board may determine to distribute interim
dividends or bonuses.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of final
dividend of RMB0.148 per share (including tax) for the year ended
31 December 2020 (for the year ended 31 December 2019: the
payment of RMBO0.06 per share (including tax)). The proposed
final dividend is subject to the consideration and approval of
the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the

“*AGM”) of the Company.

The Company will publish announcement, circular and notice
regarding the AGM in accordance with the Listing Rules and the
Articles of Association of the Company. The Company will also
make separate announcement regarding the record date and
date of closure of register of members for the payment of the final
dividend to the holders of H shares. It is expected that the final
dividend will be distributed before 31 August 2021.

The final dividend will be denominated and declared in RMB.
The holders of A shares will be paid in RMB and the holders of H
shares will be paid in Hong Kong dollars. The exchange rate for
the dividend to be paid in Hong Kong dollars will be the mean of
the exchange rates of Hong Kong dollars to RMB as announced
by the People’s Bank of China during the five business days prior
to the date of declaration of the dividend at the Extraordinary
General Meeting.
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In accordance with the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China and its implementation regulations which
came into effect on 1 January 2008, the Company is required
to withhold and pay enterprise income tax at the rate of 10% on
behalf of the non-resident enterprise shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members for H shares when distributing
the cash dividends. Any H shares not registered under the name
of an individual shareholder, including HKSCC Nominees Limited,
other nominees, agents or trustees, or other organisations or
groups, will be deemed as shares held by non-resident enterprise
shareholders. Therefore, the enterprise income tax will be withheld
from dividends payable to such shareholders. If holders of H
shares intend to change its shareholder status, please enquire
about the relevant procedures with your agents or trustees. The
Company will strictly comply with the law or the requirements of
the relevant government authority and withhold and pay enterprise
income tax on behalf of the relevant shareholders based on the
register of members for H shares as at the record date of the
proposed final dividend.

In accordance with the Circular on Certain Issues Concerning
the Policies of Individual Income Tax (Cai Shui Zi [1994] No.
020) promulgated by the Ministry of Finance and the State
Administration of Taxation on 13 May 1994, overseas individuals
are, temporarily, exempted from the PRC individual income tax for
dividend or bonuses received from foreign-invested enterprises.
In accordance with the Letter of the State Administration of
Taxation concerning Taxation Issues of Dividends Received by
Foreign Individuals Holding Shares of Companies Listed in China
(Guo Shui Han Fa [1994] No. 440) as promulgated by the State
Administration of Taxation on 26 July 1994, dividends (capital
bonuses) received by foreign individuals holding B shares or
overseas shares (including H shares) from Chinese enterprises
issuing such B shares or overseas shares are temporarily
exempted from individual income tax. Accordingly, in the payment
of final dividends, the Company will not withhold and pay the
individual income tax on behalf of individual shareholders
when the Company distributes the final dividend to individual
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
H shares of the Company.

Shareholders are recommended to consult their tax advisor
regarding the ownership and disposal of H shares of the Company
in the PRC and in Hong Kong and other tax effects.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review set out on pages 16 to 20 of the annual
report shall form an integral part of this Report of the Directors.

Principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group

Please refer to note 49 to the financial statements for details
of the main financial risks faced by the Group and the Group’s
management objectives and policies regarding such risks. In
addition to such financial risks, the Directors are of the view that
any material change in relevant government policies (such as the
Chinese Government’s policies on economic development and
environmental protection) is also one of the principal risks and
uncertainties that may affect the Group’s business.

Environmental policies

The Group has been a positive respondent for environmental
protection. While helping reduce energy consumption through
green products, the Group also focuses on reducing the direct
impacts of its operation on the environment. By introducing
an energy management system, promoting the replacement of
traditional energy with renewable energy and saving energy
through technical and management means, BYD continues
to reduce its own energy consumption and carbon dioxide
emissions.

Regulatory compliance

BYD requires stringent compliance with laws, social norms,
professional ethics and internal regulations in its worldwide
operations. The Group has established the Law and Regulation
Management Committee which monitors, supervises and
inspects, regularly and from time to time, the management and
implementation of laws and regulations in various departments,
and evaluates their implementation and compliance in such areas.
During the year of 2020, as far as the Company is aware, there
was no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws
and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.
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Relationship with employees

Since employees are the foundation for development, the Group
adheres to the “people-oriented” principle in its human resources
management and practices equal employment opportunities
and prohibits any career discrimination. The Group reviews its
employee compensation policies on a regular basis and bonuses
and commission may be awarded to employees based on their
annual performance evaluation. Efforts have also been made to
help employees in the aspects of housing, transportation and
children’s education, etc.

Relationship with customers and suppliers

The Group strives to build and maintain long term and strong
relationships with customers. BYD has established a customer
satisfaction management system with a view to understanding and
fulfilling customers’ demands and enhancing their satisfaction.
In terms of suppliers, the Group’s objective is to keep mutually
beneficial and win-win partnerships with all suppliers. At the
same time, the Group regularly evaluates the performance of our
suppliers including suppliers’ social responsibility.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity and note 41 to the financial
statements, respectively.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to RMB35,783,000
(2019: RMB11,022,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group and the Company are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set
out in note 39 to the financial statements.

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the
Company.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2020,
calculated under the relevant legislation applicable in the PRC,
the Company’s place of incorporation, amounted to approximately
RMB462,339,000 (2019: RMB597,664,000).

BANK LOANS

As at 31 December 2020, details of bank loans of the Group are
set out in note 35 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there is no similar restriction against
such rights under the laws of the PRC in respect of joint stock
limited companies, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 280 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December
2020 and up to the date of this report are:

— Executive Director:

Mr. Wang Chuan-fu

— Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lv Xiang-yang
Mr. Xia Zuo-quan

- Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Cai Hong-ping (in office from 8 September 2020)
Mr. Zhang Min (in office from 8 September 2020)
Mr. Jiang Yan-bo (in office from 8 September 2020)

AR IS

ﬁ?$“ﬂ%%&iﬁ%$l%‘ AEEE K

NEIR—_E_ZTF+_A=+—BA#HokHE
H B ANRB 462,339,000 (ZE—NF  ARH
597,664,0007C) °

RITERK

R-ZZEZTF+-_A=+—HB  xEENRTEX
EAEESTp R il

BEEBRE

ARBWARERT WEBLBBIENEI > MH
B £ i £ B R B (E A AR RBE RO A 2 7R it A NI AR

BURRS - REARRARRBRRIZLHIHE
FTRX ©
IFUBBERE

AEEFRAEGREFENEEREEABREHR
KEFHRE280H ©

BE
BE-_Z_ZF+ A=+ A ILFERERNRE
BEAETMESOT

- HITEE:

TEREE

- FHTESE:
B AL
BlERELE

- BYFBITES:

RV EE (BT -TFAANREER)
RYELE (BT -ZFAANBRER)
BEREE (BT -_ZEFAAN\HEER)



DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

All existing Directors had signed or renewed their service
contracts or letters of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years commencing on 8 September 2020.

All existing supervisors had signed or renewed their service or
employment contracts with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 8 September 2020.

None of the above mentioned contracts and letters of appointment
are determinable within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangement or contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Group was a party
and in which a Director or supervisor and an entity related to a
Director or supervisor of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or
at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The emolument payable to each executive Director is based on
(i) his duties and responsibilities; (ii) prevailing market conditions;
and (iii) performance and profitability of the Company.

The emolument payable to each non-executive director
(including independent non-executive director) is based on the
responsibilities and undertaking to the Board taking into account
his experience and market practice for such post.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 9 to
the financial statements.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Brief biographical details of Directors, supervisors and senior

management of the Company are set out on pages 30 to 42 of this
annual report.
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DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of
each of the directors, supervisors and chief executives of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”)) which were required to be notified
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests which he is taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into
the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange to be notified to the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (for this purpose, the relevant
provisions of the SFO will be interpreted as if they applied to the
supervisors) were as follows:

A shares of RMB1.00 each

EE  EERRSITHRAENES

R-ZZ-_ZTFE+-_HA=+—H ARFEE EF
REBITBRABR&EBRARRREMREEE (&
RBERBZNFSTIEESF PRGN ([EFREE
Bl 1) EXVED) At - RO RESFTHEAR
BREFMBROIEXVEET R8N RAME AR A
REBBMERSMBER AR ([BEMRN]) kR
Kok a (BRRREE S RIS RE1A BSOS A
BREANER)  HIRIBESF R EGD 35214
ARBRIEEELM  HREFERIAESF L™
MAM EMARESETELFRXHHRETRIZAM
SARAREEBZMOER (RUEBNHE @ &5
RAEEPIMBBGEXERERERARES) T

BRAR®1.00TZAR

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

in total
issued share
capital (%)

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in total issued
A shares (%)

Number of FREMAEERT FREWGLSRIT

A shares AR BAEEEW

Name & ABREE BHAEI%) BMAIBEDL(%)

Wang Chuan-fu (Director) TEmE(ES) 513,623,850 (L) 28.33% 18.83%
(Note 1)
(K1at1)

Lv Xiang-yang (Director) =mkG (EE) 398,181,480 (L) 21.96% 14.60%
(Note 2)
(Hiat2)

Xia Zuo-quan (Director) BErz2(E%) 94,577,432 (L) 5.22% 3.47%

(L) — Long Position

(L) -4 E



Note:

1. The 513,623,850 A shares did not include the 3,727,700 A
shares held by Mr. Wang Chuan-fu in No.1 Assets Management
Plan through E Fund BYD;

2. Of the 398,181,480 A shares, 239,228,620 A shares were held

by Mr. Lv Xiang-yang in his personal capacity and 158,952,860
A shares were held by Youngy Investment Holding Group Co.,
Ltd. (RUEIREEREEER AR (“Youngy Investment”, formerly
known as Guangzhou Youngy Management & Investment
Group Company Limited). Youngy Investment was in turn
held by Mr. Lv Xiang-yang and his spouse as to 89.5% and
10.5% of equity interests, respectively. Mr. Lv Xiang-yang was
therefore deemed to be interested in the 158,952,860 A shares
under the SFO.

H shares of RMB1.00 each
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Kt

1. E#%513,623,850BAR Y - TRETMES
EBBSHEEEL DB REEE RS
BB 3,727, 700 B ARLRE

2. 7£:%398,181,480 LAY 2 7 + 239,228,620

BAKRBEEBEEANBEAZTOHEAER
158,952,860 KA AR IR EIEREEB R A
Al (RERE  AIBAENMERAEEEH
BRAF)RKA - EREAARRBEER
HEB DRI H89.5% X 10.5% 4
IR EE H R EAERA - 2R EERR AR
158,952,860 (X ARE B 1S ©

SRARM1.00T 2HRK

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding

in total
issued share
capital (%)

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in total issued
H shares (%)

Number of HEREMAHE T IFREGDBT
H shares HER B IR A 48 K1Y
Name #®E HEBREE #BHAEI(%) BHNEDE(%)
Wang Chuan-fu (Director) TER(ES) 1,000,000 (L) 0.11% 0.04%
Xia Zuo-quan (Director) Brha(E%) 500,000 (L) 0.05% 0.02%
(Note)
(Kiat)
(L) — Long Position (L) -2 &
Note: Wizt :

Of the 500,000 H shares, 195,000 H shares were held by Mr. Xia Zuo-
quan as a beneficial owner and 305,000 H shares were held by Sign
Investments Limited, which was wholly-owned by Mr. Xia Zuo-quan.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors, supervisors or chief executives of the Company had
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which was required
to be (a) recorded in the register to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (b) notified to the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.

HA500,000HKEH » EEEEAUNERERAFTNDE
B195,000HR - MEBEAEZLEEE2EHBMSIgn
Investments Limited 84574 305,000 & Hf% ©

BEEEEN  R-Z-ZTF+-A=+—H  #if
ARREE  BEERRSTHRABERERRREEIE
BOXRE (Ex LEFRPEERPIEXVEL) &k - 8
P R EEEPEAEREIORAMA () TEN AR E
RIEE S R A GPIE326FENELMA : (o)
BEIMARESETESRXINBRETRAMNG AR F]
KB
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SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS BEETHEEENRBRER

As at 31 December 2020, to the knowledge of the Directors of WR_-_Z_ZTH+-_F=+—H  iAR A EEF
the Company, the following persons (other than the Directors, %1 A FALT(TEEARARES  EERESTTH
supervisors and chief executives of the Company) had interests A 8) RARERD LA T #EERIEES &K
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the EIEFIEXVIBEFE2 X3 DEBARAR R KRB BT
Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company ¥ EIRIE B4 L EEHIE 336 FEH AR QAT
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange under the provisions of EBEMZELMAERSAR

Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or were required to be

entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section

336 of the SFO:

1. A shares of RMB1.00 each 1. FERAR1.00THAR

Approximate
Approximate percentage of
percentage of shareholding

shareholding in total

in total issued issued share

A shares (%) capital (%)

Number of FREHERT FREMEESRIT

A shares AR EEH A EEEW

Name #18 AREE BMOBEDLE(%) BMYEDEE(%)

Youngy Investment (Note) MR E (Wit 158,952,860 (L) 8.77% 5.83%
(L) — Long Position (L) -4 E

Note: Hiat -

Youngy Investment is owned by Mr. Lv Xiang-yang, a non- ENERAANRI FRTTESARGAELEES

executive Director of the Company, as to 89.5%. Mr. Lv is 80.5% Mz - AL BIEBFAELRBEEN - 2

therefore deemed to be interested in the 158,952,860 A shares TR AR REIRER A /158,952,860 A

held by Youngy Investment under the SFO. IR EBRER -



2. H shares of RMB1.00 each
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2. BREEARE1.00 THHE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in total
issued share
capital (%)

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in total issued
H shares (%)

Number of BBREMERT BEREMABRST

H shares HER B H A B

Name 7 HREE BAEI(%) BHNEDL(%)
Berkshire Hathaway Inc. (Note 1) Berkshire Hathaway Inc. (#7:#1) 225,000,000 (L) 24.59% 8.25%
Berkshire Hathaway Energy (Note 1) Berkshire Hathaway Energy (#7#7) 225,000,000 (L) 24.59% 8.25%
Li Lu (Note 2) Li Lu(#fs22) 75,387,200 (L) 8.24% 2.76%
LL Group, LLC (Note 2) LL Group, LLC (#/#2) 75,387,200 (L) 8.24% 2.76%

(L) — Long Position (S) — Short position (P) - Lending pool

Notes:

Berkshire Hathaway Inc. was deemed to be interested
in 225,000,000 H shares (L) through its controlled
corporation, Berkshire Hathaway Energy Company
(formerly known as MidAmerican Energy Holdings
Company) for the 225,000,000 H shares directly held
by it.

LL Group, LLC was deemed to be interested in
75,387,200 H shares (L) through its controlled
corporation, Himalaya Capital Investors, L.P. (formerly
known as LL Investment Partners, L.P.). Li Lu, being
the controlling shareholder of Capital Investors, L.P.
(formerly known as LL Group, LLC), was also deemed
to be interested in 75,387,200 H shares.

The total issued share capital of the Company as at 31
December 2020 was RMB2,728,142,855, divided into
1,813,142,855 A shares of RMB1.00 each and 915,000,000
H shares of RMB1.00 each, all fully paid up.

(L) - # & (S)- KB (P)- AlRELHRE

At -

Berkshire Hathaway Inc. #
BAEFBHEZTS XA Berkshire
Hathaway Energy Company (8%
AMidAmerican Energy Holdings
Company) FTE ##5 #9225,000,000
BEHRE » 72225,000,000 B HA% (L) 2 &
HmEER o

LL Group, LLC# R AFEBEIEH A A
Himalaya Capital Investors, L.P. (/R
& ALL Investment Partners, L.P.)R
75,387,200 & HAR (L) 2 B i 45 o Li
Lu&Capital Investors, L.P. (RIfBLL
Group, LLC) FIZRRARE « TREE AR
75,387,200 HA% 7 A o

—TEt-A=t+-8 ARAE

BB EAEARKE2,728,142,8557T ¢
/41,813,142, 855 R FRREIE AR 1.00
TCEIARE 915,000,000 I & I HE{E A R
1.007THIHAR - 2HHAREWRER -
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management or administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2020.

COMPETING BUSINESS

During the financial year, no director acquired benefits by
engaging in business that competes with that of the Company or
its subsidiaries.

In September 2009, Mr. Wang Chuan-fu, the controlling
shareholder of the Group, signed the Non-competition
Undertakings to confirm with the Company that he would abide
by the undertaking of not engaging in business that competes
with that of the Company. Directors, including independent
non-executive directors, have examined his compliance and
confirmed that the controlling shareholder has abided by all the
undertakings.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

Currently, all PRC subsidiaries of the Group participate in defined
contribution retirement schemes (the “Schemes”) launched by
local provincial and municipal governments in China, pursuant
to which the Group makes contributions to the Schemes in
accordance with the applicable percentage of the salary of
eligible staff. Local government authorities assume the obligation
in respect of all the pensions payable to retired staff.

Save for the above contributions, the Group does not have any
other major payment obligation in respect of pension benefits.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of purchases and sales for the year ended 31
December 2020 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers and
customers are as follows:

EEEHN

HEZZ-_ZTHFF+_A=+—HBILFE  KRQAW
BN BEEXBAENEEXRBNERRTRIER
RIEFEAEAAL -

BEEK
RAMBFE  HEEFEEEAQ A K E MK
BRI EBHIREME

“ETENFNA  AEEERRREERELR
(TR FEG)  MARBEREETT2EES
%E’Jﬁv é%(a%ﬁi#%ﬂﬁ%%) EZE
B RE R IR MU R B B T T 5 B R AV PR G

$E
=
%“‘,

ﬁ‘ft rﬁf 3R

BT E

BRASENZPEMERF2E - LhhEEH
AT RAT R B 00 E R SOR KB AT 8 ([ %%
FED B AEEEARAEREEHFSMNER
LR mZ SR EME L MR o W77 BUT# BB R
KEEM2EERSHEERT -

MR Bt gERRoN - RE BN M E A E EARK BT
IRELE ©
FEEFREER

AEENTIEHERLREPERE_T_TF+=
A=T—HULFENRBREIEERI O LAT

Purchases RIEEE
— the largest supplier — AR 10.03%
— the five largest suppliers combined — Il sAHRER AT 27.52%
Sales SHER
— the largest customer —HmAEP 12.65%
— the five largest customers combined — RS AEF AR 34.05%




None of the directors, their close associates or any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) had an interest in any of the
major suppliers or customers noted above.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the related party transactions undertaken by the
Group during the Year is set out in notes 46(a), (b) and (c) to
the financial statements. Such related party transactions did not
constitute connected transactions of the Group under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

There was no connected transaction entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2020 which is required to be
disclosed under the Listing Rules, and the Group has complied
with the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant subsequent events of the Group are set out
in note 52 of the financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors as at the date of this
report, the Directors confirm that the Company had sufficient
public float as required by the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Each independent non-executive director has provided a written
statement confirming his/her independence to the Company pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company assessed that each
independent non-executive director continues to be independent.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young, the Company’s international auditor, and Ernst
& Young Hua Ming (LLP), the Company’s domestic auditor, will
retire. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to
appoint Ernst & Young as the international auditor of the Company
for 2021 and Ernst & Young Hua Ming (LLP) as the domestic
auditor for 2021.
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HE-Z-THFEA+ - A=+—HIFE AEET
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AEBDET ETRRIE4ABHIMRE ©

BEMRER
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52 °

NBRERENZHME
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Ha& ERAIMEE -
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FUND RAISING AND USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company entered into a placing agreement (the “Placing
Agreement”) with UBS AG Hong Kong Branch, Goldman Sachs
(Asia) L.L.C. and China International Capital Corporation Hong
Kong Securities Limited (together as Joint Global Coordinators
and Placing Agents) on 21 January 2021 (“Placing Agreement
Signing Date”) in relation to the placing of 133,000,000 new
H Shares of the Company. The Placing Price is HK$225.0 per
Placing Share: (a) a discount of approximately 8.2% to the
average closing price of HK$245.2 per H Share as quoted on the
Stock Exchange for the last 10 consecutive trading days up to and
including 20 January 2021, being the last trading day before the
Placing Agreement Signing Date; (b) a discount of approximately
6.9% to the average closing price of HK$241.6 per H Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last 5 consecutive
trading days up to and including 20 January 2021; and (c) a
discount of approximately 7.8% to the closing price of HK$244.0
per H Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 20 January
2021. The Placing Shares represent approximately 14.54% of
the existing number of H Shares in issue, being 915,000,000 H
Shares, and approximately 4.88% of the number of total issued
Shares as at the Placing Agreement Signing Date. The Placing
Shares represent approximately 12.69% of the number of issued
H Shares and approximately 4.65% of the number of total issued
Shares, in each case, as enlarged by the allotment and issue of
the Placing Shares. The aggregate nominal value of the Placing
Shares under the Placing is RMB133,000,000. The Placing Agents
placed the Placing Shares to not less than six Placees who are
independent professional, institutional and/or other investors (they
or their ultimate beneficial owners are third parties not connected
with the Company, connected persons of the Company and
any of the Directors, supervisors, chief executive or substantial
shareholder(s) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or their
respective associates). The Placing was completed on 28 January
2021. Details of the Placing were disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated on 21 January 2021 and 28 January 2021.

EEESRFIEREAR

ARAFIEUBS AG Hong Kong Branch * &% (g8
M BRECABDRTEEARCEBESEFHERA
B(EABFEE2EMAAREERE) R =—
F—AZT—B(EREHEEER )L TEERH
#([EESsWw=]) - AEEE A2 75133,000,000
FTHER - BREERMBELEE225.087T : (a)&
MRS —E - —F— A=+ B (AEEH#
ZEHNHREZ AR SA > 2%B)REEETE
REBZFHWTETRHRL 245 2B T EL
8.2% : (b)) —_T—_—F—A=+HA
(F%B)BEREERERS B 2 PR ESRKRH
f%#1241.678 TTIEL6.9% : R(c) L - T - —F—
A=+ BHRERZ TR Wi B S RHR244.08 7T
PraEI7.8% - BERNDIEZEREEHEHRSACE
77915,000,000 B HAE &I 4914.54% » KA & %
REHDBITRGEENEL.88% - LERD LN
R AEBHITHREE M4912.69% K& Fl & B fn Bl 28
KRBTSR AEHITRMDAENL4.65%  FTEC
ErRERDNLATEESARE133,000,0007T °
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E/SHEMEEE (RERESERESHEEARE
SNRARR C ARAZEEAL  RARSKEAM
MBARIZEMEZES - BEF  &ZaIRABREE
BRI ESACBMEALREBENE=F) - &
EEBEERN-_Z-—F—A=-t+/\B=K " BES
ERNHBERAARBSHA-ZTE-_—4F—A_-+—H
ZE-—F-AZ T NBHNAEFHE -



The aggregate gross proceeds from the Placing are approximately
HK$29,925 million and the aggregate net proceeds (after
deduction of the commissions and estimated expenses) from the
Placing are approximately HK$29,801 million; the net price (after
deduction of the commissions and estimated expenses) raised
per H Share is approximately HK$224.1. The net proceeds from
the Placing are intended to be used by the Group to supplement
its working capital, repay interest-bearing debt, invest in research
and development and as general corporate purpose.

The Placing offers the Company a good opportunity to optimise its
capital structure and financial structure for its business. Further,
the Company will be able to enrich its shareholder base by
attracting a number of high calibre investors to participate in the
Placing. The Company expects that the unutilised proceeds will
be used according to the intended use of proceeds as previously
announced.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company did not have

any other fund raising activity during the year ended 31 December
2020 and up to the date of this report.

On behalf of the Board

Wang Chuan-fu
Chairman

Shenzhen, PRC, 29 March 2021
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In 2020, in accordance with the principle of being accountable Z—Z=ZTFERREZTLRE(ARE) -(ARE
to all shareholders, the Supervisory Committee of the Company MR)RABBERNBE  AEZH2ERIEATNRE
fully complied with the duties to supervise and ensure that the 1 - REET T EENHE - ﬁ?ﬂ%ﬂxﬁﬁﬁﬁié
resolutions as passed in general meetings were consistently BRfUEE % TRENEGAEDR TR TA
implemented, the legal interest of shareholders was protected FE)FBRERASHE FHEH Y2 E%ﬁ%ﬁ‘”f’ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%
and the duties conferred under the Articles of Association and — EEIIE T ELTHIER -

in the general meetings were completed in accordance with
the Company Law, the Articles of Association and the relevant
provisions, facilitating a disciplined operation and sustainable
development of the Company.

1. MEETINGS OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE 1.
DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD AND
RESOLUTIONS PASSED IN SUCH MEETINGS

On 21 April 2020, the Supervisory Committee convened
its meeting at the office of the Company, where the annual
report of the Company for 2019 was considered and
approved accordingly.

On 28 April 2020, the Supervisory Committee convened
its meeting at the office of the Company, where the first
quarterly report of the Company for 2020 was considered
and approved accordingly.

On 21 August 2020, the Supervisory Committee convened
its meeting at the office of the Company, where the election
of the new Supervisory Committee of the Company for 2020
was considered and approved accordingly.

On 28 August 2020, the Supervisory Committee convened
its meeting at the office of the Company, where the the
interim report of the Company for 2020 was considered
and approved accordingly.

On 8 September 2020, the Supervisory Committee
convened its meeting at the office of the Company,
where the election of the chairman of the 7th Supervisory
Committee of the Company for 2020 was considered and
approved accordingly.

On 29 October 2020, the Supervisory Committee convened
its meeting at the office of the Company, where the third
quarterly report of the Company for 2020 was considered
and approved accordingly.
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2. PROGRESS OF THE WORK OF THE
SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD

During the reporting period, the Supervisory Committee
of the Company performed its supervisory functions in
a fiduciary manner. The Supervisory Committee duly
supervised and examined the Company’s financial
situation, the Board of Directors’ execution of the
resolutions passed in general meetings, operational
decisions of the management, the operations of the
Company in compliance with the laws, the acts of the
Directors, supervisors and senior management of the
Company, and the related party transactions entered into
with its controlling shareholder. The Supervisory Committee
considered that:

(1) The operating activities of the Company and its
controlling subsidiaries in 2020 did not violate the
Company Law, the Articles of Association, financial
accounting procedures and the laws and regulations
of the PRC.

(2) During the discharge of their duties in 2020, the
Directors, supervisors and senior management of
the Company fulfilled their fiduciary duties by acting
lawfully, regularized management, explored for
innovation, with discipline to protect the interests of
all the shareholders of the Company. None of the
parties named above was found in breach of the
Company Law, the Articles of Association or the
laws and regulations of the PRC.

(3) The auditor presented an unqualified auditor’s
report. The report indicates that the financial
statements give a true and fair view of the financial
status and operating results of the Company.

The Supervisory Committee is confident in the prospect of the
Company and will proceed to carry out effective supervision on
the operation of the Company to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders and the Company as a whole.

Chairman of the Supervisory Committee
Dong Jun-qing

29 March 2021
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Emst & Young R BB Tel B3 +852 2846 9888
EY 22/F, CITIC Tower EBPIBREIE 1% Fax {EE: +852 2868 4432
f i 1 Tim Mei Avenue PiERE2218 www.ey.com
7 Central, Hong Kong
To the shareholders of BYD Company Limited BEEROERATRR

(Registered in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
BYD Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 91 to 279, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.
The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

BYRZREMBRES
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Key audit matter

REELEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZEEEELRRNMEY

Impairment assessment of non-financial non-current
assets

The Group recorded property, plant and equipment
of RMB58,201,882,000 and other intangible assets
of RMB10,107,776,000, which included capitalised
development costs of RMB9,688,588,000 as at 31
December 2020 in the consolidated financial statements.
The management assessed whether there were any
indicators of impairment for all non-financial non-current
assets at 31 December 2020. Non-current assets with
impairment indicators and development costs were
tested for impairment. The management calculated the
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units (CGUs),
which is the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal
and the value in use in the impairment test. The calculation
of the recoverable amounts involved significant judgements
and assumptions, such as revenue from future sales, gross
profit margin, operational costs, terminal growth rates,
discount rates, etc.

ﬁi “EFE+-A=+—H  BEERAHIEBKHRERBER
%% W= MEEEEARKES8,201,882,0007T K H b #
é%AEanmepmnxﬁ¢@%§$M%%W$AE
#9,688,588,0007T) - BREEHN _E-_TF+-_A=+—H
FTEESRIIERDEETHREFETABRERENTR - 7
ERETRAERBEEN RS R EETRENR - 812
B pnElarEeELE8uma kT e QAR EBER
HERAEFEFRAEEzRSE - JRKRESENHESRERH
BT I RE% - GnoRRSHE A ~ BFE - BENA - JFELE

BRFTRESE -

FERMERTEERE TG

We performed the following audit procedures, among
others, in relation to the impairment assessment of non-
financial non-current assets:

BPEESRIPRBEENREF AT (PR3 ATHE
Zi2F

° Obtained an understanding of key internal
controls of impairment assessment and its design
and operating effectiveness;

. TRERE R e BB A B R R R ETMETT A
M
° Discussed with management on the impairment

indicators of non-financial non-current assets and
checked the reasonableness of identification of
CGUs and impairment test model;

. BEEENRIFERIFABEENRETRLBRER
@Eiﬁm%% BER SRS

o Evaluated the appropriateness of management’s
assumptions used in the impairment test
(including revenue growth, profit margin, forecast
periods, etc);

. AHEREARTEREEEANREROGE T (25K
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Key audit matter

REELEE

BYRZREMBRES

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZEEEELRRNMEY

As the assessment process is relatively complicated and
involves significant estimates, which may be affected
by unexpected future market and economic conditions,
impairment assessment of non-financial non-current assets
is considered as a key audit matter during the year.

BARFHEABRLEEML P REARMGE - REIFEHR
RIS A RGBEARR O E - #OERBEERNBENEK
BRAFNERERZER -

Details of the impairment assessment are disclosed in
notes 2.4, 3, 14 to 16 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BEMGEOFERERGHUBREME24 -3 14216
18 ¢

° Involved internal valuation experts to assist in
evaluating the appropriateness of assumptions
and parameters, including discount rates,
terminal growth rates, etc.;

. BB AABEERR  FHBRRARZENGRE
tE o HPEaE  TRX . ARERRRE:

° Evaluated the assumptions and parameters
by retrospectively reviewing the accuracy of
management’s forecasts made historically,
reviewing the forecasted future economic trend
and corroborating the assumptions with current
market trend;

o EBEWEEIBME T T BN LR LI K K
@RS - RIS TSR YA AT A
EITE

° Reviewed the sufficiency and completeness of

disclosures included in the consolidated financial
statements.

. BERAHMBEHRRTBEREOT MR -
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Key audit matter

REELEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZEEEELRRNMEY

Provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables, contract assets and long-term
receivables

As at 31 December 2020, trade receivables amounted
to RMB39,307,896,000, long-term receivables amounted
to RMB1,804,913,000 and contract assets amounted to
RMB5,346,105,000, which accounted for a significant
portion of the consolidated financial statements.

M-ZE-_ZFE+-A=+—H EUWBSFERXRARK
39,307,896,0007T * KHIEUWBR XA R ¥ 1,804,913,0007T &%
ARIBEARKS346,105,00070 * AU BKREMEBE
KEBS -

Management uses a provision matrix to calculate the
expected credit losses for trade receivables, long-term
receivables and contract assets. The application of the
provision matrix requires to consider all reasonable and
reliable information, including customers’ credit risks,
aging of receivables, existence of disputes and historic
payments,
conditions. The groupings of various customer segments
and the estimation of expected credit loss rate involve
significant judgements and estimates.

as well as forecasts of future economic

ERERAREREEAERKEZRN REBKEIEER
BENRHNGEEER ERRRBEETESEMASEAEAK
BRER  BREEFEERR  BRUERER REFEDK
Aan - MENKES - A RHRREERROER - SEEF
DB D AR HTEREEBRERNGES REXHE R

Details of the provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables, contract assets and long-term receivables are
disclosed in notes 2.4, 3, 24, 27 and 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUWESED  AREEMKRHBRUERNESREEBIBEE
FIEEERNA M EHRERNT2.4 324 2728 °

FEWE S RN

BRE

EREERRMEVWRANEAREES

We performed the following procedures, among others,

in relat

BAHBEMEEBERRERT

ion to the provision for expected credit losses:

(R85 AT

Obtained an understanding of key internal
controls of the provision for expected
credit losses and its design and operating
effectiveness;

THE
SR

HIE BB R B A R0 RE 52 AR b ) ELRRAHANE

-\

Discussed with management on the identification
of customer segments and estimates on expected
credit losses, reviewed their accuracy based
on historical incurred losses, and evaluated
the reasonableness of management’s expected
credit loss model considering current economic
conditions;

EEERBNEP Y ENE B EEBENME

/\

TElE - BBRAEESERE RERYE - WER
EARERATEEEERBEERBEANAE
M

For trade receivables with individually assessed
credit risk exposure, discussed with management
on the reasonableness of identification and
analysed the recoverability of such receivables;
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Key audit matter

REELEE

BYRZREMBRES

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZEEEELRRNMEY

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

For trade receivables with credit risk exposure
assessed based on provision matrix, evaluated
the reasonableness of estimates on the expected
credit loss model based on type of customers,
historical incurred losses and expected credit
loss rates of comparable companies; and

MIRBEEETEEERROEWE SERRME @ 7
HEHBRBEEFEN BEELENEBEBRATELERAR
NEHEEEEXREHNBEREEBIEE NG
RN &

Recalculated and checked management’s
provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables, contract assets and long-term
receivables to ensure mathematical accuracy.

EH A RREEEBYRMESER  ARAER
B R TR £ S R0 P 8 DA AR 8
RN -
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is M.L. Chau.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 March 2021
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Year ended 31 December 2020
HEZT-_TFT_A=t—HLLFE

2020 2019
—BRHE —E-NF
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
bt et ARBT T AERBTTT
REVENUE A 5 153,469,184 121,778,117
Cost of sales SHE AR (126,225,593) (103,702,124)
Gross profit EF 27,243,591 18,075,993
Other income and gains N NS 5 1,700,078 1,974,950
Government grants and subsidies R 48 B B vl B 7 1,688,142 1,707,657
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R SRR (5,055,613)  (4,345,897)
Research and development costs it 75 B B A AR (7,464,861)  (5,629,372)
Administrative expenses TERFAX (4,395,630) (4,232,316)
Impairment losses on financial and cREEREEN (1,166,268) (477,031)
contract assets REE R
Loss on disposal of financial assets measured & & RB K AT EHY (299,523) (519,134)
at amortised cost SRMEENEBE
Other expenses HAbpx (2,056,691) (213,536)
Finance costs BA A 8 (3,123,801)  (3,487,407)
Share of profits and losses of: DMEE N R E1E
Joint ventures AERA (198,955) (435,311)
Associates AN 12,118 12,535
PROFIT BEFORE TAX R A& T 6 6,882,587 2,431,131
Income tax expense FriS Bl 11 (868,624) (312,274)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERF 6,013,963 2,118,857
Attributable to: FEfL -
Owners of the parent [SYNEIE PPN 13 4,234,267 1,614,450
Non-controlling interests IR R 1,779,696 504,407
6,013,963 2,118,857
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO B RAFKNZER 13
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF EREEA
THE PARENT EEsRER
Basic and diluted BERREE
— For profit for the year — FERH RMB RMB
ARM®1.47t AE¥0.507T
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Year ended 31 December 2020
BE-T-TE+-A=+-ALFE

2020 2019
—E-ZHF Z—NF
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Htet AR¥T T ARBETTT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEEA 6,013,963 2,118,857
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hitir el
Other comprehensive loss that Hig BAEmIae &= 88
may be reclassified to profit or loss in ZERMNEMSE
subsequent periods: &5t -
Trade receivable financing: JEMWFIERLE - 25
Changes in fair value NAEEEE (12,680) (5,234)
Impairment losses VERIENE= 329 (1,907)
(12,351) (7,141)
Exchange differences: ME 258
Exchange differences on translation of HMEIRINE TS EE B (57,989) 15,547
foreign operations MEHZRE
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income that Hiz B e EFH DR (70,340) 8,406
may be reclassified to profit or loss ZESNEMES
in subsequent periods (E18),/ W58
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that HEgBRTeETm oA
will not be reclassified to profit or loss ZERMAEMEE
in subsequent periods: (E18),/ W -
Equity investments at fair value through AR EBEREWET A 21
other comprehensive income: H At m/\ﬂﬁz SEVERIRE ¢
Changes in fair value NABEEZEE (502,223) 301,335
Income tax effect PRSI & 63,644 (63,644)
(438,579) 237,691
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income that HizHRTgEN»EE (438,579) 237,691
will not be reclassified to profit or loss BamEMERE
in subsequent periods (F518) W F5E
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)INCOME & EHib&a (51E),/ Wi - (508,919) 246,097
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX NBRBLIE
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR EEGAWNFEE 5,505,044 2,364,954
THE YEAR
Attributable to: H&E\fﬁ :
Owners of the parent NEEA A 3,724,840 1,858,537
Non-controlling interests 3ET % e 2 1,780,184 506,417
5,505,044 2,364,954
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B OB AR R

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hF
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
o3 AR®T T AR®ET T

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ BB R 14 58,201,882 55,296,009
Investment properties HEME 15 94,217 96,902
Right-of-use assets FAEEE 16(a) 7,527,852 7,241,013
Goodwill kS 17 65,914 65,914
Other intangible assets HEthEpEE 18 10,107,776 11,887,635
Prepayments, other receivables and FEMFUE - HiaEUER R 26 2,670,118 5,303,154

other assets MEMEE
Long-term receivables REFEUBREFR 28 1,804,913 1,240,340
Investments in joint ventures REERENEE 19 4,442,807 3,105,145
Investments in associates REE QTR E 20 1,022,781 955,030
Equity investments at fair value through AR EBEFETETA 21 1,420,080 1,922,304

other comprehensive income HiR A WSS E
Other non-current financial assets HEM3EnsemEE 284,896 46,608
Deferred tax assets RIETRIBE E 38 1,768,975 1,514,934
Total non-current assets ERBEEME 89,412,211 88,674,988
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories ra 23 31,396,358 25,571,564
Contract assets EREE 27 5,346,105 6,986,619
Trade receivables EUE ZEEFK 24 39,307,896 40,134,545
Trade receivable financing U GRTE R E 25 8,862,340 7,009,379
Prepayments, other receivables and FEMFOE - HiaEUER R 26 5,911,685 6,078,455

other assets MEMEE
Due from joint ventures and associates FEUE & AR R E R RIFRIA 45(c) 3,434,820 5,135,699
Completed property held for sale BIERER R TYE 22 2,900,852 3,365,916
Derivative financial instruments PTESBTA 32 24 34,345
Pledged deposits [z EiVEEN 29 429,041 837,921
Restricted bank deposits SR HIRITER 29 277,491 137,865
Cash and cash equivalents HekBeEEY 29 13,738,498 11,674,297
Total current assets A ERE 111,605,110 106,966,605
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and bills payables ENE SRR RERE 30 49,791,630 35,340,662
Other payables and accruals Fofth A B R EET B 31 15,536,057 10,648,738
Lease liabilities HEsE 16(c) 168,507 219,040
Derivative financial instruments TEEmMI A 32 57,541 34,307
Advances from customers TR R PR 7,500 2,000
Contract liabilities aREE 33 8,185,888 4,502,139
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFEIRITREMER 35 27,644,643 54,061,858
Due to joint ventures and associates JEfTE & AR R AR FIA 45(c) 2,398,177 1,025,545
Due to other related parties JRE 11 EL A B g 07 BB 45(c) 137,566 110,857
Tax payable FETBEIE 564,498 259,607
Provision B 36 1,938,689 1,824,194
Total current liabilities REBERE 106,430,696 108,028,947
NET CURRENT ASSETS(LIABILITIES) REBEE (BE) B8 5,174,414 (1,062,342)
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2020 2019
—E-%F —2-nF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Mzt AR®ET T ARETT

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEEZAERRBER 94,586,625 87,612,646
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FFRBERE

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings HBERITT R HAME R 35 23,625,954 21,916,487
Lease liabilities HEAE 16(c) 843,286 548,680
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIAEE 38 393,150 102,864
Deferred income PEIEUTA 34 2,269,176 2,232,101
Other liabilities HEMEE 37 3,001,147 211,094
Total non-current liabilities BB EERE 30,132,713 25,011,226
Net assets BEFE 64,453,912 62,601,420
EQUITY e

Equity attributable to owners of the parent BATHE AEGRER

Share capital f& A 39 2,728,143 2,728,143
Reserves e 41 53,051,539 49,639,554
Perpetual loans KERE 42 1,094,592 4,394,592

56,874,274 56,762,289

Non-controlling interests FEIE I HE 2 7,579,638 5,839,131
Total equity A RE 64,453,912 62,601,420
Wang Chuan-fu Lv Xiang-yang

IER & ks
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31 December 2020
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2020 2019
“BoBE —T-NEF
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Mzt AR®T R ARETT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETHEENRERE
Profit before tax BR 750 A 6,882,587 2,431,131
Adjustments for: HE
Finance costs BUE AR 8 3,123,801 3,487,407
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures AMEEE AT REE R ANEF 186,837 422,776
and associates KE#E
Bank interest income RITHIEHA 5 (214,613) (353,761)
Dividend income from equity investments at RENAREBEF 2L AL 5 (90,792) (22,743)
fair value through other comprehensive income FENENERRENREBA
Government grants and subsidies B4R B K B (394,438) (281,282)
Loss on disposal of items of non-current assets HEFRHEEBENERE 6 375,662 99,754
Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries HEHBRARMERE /(M) 6 9,076 (31,142)
Fair value losses/(gain), net: DABEEE,(WE) 38
Financial assets at fair value through IRnBEGFETEA 6 51,267 (9,749)
profit or loss BRNEREE
Impairment of Financial guarantee B ERAE 6 17,324 -
Gain on disposal of financial products HE S BIE MR 6 (131,786) (11,638)
Gain on disposal of investments in joint ventures HERA S REMEE I 5 (48) (67,692)
Covid-19-related rent concessions from lessors HEMAEENERARSESR (3,065)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment mE - BERSETE 14 9,272,924 8,146,823
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEAENE 6 328,265 368,985
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hiv B EEHH 18 2,914,802 1,321,825
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value WREEZ2RFE 6 499,218 152,696
Depreciation of investment properties RENFEHENE 15 2,685 2,496
Impairment of property, plant and equipment ME - BERRBHAE 6 5,885 -
Impairment of other intangible assets Hin P EEME 6 187,061 -
Impairment of other non-current financial assets HtbIEneemEERE - 6,304
Impairment losses on trade receivable [EMGIERVE R EE B FE 329 (1,907)
financing, net
Impairment of trade receivables, net EUE ZEEFREFE 648,770 504,814
Impairment of prepayments, deposits and BRFE - Bke Rk 191,933 285
other receivables, net Hib EUERTORE SR
Impairment of amounts due from joint ventures AN E R E AR 35,366 7,532
and associates, net FEREFR
Impairment of amounts due from JENCE A B R 7 0B = (2,690)
other related parties, net B
Impairment of long-term receivables, net REENERTRESE 49,907 (11,179)
Impairment of contract assets, net AREEREBEZHE 214,366 (19,824)
Equity-settled share option expense D ENERERS 40 74,297 -
Changes in reserve funds RELEY 4,086 -

24,241,706 16,139,221
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2020 2019
—E-%F —T-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARET T
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 7E (Em),/ wmo (6,701,761) 283,960
Decrease in restricted bank deposits and pledged deposits ~ ZRHISETERLE EHFFZRL 342,575 107,742
Decrease in trade receivables BB FEEFOR D 110,391 3,776,634
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivable financing JENGRIERE (38),/ WD (1,874,187) 727,855
Decrease in prepayments, other receivables and other assets JAFIE « AR Rt EER D 1,521,832 121,592
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets BRBERD /(% m) 1,426,148 (666,509)
Decrease in amounts due from joint ventures and associates ~ FEUA ‘&1 B R & A 7 FUER 1,665,513 2,680,945
Decrease in amounts due from other related parties R M L A R B 5 R IEDRL - 227,544
(Increase)/decrease in long-term receivables REEREER (), "D (614,479) 905,244
Decrease in completed property held for sale BIEHECRTIMERD 465,064 584,760
Increase/(decrease) in advances from customers BREFEZIEEN, (RD) 5,500 (300)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills payables ERESRIREEEM,/ (D) 16,997,459 (9,945,477)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals HitER B RETERLEM, (RD) 2,631,298 (260,670)
Increase/(decrease) in deferred income BT AL CRiD) 433,573 (339,729)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to joint ventures and ERNEEAFREE QA 1,151,578 (544,546)
associates M/ CRD)
Increase in contract liabilities AREEEM 3,683,961 1,033,025
Increase in amounts due to other related parties JE 1 EL 4t BB 5 0B E N 26,709 31,571
Increase/(decrease) in provision for warranties EREEENCRD) 114,495 (30,433)
Cash generated from operations REEENRE 45,627,375 14,832,429
Interest received RG] 214,613 353,761
Tax paid RENE (449,320) (445,183)
Net cash flows from operating activities ReRDEANRSRETE 45,392,668 14,741,007




Annual Report 2020
—RCREER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BORERER

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

2020 2019
bt 32 —E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREFT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHEENRSRE
Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment BAME  BERREER (5,964,464) (9,528,245)
Increase in non-current prepayments FER BT FIALE N (4,247,600) (7,395,986)
Purchases of items of leasehold land included in BEAACHAEEENHELMIEE (239,359) (797,080)
right-of-use assets
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAT 97,828 (5,552)
Disposal of joint ventures HEAEAT 48 358,685
Additions to other intangible assets Hin R EELm (1,322,671) (2,905,849)
Dividend received from equity investments at fair value B AREEFELETA 13,126 16,440
through other comprehensive income Htra BammEm R ER S
Dividend received from joint ventures and associates BlEERARBEARRE 22,690 34,020
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and HEME « BERREERE R 258,977 413,119
equipment and other intangibles assets HEEVEEMBHRE
Decrease in equity investments at fair value through WARBERELA 77,666 6,303
other comprehensive income B e lamn g nikdmd
Gain on disposal of financial products HESREMHRE 131,786 11,638
Capital contributions to associates ABENRHE (70,344) (154,700)
Capital contributions to joint ventures AAENRIHE (1,526,670) (918,439)
Increase in equity investments at fair value through AAanBEFETFABEN (239,800) (15,800)
profit or loss EREAEEM
Increase in financial assets RETREE (1,435,461) -
Net cash flows used in investing activities REBRDMARSRETHE (14,444,248) (20,881,446)
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2020 2019
g -3 —hE
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BETHELENRSRE

Proceeds from issue of perpetual loans BITKEEMBHA - 498,792
Proceeds from issue of corporate bonds BITRRIERERE 2,000,000 6,000,000
Corporate bond issue expenses NRBEHFETHAX (4,283) (23,217)
Proceeds from issue of super short-term debentures BTREERESMEIE - 14,000,000
Super short-term debenture issue expenses FREHRESREITRE - (7,509)
Repayment of super short-term debentures Téﬁﬁfiﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁ% (5,000,000) (14,500,000)
New other loans g EMER - 200,000
New bank loans FTILRITER 40,633,747 58,278,303
Repayment of borrowings BEEN (59,925,239) (51,098,918)

Repayment of perpetual loans EEKER (3,300,000)
Repayment of bonds BEES (2,198,416) (3,000,000)
Interest paid RESEUS (3,244,577) (3,440,331)
Perpetual loan interest paid BRKEER S (222,987) (241,388)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders RISERZ TS (54,776) (150,442)
Dividends paid to owners of the parent ERNEAREEARE (163,689) (556,541)
(Increase)/Decrease in restricted bank deposits and SRHRITERRCKFETR (80),/ (73,321) 817,510

pledged deposits o

Principal portion of lease payments IRBEFENALHH (153,877) (167,700)
Receipt of non-controlling investments FERIZEME 2,800,000 1,786
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities BEEY (FTH),/ EENREREFHE (28,907,418) 6,610,345
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ReRRSSEYIEMTE 2,041,002 469,906
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FOReRACEEY 11,674,297 11,151,057
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EXEHT LT 23,199 53,334
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR FRESRESEEN 13,738,498 11,674,297
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

BYD Company Limited (the “Company”) is a joint stock
limited liability company registered in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”). The Company’s H shares have been
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
since 31 July 2002. The registered office of the Company
is located at Yan An Road, Kuichong, Dapeng District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong, the PRC.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are the research,
development, manufacture and sale of rechargeable
batteries and photovoltaic products, automobiles and
related products, handset components and other electronic
products and rail transit equipment and medical protection
products.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

RAREEER

bR ER AT ([ARF]) A—RHLER
EARLME ([FRE]) T IR A
RAAE c RRARIMWHEBRBRHBE S _Ft
A=t HABREEEHARIMBMRAF L
e RARIMFEMFERCNPRERE R
T AR T [E SRIELE LR -

ARRREMBAR ([ AEE]) 2/
ERAEEHRRRER  AERBBE
o THEEBEREMETFERMERBR
NEMENHIE - FE - RERHEE -

FENBEARNER
ARBEEZMBERROFBELT

follows:
Percentage of
Place of equity attributable
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/  to the Company
registration and registered KRTELRL
business share capital EZEAL Principal
Name TEMRYL EER B®TEE,/ Direct Indirect activities
% B ERA Ef# B FEER
BYD Lithium Batteries Co., Ltd. PRC/ RMB6,160,000,000 100% - Research, development, sale and
("BYD Li-ion")** Mainland China  A&X%6,160,000,0007C manufacture of li-ion batteries
RN DB E S A R HE R A HEREESRTED
([ EiEEm]) /B R
Shanghai BYD Co., Ltd. PRC/ US$63,500,000 75% 25%  Research, development, sale and
(“BYD SH")*** Mainland China 63,500,000% T manufacture of li-ion batteries,
LERTHERAA F solar batteries and solar arrays
(TtpEmEg])~ /BN R FE HERREERTEN
ARG R E M R AT e 5
BYD Auto Co., Ltd. PRC/ RMB1,351,010,101 99% - Research, development, sale and
("BYD Auto”)*** Mainland China  A&K%1,351,010,1017C manufacture of automobiles
LR EERAF HE MR RE HERBERS
([tpmAaE])~ /BN
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. 2RAFKREEER (&)
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) BEMBLATNER (&)

Place of
incorporation/

Issued ordinary/

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company

registration and registered AN EELR
business share capital BRAML Principal
Name HEMRY, BRR O%{TLE, Direct Indirect activities
£ EBE R A H# B TEEY
BYD Precision Manufacture Co., PRC/ US$145,000,000 - 65.76% Manufacture, assembly and sale of
Ltd. ("BYD Precision”)****A Mainland China 145,000,000% T mobile handset components and
pomEREEERAR ((HEE 8/ modules
FBEBBHE]) A HREIAH i AR REEF R RER
Huizhou BYD Battery Co., Ltd. PRC/ US$150,000,000 10% 90%  Research, development, sale and
(“BYD HZ Battery”)*** Mainland China 150,000,000% T manufacture of li-ion batteries and
HendEN B AR AR mE accessories
(THeTpmEMEM ) REIAH % BE HERREERETELR
it
BYD Auto Industry Co., Ltd. PRC/ US$1,207,654,387 90% 10%  Research, development, sale and
(“BYD Auto Industry”)*** Mainland China 1,207,654,387% T manufacture of automobiles and
HEmABTEERAR mE light rail transit equipment
([thpdaEIE]) A % E - BERMEAEREHE
R
BYD Electronic (International) Co.,  Hong Kong HK$440,000,000 - 65.76% Investment holding
Ltd. (‘BYD Int1")* E 440,000,000/ T BREER
H s E T () BRAF
(eI ]) *
Huizhou BYD Electronic Co., Ltd. ~ PRC/ US$110,000,000 - 65.76%  High-level assembly
(“Huizhou Electronic”)***" Mainland China 110,000,000 7T EKTAER
BN THETERAR A/
(TBMEF]) A FEIRH
Xi'an BYD Electronic Co., Ltd. PRC/ RMB100,000,000 - 65.76% Manufacture and sale of mobile
(“Xi'an Electronic”)****" Mainland China  AX#%100,000,0007C handset components
AR THETHERAF HE BERHETFHTEHHE
([AREF]) ™A FE A
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Information about subsidiaries (continued)

INFORMATION 1.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

RAREEER (F)

FRNBARNESR (F)

Percentage of

Place of equity attributable
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/  to the Company
registration and registered AN EER
business share capital BRAML Principal
Name TR BRER BRTLE,  Direct Indirect activities
£ B R A H# B TEEY
BYD Auto Sales Co., Ltd. PRC/ RMB1,050,000,000  4.29% 94.76%  Sale and distribution of automobiles;
("BYD Auto Sales”)** Mainland China A K#1,050,000,0007T provision of related after-sales
LA BHERRAT HE/ services
([t EEE ) HREIAH WERDEAE | REEBEERS
Changsha BYD Auto Co., Ltd. PRC/ RMB1,000,000,000 - 99.88%  Research and development of
(“Changsha Auto”)** Mainland China A R#1,000,000,0007T automobiles and components
ROMLTHAEERA RE RERREERDHE
(TRARE])™ HEIAM
BYD (Shangluo) Industrial Co., PRC/ RMB2,600,000,000 38.50% 60.92%  Research, development,
Ltd. (“Shangluo BYD")*** Mainland China A R#2,600,000,0007T manufacture and sale of solar
BELTHEEERAF R/ batteries and solar arrays
([E& L ]) = FEIRH R & BEREELGEEDR
ARG aeRE|
* BYD Intl is a subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong * Lt Zn i BIRR A — R B A SE A Sz B9 BfY
with its shares listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong BAA - ERODREBBERSMER
Kong Limited. AR ET e
o These subsidiaries are registered as limited liability ** ZEMBARHEREBETRBEZIM AR
companies under PRC law. RRA] -
i These subsidiaries are registered as Sino-foreign joint o ZEM B A RRE R BUEEE M AP
ventures under PRC law. AERNA o
>  These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign- o EZ%M ﬂﬁﬁﬁqﬂ Bl A=A M AINE
owned enterprises under PRC law. BED
A These subsidiaries were wholly owned by BYD Int'l, one A ZEMBARHE B L TEBERE (KA F

of the Company’s subsidiaries.

EARz—)2EHE -



104

BYD Company Limited
LeEsRBBRAE

Notes to Financial Statements

B TS ¥R R B

31 December 2020

T

2.1

S

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for certain equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, other non-current financial assets, trade receivable
financing and derivative financial instruments, which have
been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give
the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.2

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 and the following revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform

Amendments to HKAS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions (early adopted)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material
and HKAS 8

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2018 and the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(a) Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) sets out
a comprehensive set of concepts for financial
reporting and standard setting, and provides
guidance for preparers of financial statements in
developing consistent accounting policies and
assistance to all parties to understand and interpret
the standards. The Conceptual Framework includes
new chapters on measurement and reporting
financial performance, new guidance on the
derecognition of assets and liabilities, and updated
definitions and recognition criteria for assets and
liabilities. It also clarifies the roles of stewardship,
prudence and measurement uncertainty in financial
reporting. The Conceptual Framework is not a
standard, and none of the concepts contained
therein override the concepts or requirements in any
standard. The Conceptual Framework did not have
any significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide
additional guidance on the definition of a business.
The amendments clarify that for an integrated
set of activities and assets to be considered
a business, it must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create
output. A business can exist without including
all of the inputs and processes needed to create
outputs. The amendments remove the assessment
of whether market participants are capable of
acquiring the business and continue to produce
outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs. The amendments have also narrowed the
definition of outputs to focus on goods or services
provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the
amendments provide guidance to assess whether
an acquired process is substantive and introduce
an optional fair value concentration test to permit
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. The
Group has applied the amendments prospectively to
transactions or other events that occurred on or after
1 January 2020. The amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position and performance of
the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
address issues affecting financial reporting in the
period before the replacement of an existing interest
rate benchmark with an alternative risk-free rate
("RFR”). The amendments provide temporary reliefs
which enable hedge accounting to continue during
the period of uncertainty before the introduction of
the alternative RFR. In addition, the amendments
require companies to provide additional information
to investors about their hedging relationships
which are directly affected by these uncertainties.
The amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group as
the Group does not have any interest rate hedging
relationships.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(d) Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical
expedient for lessees to elect not to apply lease
modification accounting for rent concessions
arising as a direct consequence of the covid-19
pandemic. The practical expedient applies only to
rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence
of the pandemic and only if (i) the change in lease
payments results in revised consideration for the
lease that is substantially the same as, or less
than, the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change; (ii) any reduction in lease
payments affects only payments originally due
on or before 30 June 2021; and (iii) there is no
substantive change to other terms and conditions
of the lease. The amendment is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020 with
earlier application permitted and shall be applied
retrospectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, certain
monthly lease payments for the leases of the
Group’s plant and machinery have been reduced
or waived by the lessors upon reducing the scale
of production as a result of the pandemic and there
are no other changes to the terms of the leases.
The Group has early adopted the amendment on
1 January 2020 and elected not to apply lease
modification accounting for all rent concessions
granted by the lessors as a result of the pandemic
during the year ended 31 December 2020.
Accordingly, a reduction in the lease payments
arising from the rent concessions of RMB3,065,000
has been accounted for as a variable lease payment
by derecognising part of the lease liabilities and
crediting to profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2020.

(e) Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a
new definition of material. The new definition states
that information is material if omitting, misstating
or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. The amendments
clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or
magnitude of information, or both. The amendments
did not have any significant impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

2.2

B BERRIRENEE (&)

(d)

(EAMBmEER)E 165 HEE]
BERAARE—EATEREEHENE
ERFEmXREENEEFEELEN
HeRe T ERHEEBRERE -
EREE A EEANEBENEEY
ZEAHHESRR  BEEOHEER
REBBIFHREMNEE L ELRE
BIEARTE SR ¢ (i)FAENFURZE
EYERIAN_T-_—F,A=FH
s AIBIEAMFIE - R(IDAEMHE
MR A I EE R ERE - 5 A
W BTN ETF A —H
AR FE M AER WA
RRIEARSEBMER -

BE-_Z-_EE+-_A=+—HIF
B AEBEREBEOFESHEER
BT A AR SRR E K& ER
ETAMENK MBS ERE
BE)  c AEBMEOR T _THF—FA
—HIRRRMZIEET - WEETE
EECTFEF_A=F—HILFE
HHEARZBEMELNABEHESEE
FERMEBREEE - Bt - 48
BEHESREROHHEENRBARE
3,065,000 T * #Eid#R |FHERE
EgBUEAMEHMEN TG AEE
—EEF+A=T—RHLEFERE

(BREFER) B1RR(EB G
) F8HRMERT R EERNRIE
E-MEREL  WAUAEEHRE
B - SRR SR ER BT E R
MHBRERNEBZRAFAZETHBRE
REMEHORE  ZENNBE
R REBFBEBFEANMERKIUANE
e ESEEEME - ZFEFAL
BHASENMBRARERRELE
AERTE -



2.3

Annual Report 2020
—RCREER

Notes to Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective and are
applicable to the Group, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework ?
Amendments to HKFRS Interest Rate Benchmark
9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Reform — Phase 27

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 (2011) between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture *

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current % *

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended
Use?

Annual Improvements to  Amendments to HKFRS
HKFRSs 2018-2020 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative
Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 412

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption

5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1,

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised in October 2020 to align the corresponding
wording with no change in conclusion
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a
reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
issued in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an
exception to its recognition principle for an entity to refer to
the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes
an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for
liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within
the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were
incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to
HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the
Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition
at the acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 January 2022. Since the
amendments apply prospectively to business combinations
for which the acquisition date is on or after the date of
first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS
4 and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the
previous amendments which affect financial reporting
when an existing interest rate benchmark is replaced with
an alternative RFR. The Phase 2 amendments provide a
practical expedient to allow the effective interest rate to
be updated without adjusting the carrying amount when
accounting for changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities,
if the change is a direct consequence of the interest rate
benchmark reform and the new basis for determining
the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to
the previous basis immediately preceding the change.
In addition, the amendments permit changes required
by the interest rate benchmark reform to be made to
hedge designations and hedge documentation without
the hedging relationship being discontinued. Any gains
or losses that could arise on transition are dealt with
through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure
and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments
also provide a temporary relief to entities from having
to meet the separately identifiable requirement when an
RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief allows
an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume that
the separately identifiable requirement is met, provided
the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component
to become separately identifiable within the next 24
months. Furthermore, the amendments require an entity
to disclose additional information to enable users of
financial statements to understand the effect of interest
rate benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments
and risk management strategy. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021 and shall be applied retrospectively, but entities are
not required to restate the comparative information. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and foreign currencies
based on the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate and
the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) as at 31
December 2020. If the interest rates of these borrowings
are replaced by RFRs in a future period, the Group will
apply this practical expedient upon the modification of
these borrowings when the “economically equivalent”
criterion is met and expects that no significant modification
gain or loss will arise as a result of applying the
amendments to these changes. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of
a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments specify that if an entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting
period if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of
the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that
are considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items,
in profit or loss. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be
applied retrospectively only to items of property, plant and
equipment made available for use on or after the beginning
of the earliest period presented in the financial statements
in which the entity first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples

accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41.

amendments that are expected to be applicable to the

Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether the
terms of a new or modified financial liability are
substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those
paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’'s behalf. An entity
applies the amendment to financial liabilities that
are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning
of the annual reporting period in which the entity
first applies the amendment. The amendment is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant

impact on the Group’s financial statements.

o HKFRS 16 Leases:

payments from the lessor relating to leasehold
improvements in Illustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease

incentives when applying HKFRS 16.

24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those

policies.

Details of the
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity
method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates and joint
ventures is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive
income, respectively.
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate
or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associates
or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint
ventures.

In addition, when there has been a

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate
or joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint
control and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the
sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised

in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value
of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit retained.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its listed equity investments and
derivative financial instruments at fair value at the end of
each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or
by selling it to another market participant that would use
the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured

or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised

within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based

on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, investment properties and completed property held
for sale), the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’'s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises in those expense categories

consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it

arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person,

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the

Group;

or
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(if)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended use.
Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

Except for moulds, depreciation is calculated on the
straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of
property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives and
residual value are as follows:
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

The unit of production method is used to write off the cost
of moulds.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part
is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives
and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress representing property and plant
under construction is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation,
rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the
ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured
at cost, including transaction costs, less any depreciation
and any losses.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of investment properties to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose as follows:
Buildings 1.4% to 9.5%
Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an

investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or
loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale,
its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs (continued)

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses. The development costs are amortised
using the straight-line basis over the commercial lives of
the underlying products not exceeding ten years, except
for those of new energy vehicles which are amortised using
the unit-of-production method, commencing from the date
when the products are put into commercial production.

Industrial proprietary rights

Industrial proprietary rights are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of two to ten years.

Know-how

Know-how is stated at cost less any impairment losses and
is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of five years.

Software

Software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and
is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of five years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group
(a)

as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Buildings
Machinery and other equipment

44 to 99 years
1to 20 years
11to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation
is calculated using the estimated useful life of the
asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases
of office equipment and laptop computers that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an asset are classified as operating leases. When a
contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement
of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue
in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, are accounted for as finance leases.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For trade receivable financing, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as for financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value
changes are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to
the statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income when
they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably, except when the
Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part
of the cost of the financial asset,
gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income are not subject to impairment assessment.

in which case, such

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if the
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms
as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of
a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at
fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives
are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Reassessment
only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the
contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that
would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a
financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash

flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement,
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash
flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral
held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment,
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

the Group compares the risk of a default

For trade receivable financing,
low credit risk simplification. At each reporting date, the
Group evaluates whether the trade receivable financing is
considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost
or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group reassesses

the Group applies the

the external credit ratings of the trade receivable financing.
In addition,
a significant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are past due.

the Group considers that there has been
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Notes to Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Trade receivable financing and financial assets at
amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

— Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 1

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not purchased
or originated credit-impaired) and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 -
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component and lease receivables,
the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payable, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, and interest-bearing bank, and other borrowings
and derivative financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the
near term. This category also includes derivative financial
instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships
as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives
are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or
losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial
date of recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are
satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss, except for the gains or losses arising from
the Group’s own credit risk which are presented in other
comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification
to the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or
loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial,
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

in which case
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings) (continued)

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability at its
fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance
determined in accordance with the policy as set out in
“Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount
of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
foreign currency forward contracts, to hedge its foreign
currency risk. Those derivative financial instruments are
initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets
when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the
fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and
later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item
affects profit or loss.

Current versus non-current classification

Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective
hedging instruments are classified as current or non-
current or separated into current and non-current portions
based on an assessment of the facts and circumstances
(i.e., the underlying contracted cash flows).

. Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as
an economic hedge (and does not apply hedge
accounting) for a period beyond 12 months after
the end of the reporting period, the derivative is
classified as non-current (or separated into current
and non-current portions) consistently with the
classification of the underlying item.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by
an apportionment of the total land and buildings costs
attributable to unsold properties. Net realisable value is
estimated by the directors based on the prevailing market

prices, on an individual property basis.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis and, in the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Cost of
moulds is determined at the actual cost incurred in the
production process. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be

incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the

Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits and assets
similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Short-term deposits

Term deposits with an initial term of over three months but
less than one year were classified as short-term deposits

on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the statement of
profit or loss.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the sale of
certain goods and the provision of construction services
for general repairs of defects occurring during the warranty
period. Provisions for these assurance-type warranties
granted by the Group are recognised based on sales
volume and past experience of the level of repairs and
returns, discounted to their present values as appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associate, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
the statement of profit or loss over the expected useful
life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments
or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a

reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with
no or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction
of a qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the
government loans is determined using the effective interest
rate method, as further explained in the accounting
policy for
government loans granted with no or at a below-market
rate of interest, which is the difference between the initial
carrying value of the loans and the proceeds received,
is treated as a government grant and released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of
the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

“Financial liabilities” above. The benefit of the

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

A significant financing component does not exist if the
difference between the promised consideration and the
cash selling price of the good or service arises for reasons
other than the provision of finance.

The Group sells products to a customer who is also the
supplier of key materials used in the manufacturing of
products. The Group obtains the control of the materials
purchased from the customer and provides significant
services to integrate materials with other goods and
services into a portfolio of outputs. The Group considered
itself as a principal in the arrangement and accordingly
recognizes revenue on a gross basis. Otherwise, the Group
is an agent and records as revenue the net amount that
it retains for its agency services if its role is to arrange to
provide the goods.

(a) Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery
and acceptance of the goods.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(a)

Sale of goods (continued)

Some contracts for the sale of goods provide
customers with rebates. The rebates give rise to
variable consideration.

(i) Rebates

Retrospective rebates may be provided to
certain customers according to the Group’s
business policy. Rebates are offset against
amounts payable by the customer. The Group
is required to use either the expected value
method or the most likely amount method
based on which method better predicts the
amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled.

Construction services

The construction contract entered into between
the Group and its customers usually includes
performance obligations such as construction
services. As the irreplaceable use of the services
provided by the Group, and the Group has the right
to receive payment for the performance part that
has been completed so far in the whole contract
period, the Group considers them as performance
obligations within a certain period of time, and
recognises the revenue based on the performance
progress, except where the performance progress
cannot be reasonably determined. The Group
determines the performance progress for the
services provided in accordance with the output
method. When the performance progress cannot
be reasonably determined, if the costs incurred by
the Group are expected to be compensated, the
revenue will be recognised based on the amount of
costs incurred, until the performance progress can
be reasonably determined.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(c) Provision for services

Revenue from the provision of services is
recognised over the scheduled period on an input
method because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the
earned consideration that is conditional. Contract assets
are subject to impairment assessment, details of which
are included in the accounting policies for impairment of
financial assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers
control of the related goods or services to the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised
as an asset if all the following criteria are met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the
entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing
to satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged
to the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that
is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods
or services to which the asset relates. Other contract costs
are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments

Share-based payments can be distinguished into equity-
settled share-based payments and cash-settled share-
based payments. Equity-settled share-based payments
are transactions of the Group settled through the payment
of shares or other equity instruments in consideration for
receiving services.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payments made in exchange
for services rendered by employees are measured at the
fair value of equity instruments granted to employees.
Instruments which are vested immediately upon the grant
are charged to relevant costs or expenses at the fair value
on the date of grant and the capital reserve is credited
accordingly. Instruments of which vesting is conditional
upon completion of services or fulfillment of performance
conditions are measured by recognising services rendered
during the period in relevant costs or expenses and
crediting the capital reserve accordingly at the fair value
on the date of grant according to the best estimates
conducted by the Group at each balance sheet date during
the pending period. The fair value of equity instruments is
determined using the binomial option pricing model. For
details see Note 40. Share-based payment.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately
vest due to non-fulfillment of non-market conditions and/or
vesting conditions. For the market or non-vesting condition
under the share-based payments agreement, it should
be treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the
market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that
other performance condition and/or vesting conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled share-based
payment are modified, as a minimum, services obtained
are recognised as if the terms had not been modified. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification
which increases the total fair value of the instrument ranted,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. Where employees or other parties are
permitted to choose to fulfill non-vesting conditions but
have not fulfilled during the pending period, equity-settled
share-based payments are deemed cancelled. However,
if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and
designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award.

Employee benefits
Employees’ leave entitlements

Employees’ entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.

Employees’ entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Medical benefits

The Group’s contributions to various defined contribution
medical benefit plans organised by the relevant municipal
and provincial governments in the PRC are expensed as
incurred.

Pension scheme — Mainland China

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries, which operate
in Mainland China, are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Pension scheme — outside Mainland China

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various
defined contribution plans organised by the relevant
governmental authorities in various areas other than
Mainland China. The Group’s liability in respect of these
plans is limited to the contributions payable at the end of
each period. Contributions to these plans are expensed as
incurred.

Housing fund — Mainland China

The Group contributes on a monthly basis to a defined
contribution housing fund plan operated by the local
municipal government. Contributions to this plan by the
Group are expensed as incurred.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for
the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation
rate ranging between 4.54% and 5.74% has been applied
to the expenditure on the individual assets.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company’s functional and presentation currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period and their statements
of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Business model

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. The Group’s business model for managing
financial assets refers to how it manages its financial
assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

Principal versus agent considerations

The Group sells products to a customer who is also the
supplier of key materials used in the manufacturing of
products. The Group needs to determine whether it is a
principal or an agent in these transactions by evaluating
the nature of its promise to the customer. The Group is
a principal and therefore records revenue on a gross
basis if it controls promised goods before transferring the
goods to the customer. Otherwise, the Group is an agent
and records as revenue the net amount that it retains for
its agency services if its role is to arrange to provide the
goods. To assess whether the Group controls the goods
before they are transferred to the customer, the Group
has considered various factors, including but not limited
to whether the Group is (i) the primary obligor in the
arrangement, (ii) has general inventory risk, (iii) has latitude
in establishing the selling price and (iv) has significant
involvement in the determination of product and service
specifications.

Deferred tax on withholding tax arising from the
distributions of dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue
for withholding taxes arising from the distributions of
dividends from certain subsidiaries levied in the relevant
tax jurisdiction is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of the dividends. Further details are included in
note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Estimation of constraint on variable consideration

When estimating the effect of an uncertainty on an amount
of variable consideration to which the entity will be entitled,
the entity is required to consider all information (historical,
current and forecast) that is reasonably available to the
entity and to estimate variable amount of consideration in
a range of possible consideration amounts. An expected
value may be an appropriate estimate of the amount of
variable considerations if an entity has a large number
of contracts with similar characteristics. The most likely
amount may be an appropriate estimate of the amount of
variable consideration if contract has only two possible
amounts. When an entity determines that it cannot meet
the highly probable threshold if it includes all of the
variable consideration in the transaction price, the amount
of variable consideration that must be included in the
transaction price is limited to the amount that would not
result in a significant revenue reversal. That is, an entity
is required to include in the transaction price the portion
of variable consideration that will not result in a significant
revenue reversal when the uncertainty associated with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. A
minimum amount of variable consideration should be
included in the transaction price when doing so would
not result in a significant reversal of cumulative revenue
recognised. At the end of each reporting period, the entity
would be required to revaluate variable consideration,
including constraints on variable consideration to reflect
any changes during the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of
goodwill at 31 December 2020 was RMB65,914,000 (2019:
RMB65,914,000). Further details are given in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and contract assets

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on the
invoice date for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns by product type.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead
to an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s
trade receivables and contract assets is disclosed in notes
24 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for
example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable
inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates (such as
the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than gooadwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment
annually and at other times when such an indicator exists.
Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Depreciation and amortisation

The Group calculates the depreciation of items of property,
plant and equipment and amortisation of intangible assets
on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
or on the unit-of-production basis and after taking into
account their estimated residual value, estimated useful
lives or estimated total production quantities, commencing
from the date the items of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets are placed into use. The estimated
useful lives or the total production quantities reflect the
directors’ estimate of the period that the Group intends to
derive future economic benefits from the use of the Group’s
items of property, plant and equipment or intangible
assets.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level
of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets
relating to recognised tax losses at 31 December 2020 was
RMB201,320,000 (2019: RMB304,996,000). The amount
of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2020 was
RMB3,862,193,000 (2019: RMB4,006,626,000). Further
details are disclosed in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Development costs

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with
the accounting policy for research and development
costs in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.
Determining the amounts to be capitalised requires
management to make assumptions regarding the expected
future cash generation of the assets, discount rates to
be applied and the expected period of benefits. At 31
December 2020, the best estimate of the carrying amount
of capitalised development costs was RMB9,688,588,000
(2019: RMB11,545,664,000). Further details are disclosed
in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Warranty provisions

Provisions for product warranties granted by the Group are
recognised based on sales volume and past experience of
the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their present
values as appropriate. Management reviews and adjusts
the provision to recognise the best estimate at the end of
each of the reporting periods. Further details are disclosed
in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

Write-down of inventories based on the lower of cost and
net realisable value

The Group, pursuant to the accounting policy for
inventories, writes down inventories from cost to net
realisable value and makes reserves for slow-moving items
and obsolescence by using the lower of cost and net
realisable value rule. The Group re-estimates the allowance
to reduce the valuation of inventories to net realisable value
item by item at the end of each reporting period.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has three reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the rechargeable batteries and photovoltaic
products segment comprises the manufacture and
sale of lithium-ion batteries and nickel batteries,
photovoltaic products and iron batteries products
(including energy storage stations and iron battery
packs), principally for mobile phones, electric
tools and other portable electronic instruments,
photovoltaic products, energy storage products and
electric vehicles;

(b) the Mobile handset components, assembly
service and other products segment comprises
the manufacture and sale of mobile handset
components such as housings, electronic
components, the provision of assembly services and
medical protection products; and

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

ETREF ARG (&)

fhEt TRERE (F)
R

AEBEENERRABBEDRIEHERE
EMERENRFTHARELRER  LWEE
FREARE - EEERESRERRRT K
ABBREAERREG - E—PHBRE
HHEATEIRR M 536 F K EE o

RIEH AR o] BH FERE .2 BAEE M5

P

FE

REFESHBEE  A&EEERATEEFE
MEEERFE - WA BRARERFER
ERREESBHERBERERFHEE - K
SEEHAEEE - LR RERREIER
FHEEEBBREZHRFEEE -

e D IER

REEME  ARBEREERMRBRIE
TEERFT - AT AR 2|MEE DL

(a) RFABEMRHAERD FBBRIER
Lﬁ‘ﬂiﬁ’*ﬁ%ﬁ%&ﬁfﬁ C RREmM
REEhER (BEFESHEREE
taE) FEEBRFH  EFHTHE
REMEERNEFIA  RAFMEE
EmUAREHREE

(b)  FHEMH  ARMEMBERDEHERE
%m%ﬂﬁé%ﬁl\iﬁﬁii‘%&@%é‘tuu%
AR EERERRE  TRYEE
R

159



160

BYD Company Limited
LeEsRBBRAE

Notes to Financial Statements

B TS ¥R R B

31 December 2020

T

S

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

(c) the automobiles and related products and other
products segment comprises the manufacture and
sale of automobiles and auto-related moulds and
components and automobile leasing and after sales
services, rail transport related business and medical
protection products.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted profit before
tax. The adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit before tax except that non-lease-
related finance costs, interest income, exchange gains and
losses, government grants and subsidies, as well as head
office and corporate expenses and gains are excluded
from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, goodwill,
equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, other non-current financial assets,
derivative financial instruments, investment properties and
other unallocated head office and corporate assets, as
these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities, tax
payable, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, derivative
financial instruments, interest payable, dividend payable
and other unallocated head office and corporate liabilities
as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Transfer pricing in operating segments is determined with
reference to the agreed price among operating segments.
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(continued)
Mobile handset  Automobiles
Rechargeable  components, and related
batteries and assembly products,
photovoltaic  service and and other Corporate
products other products products and others Total
HE-3C%% TREEEN FHIDHA AF RE ERE o
Year ended 31 December 2020 TZA=+-ALEE RARER REftER ERRHtER REf &if
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Segment revenue (note 3) PR (His5)
Sales to external customers ANFEPEE 11,704,632 59,354,468 81,957,889 452,195 153,469,184
Intersegment sales ZHBRMEE 10,384,321 14,844,929 2,186,889 - 27,416,139
Others including other income from sales of £ (BEREHERH  HES 362,217 356,288 254,445 1,142 974,092
scrap materials, lease and others MEMKA)
Taxes and surcharges HeRMmE 20,679 332,211 1,780,991 20,534 2,154,415
22,471,849 74,887,896 86,180,214 473,871 184,013,830
Reconciliation: BE
Elimination of intersegment sales ERHRMHEENH (27,416,139)
Elimination of other gross income L ETON 6 (974,092)
Elimination of taxes and surcharges Be kMBI (2,154,415)
Revenue - sales to external customers WA -mNAEPHE 153,469,184
Segment results AB%E 809,900 6,260,670 2,906,979 1,410 9,978,959
Recongiliation: HE
Elimination of intersegment results FPHENFEMH (910,416)
Interest income M EMA 214,613
Dividend income and unallocated gains REMARR A B 2,190,437
Corporate and other unallocated expenses % REHFAERHT (1,523,627)
Finance costs (other than interest on lease ~ BEMA(TaEEEAE (3,067,379)
liabilties) g)
Profit before tax BRARH 6,882,587
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION 4.

REsIER (&)

(continued)
Mobile handset ~ Automobiles
Rechargeable  components, and related
batteries and assembly products,
photovoltaic service and and other Corporate
products other products products and others Total
BE-3CE% TREAEEM FHBE A% RE REEE i
Year ended 31 December 2020 T-A=1+-ALEE RARER REMER ERRHHER REf: &it
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBT R ARBTTR ARETTR ARBT R ARBT R
Segment assets SHEE 37,472,382 37,340,874 121,710,398 - 196,523,654
Reconciliation: BE -
Elimination of intersegment receivables 9 RN (3,711,632)
Elimination of unrealised profit from EPHEEEAEREN M S (2,026,657)
intersegment sales
Corporate and other unallocated assets PEREMRIREE 10,231,956
Total assets BEfE 201,017,321
Segment liabilities AHEE 17,754,593 20,628,730 43,086,393 - 81,469,716
Reconciliation: i
Elimination of intersegment payables Z0 BEEATEME (3,711,632)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities ﬁ%& LR EE 58,805,325
Total liabilities Eleect 136,563,409
Other segment information: At HER
Share of (profits)/losses of: HMECGEF) /BB
Joint ventures AENTH (2,211) 201,166 198,955
Associates =N 27,943 (40,061) (12,118)
Impairment losses recognised in the BREAPEINHESETE 221,690 3,440 467,034 692,164
statement of profit or loss, net
Impairment losses/(losses reversed) on SRRAREENRERR,/ 201,005 (10,679) 975,942 1,166,268
financial and contract assets (BiEEmE)
Depreciation and amortisation REREH 3,053,540 2,137,464 7,327,671 - 12,518,675
Investments in joint ventures REENENEE 306,611 - 4,136,196 - 4,442,807
Investments in associates REEDRANEE 410,473 - 612,308 - 1,022,781
Capital expenditure® BRRY 4,736,572 3,436,447 4,392,564 - 12,565,583
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INFORMATION 4. R ER (F)

(continued)
Mobile handset
Rechargeable  components, Automobiles
batteries and assembly and related
photovoltaic service and  products, and Corporate
products  other products  other products and others Total
BE-Z-1F ZREREN  FEHM AR A8 AEEE BER
Year ended 31 December 2019 T-B=t+-ALEE RERER RERER EnREtER £t A
RMB'’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT AE¥TFR AT ARBTT
Segment revenue (note 3) PRBA (His5)
Sales to external customers MIMREPHE 9,718,500 52,522,290 59,537,327 - 121,778,117
Intersegment sales EPBRNEHE 12,012,976 1,697,354 1728,042 - 15,438,372
Others including other gross income from ~ Eft (AAREHENE - Bif 757,742 663,898 2,387,372 570,798 4,399,810
sales of properties and raw materials HROEERRLHERA)
and disposal of scrap materials
Taxes and surcharges e RMmE 29415 173,818 1,341,002 16,361 1,560,596
22,518,633 55,077,360 64,993,743 587,159 143,176,895
Recongiliation: HE
Elimination of intersegment sales XONEREERE (15,438,372)
Elimination of other gross income L ETION i (4,399,810)
Elimination of taxes and surcharges e R mEHH (1,560,596)
Revenue - sales to external customers WA -RSNREPHE 121778 117
Segment results AHEE 398,567 1765,378 2,784,635 1,759 4,950,339
Recongiliation: HE
Elimination of intersegment results ERPRMEEMS (573,653)
Interest income FEHA 353,761
Dividend income and unallocated gains REMARK A Bz 2,203,424
Corporate and other unallocated expenses ¥ REBKP RS (1,068,260)
Finance costs (other than interest on lease  BEMA(TEEREERE (3,454,480)
liabiliies) Mg
Profit before tax B ATER 2,431,131
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REsIER (&)

(continued)
Mobile handset
Rechargeable  components, Automobiles
batteries and assembly and related
photovoltaic serviceand  products, and Corporate
products  other products  other products and others Total
BE-E-N% CREEEN FEIK B8R A8 ERE ER
Year ended 31 December 2019 TZR=t-ALEE RARER REMER EnkEtER £t fit
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT
Segment assets AHEE 38,231,539 30341049 123579755 - 192,152,343
Reconciliation: ol 2
Elimination of intersegment receivables P RN (7,088,335)
Elimination of unrealised profit from EPHEBEEREREN M S (924,150)
intersegment sales
Corporate and other unallocated assets PEREMADEEE 11,501,735
Total assets EELE 195,641,593
Segment liabilities bkt 15,784,339 18711057 32,157,078 - 61652474
Reconciliation: i
Elimination of intersegment payables ROBERNTENE (7,088,335)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities ﬁ%& HANEER 78,476,034
Total liabilties BfREE 133,040,173
Other segment information: At HER
Share of (profits)/losses of: HMECGEF) /BB
Joint ventures AENT (7.941) - 443252 - 435 311
Associates BENE] 14,820 - (27,355) - (12,535)
Impairment losses recognised in the ERZPERNHESRTE 103,986 55,014 - - 159,000
statement of profit or loss, net
Impairment losses/(losses reversed) on SBRAREENFERE,/ 475,498 28,677 (27,144) - 477,031
financial and contract assets (BiEEmE)
Depreciation and amortisation NEREH 2,328 187 2,375,951 5,135,991 - 9,840,129
Investments in joint ventures RAEARINRE 300,055 - 2,805,090 - 3,105,145
Investments in associates REEARNRE 438,416 - 516,614 - 955,030
Capital expenditure* ERER 6,682,281 3,943,451 8,829,421 - 19,455,153
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, * BABYBESAEWE  HMERSRE -
plant and equipment, investment properties, right-of- KREME  FREEE  HthEREE
use assets, other intangible assets and prepayment for K - BB REHEE B TERRIE -

items of property, plant and equipment.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. gRETHER (F)
(continued)

Geographical information wEER
(a)  Revenue from external customers (a)  KEINREFBKA
2020 2019
—BECEHF —E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%T R ARBEFTT
PRC (including Hong Kong, Macau FE(BIEEE  ORFMR 94,345,873 102,266,890
and Taiwan) a88)
Overseas =] 59,123,311 19,511,227
153,469,184 121,778,117
The revenue information above is based on the FMg AN E R TR IR R P AT
locations of customers. B o
(b)  Non-current assets (b) FERBEE
2020 2019
ko’ 523 —E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%¥T R ARBEFTT
PRC (including Hong Kong, Macau and FE(BEEE BN R 82,344,444 82,656,260
Taiwan) a88)
Overseas sl 1,722,989 1,228,628
84,067,433 83,884,888
The non-current asset information above is based on FIERBEEER IRBEEME
the locations of the assets and excludes goodwill, HEER - MERETREE  @RIAR

financial instruments and deferred tax assets. FIEFIBEE °
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.
(continued)

Information about a major customer

Revenue of approximately RMB19,412,775,000 (2019:
RMB27,431,632,000) was derived from sales made by
the mobile handset components and assembly service
segment and the rechargeable batteries and photovoltaic
products segment to a single customer and a group
of entities which are under common control with that
customer.

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

REsIER (&)

FREFHNEN

WA ANR®E19,412,775,000L (ZZE— A,
& ARM27,431,632,0007T) @ KB F#
HHEFMAERE DB RZIXFTEE MR AR
EmOHE—BFURERZE P LR
BITHSEEEEHEE -

WA - B A K W 5s

WA AT :
2020 2019

—B-%F -—T-AF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Revenue from contracts with customers EFAERBA
Sale of goods and construction services 4 P MR E AR TS
Rendering of services REARTS

152,999,400 121,698,442
469,784 79,675

153,469,184 121,778,117
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WA - WA R WK ()

Revenue from contracts with customers BEFERKA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) SEEUGA B
Mobile handset
Rechargeable ~ components,  Automobiles
batteries and assembly and related
photovoltaic ~ serviceand  products, and
BE-E-ER products other products* other products* Others Total
For the year ended 31 December 2020  +=A=1-RiLtEE TRAEEY FRBA A% REERB
Segments ik RxfiER  REMER ERREtER it @it
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AEETR AEETR AEETR AEETR AEETTR
Types of goods or services ERAmBEN
Sale of goods and construction services  HEHR RRERE 11,673,278 59,339,624 81,534,303 452,195 152,999,400
Rendering of services RERE 31,354 14,844 423,586 - 469,784
Total revenue from contracts with ZEARMAEE 11,704,632 59,354,468 81,957,889 452,195 153,469,184
customers
Geographical markets HEMS
PRC (including Hong Kong, Macau and HE (BFEEE  BMRAE) 4,152,450 37,822,425 51,918,803 452,195 94,345,873
Taiwan)
Overseas 8 7,552,182 21,532,043 30,039,086 - 59,123,311
Total revenue from contracts with REARMAEE 11,704,632 59,354,468 81,957,889 452,195 153,469,184
customers
Timing of revenue recognition LN
(Goods transferred at a point in time RE-BRHEUNER 11,673,278 59,339,624 79,671,491 452,195 151,136,588
Services transferred over time REHERNRE 31,354 14,844 2,286,398 - 2,332,596
Total revenue from contracts with RPARMALES 11,704,632 59,354,468 81,957,889 452,195 153,469,184
customers
* Sales of medical protection products is included * FHEH  BEREAMERM

in the sales of Mobile handset components,
assembly service and other products and
Automobiles and related products and other

products.

AT AEEBES R ME
BEOWESE O HENEY
RER -
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - HbmA Rz (88)

(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EFERKA (&)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) DEERA EF (#8)

Mobile handset

Rechargeable components, Automobiles
batteries and assembly and related
photovoltaic service and products, and
BE-E-0f products other products other products Total
For the year ended 31 December 2019 tZR=t-ALEE CREEEN  FEEM 8% AE AERE
Segments por RrRER REtER  ERRELER e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTR ARETT ARETT ARETTR
Types of goods or services ERSREER
Sale of goods and construction services HEBRREERE 9,718,500 52,522,290 59,457 652 121,698,442
Rendering of services RIS - - 79,675 79,675
Total revenue from coniracts with EPARMALS 9,718,500 52,522,090 59,587,327 121,778,117
customers
Geographical markets HEmS
PRC (including Hong Kong, Macau and HE(REEE  EMRaE) 3,594,484 43,060,592 55,611,814 102,266,890
Taiwan)
QOverseas i3] 6,124,016 9,461,698 3,925,513 19,511,227
Total revenue from contracts with EPARUMALE 9,718,500 52,522,290 59,537,327 121,778,117
customers
Timing of revenue recognition LN
Goods transferred at a point in time RE-EESEBNER 9,718,500 52,522,290 59,041,594 121,282,384
Services transferred over fime EEREBORE - - 495,733 495,733
Total revenue from contracts with EPARUMALE 9,718,500 52,522,290 59,537,327 121,778,117

customers
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(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

0 Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

INCOME AND GAINS 5.

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue

from contracts with customers to the amounts
disclosed in the segment information:
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WA - EfbA Rz (%)
EFERYA (4)

(1) DIRAEH (&)

AT#INEFERKALEDEE K
BB

Mobile handset

Rechargeable  components,  Automobiles
batteries and assembly and related
photovoltaic ~ service and  products, and Corporate
BE-S-3E products other products other products and Others Total
Year ended 31 December 2020 TZA=t-BLEE TREEER FHOM-AF RE AEEE
Segment pox:i RERER RifER ERRHtER LERHEM @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTTR
Revenue from contracts with EFERNA
customers
External customers HREP 11,704,632 59,354,468 81,957,889 452,195 153,469,184
Intersegment sales ENDHENEE 10,384,321 14,844,929 2,186,889 - 27,416,139
Intersegment adjustments and EHBRNBE R (27,416,139)
eliminations
Total revenue from contracts with ZRARANALE 153,469,184

customers
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA~ Hb A R W (&)

(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EFERKA (&)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (continued) (i) DEERA EF (#8)
Mobile handset
Rechargeable components, Automobiles
batteries and assembly and related
photovoltaic serviceand  products, and
BE-Z-F products  other products  other products Total
Year ended 31 December 2019 TZA=t-HLEE ZRRABEN  FHEIBE-BE RE TEEH
Segment Gk RXRED REtER EnkEtERD @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETTT ARETT
Revenue from contracts with EEERARA
customers
External customers IREF 9,718,500 52,522,290 50,537,327 121,778,117
Intersegment sales BAPHEMBEE 12,012,976 1,697,354 1,728,042 15,438,372
Intersegment adjustments and B PREMAZ RS (15,438,372)
eliminations
Total revenue from contracts with RPERBALE 121,778,117
customers
The following table shows the amounts of revenue T 20N A RS BRI R 5 AL
recognised in the current reporting period that EHTARA BRI BE SR
were included in the contract liabilities at the HBLS IR A SEE

beginning of the reporting period and recognised
from performance obligations satisfied in previous

periods:
2020 2019
ZZ-EE —Z-NE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETFT
Revenue recognised that was included in contract FAREHNERAGBRERN
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: LN

Sale of goods and construction services HERRNEBERS 3,645,439 3,070,012
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(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(i)

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon
delivery of goods. Some contracts provide
customers with rebates which give rise to variable
consideration subject to constraint.

Construction services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time
as services are rendered and are billed based on
construction progress. A certain percentage of
payment is retained by customers until the end of
the retention period as the Group’s entitlement to
the final payment is conditional on the satisfaction of
the service quality by the customers over a certain
period as stipulated in the contracts.

Rendering of services
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as

services are rendered and are billed based on the
agreements of contracts.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

5. WA HEtblR AR W= ()

EFERYA (4)

(i)

BRI B (F

EHAEERBORETHER B m
™

BHEERINEREEX - BN E
RAEPFRREDN - AfmEHA K
B (AXRH) -

EIEIRTS

ERERGOEMAETEOERS
AREFBEBEIREEEN - BF
EPRE—ELHINERE  ERE
BEEERPRESN  BREAR
HE - ARBEREN-EHRAREP
EMRBEEBRTNER

HE gt ARS

ERERBNERANEITEOER
BREREEANERNERE -
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - HbmA Rz (88)

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EFERKA (&)
(i) Performance obligations (continued) (i) JBRIE (&)
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the RTZA=+—A2ETHTRELOE
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied FE(RERKBAORERK) X HE
or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as DEEMAT :
follows:
2020 2019
b g 2.2 —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT
Price including  Price including
tax tax
(BH) (B%)
Amounts expected to be recognised as revenue: RHRBRRBANSE -
Within one year —FR 7,489,885 4,197,737
More than one year —FpAE 696,003 304,402
8,185,888 4,502,139
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(i1)

Annual Report 2020
—RCREER

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA - Httlr AR W ()
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) EFERKA (&)
Performance obligations (continued) (i) JBRIE (&)
2020 2019
- g 23 —T-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFT
Other income Hitit A
Bank interest income RITFISUA 214,613 353,761
Service income BRAS WA 209,830 391,140
Foreign exchange gains, net SMEMEFEE - 130,461
Penalty from suppliers REHERINSE 170,220 143,926
Rental income from leases: MEHESHA -
Rental income from operating leases of RERENELEEENREWA 26,122 17,031
investment properties
Other lease payments, including fixed payments HpHERH (BEEERF) 116,995 95,804
143,117 112,835
Dividend income from equity investments at fair value AR EEFETFTALMEANR 13,126 16,440
through other comprehensive income BHEERENREBMA
Income from the disposal of derivate financial REMESRMITARA 77,666 6,303
instruments
Others Hfth 278,013 176,810
1,106,585 1,331,676
2020 2019
ZECEF ZZ-NE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFR
Gains g
Gain on disposal of scrap and materials HERER RIR 593,445 542,629
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERTE AR - 31,142
Gain on sales of properties EEMEN R - 1,811
Gain on disposal of joint ventures HEREDTMME 48 67,692
593,493 643,274
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T

—EF+ZA=1+—H
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BRBIADZF
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBEBRBIDSMN G (GtA) T3&18
(crediting): BETE
2020 2019
ZBIEF —NE
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
izt ARET T ARETT
Cost of inventories sold HETENRA 125,636,627 103,503,134
Cost of services provided R R AR A 89,748 46,294
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 0% BERRXENE 14 9,272,924 8,146,823
Depreciation of investment properties BREMENE 15 2,685 2,496
Impairment of property, plant and equipment™** 0% - BERSERE" 14 5,885 -
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 16(a) 328,265 368,985
Amortisation of other intangible assets other than BEERERANA D ER EE 18 153,694 122,701
development costs™**
Impairment of other intangible assets™** HEfEREERE" 187,061 -
Research and development costs: PRE KRB :
Deferred expenditure amortised RIEF S 18 2,761,108 1,199,124
Current year expenditure AEERY 7,464,861 5,629,372
10,225,969 6,828,496
Lease payments not included in the measurement of ~ FKifAHEGBHENHERK 16(c) 1,270,066 1,149,270
lease liabilities
Auditors’ remuneration ZEMHE 6,350 7,308
Employee benefit expense (excluding directors’ and ~ EEEAFEY (TEEEERES
supervisors' remuneration (note 9): B< (f7:29))
Wages and salaries TEREHH 21,285,198 18,883,755
Welfare =0l 145,841 184,951
Pension scheme contributions ERE 8RS 1,093,541 1,447,904
22,524,580 20,516,610
Loss on disposal of items of non-current assets HEEREEEREMEE 375,662 99,754
Receipt of disposal of financial product**** YRHR L & R (131,786) (11,638)
Foreign exchange differences, net EHEESE 805,547 (130,461)
Impairment of contract assets,net* AREERBTE 214,366 (19,824)
Impairment of long-term receivables, net* ERRBETREFE" 49,907 (11,179)
Impairment of trade receivables, net* EWE SEFREFE 648,770 504,814
Impairment losses on trade receivable financing, net*  JEMGIBRLE M(E S BIF & 330 (1,907)
Impairment of prepayments, deposits and BAFE ek 191,932 285
other receivables, net* Hﬁﬁ}*‘&“ﬂﬁlﬁﬁmﬁ’])}ﬁ@‘}%%ﬁ*
Impairment of amounts due from joint ventures and Fﬂﬁ(é}%@ 35,366 7,532
associates, net* NI IEME/?%E*
Impairment of financial guarantee* PHBER /W 17,324 -
Gain on disposal of financial instruments* HESBTAMNE" - (6,304)
Loss on disposal of derivative instruments**** HETETAMERE 299,523 519,134
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value** WRFEETERFE 499,218 152,696
Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries™*** HENBARMBIE /(Yegf) 9,076 (31,142)
Fair value gain/losses/, net: ’&;’t Bl BIEFE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss WARBENEVFABENEREE 51,267 (9,749)
Provision B 36 812,806 695,252
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6.  BRBIADER (F)

* Included in “Impairment losses on financial and *
contract assets” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

* Included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated **

statement of profit or loss.

SAGHEBERTHIZREEAERE
ERE]

SARHBEERTOMHERA]

ok kK

ok ok K K

Included in “Administrative expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Included in “Other income and gains” in the

Kok ok

ok ok ok

SPABHHERKRPHTERAS] -

SARHBEERTOIEMES] -

AR HBEETO[HEMKRARRK

consolidated statement of profit or loss. =] e
GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES 7. BURHBI KRR
2020 2019
“E-EE —E-NE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AR®ETT
Related to assets HEERS
Subsidies on industry development fund for Changsha £ /SEERTELRREL B (HiZ(a)) 74,631 68,907
Automobile Zone (note (a))
Subsidies on research and development for batteries of &%) 152% 718 B Hi3 AL (477 (b)) 39,567 39,594
electronic vehicles (note (b))
Full hybrid engine system of plug-in vehicle projects REARAE2REDNZRER 27,048 23,595
(note (a)) (H1:2(a)
Others Hit 254,731 149,925
395,977 282,021
Related to income L ONEL
Research and development subsidies (note (e)) e L (f7E(e)) 140,093 95,529
Support fund for industrial co-construction (note (c)) EELERIFES (W) 10,191 223,995
Subsidies on employee stability (note (d)) BmmE (fz(d)) 30,293 30,383
Subsidies on industry development (note (c)) TEBREE (W) 94,755 278,267
Training subsidies (note (7)) BB AL (A7) 159,026 -
New energy vehicle production increase and MR E L E R IR 113,000 -
promotion reward (note (g)) (Hi#£(g)
Others Hity 744,807 797,462
1,292,165 1,425,636
1,688,142 1,707,657
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7. GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES
(continued)

Notes:

(a)

The items represent subsidies obtained by subsidiaries
of the Group from the government for the development
of automobile projects, and the subsidy income is
released to profit over the expected useful life of
relevant assets.

The items represent subsidies obtained by subsidiaries
of the Group from the government for the construction
of iron-powered lithium battery production lines, and the
subsidy income is released to profit over the expected
useful life of relevant assets.

The items represent subsidies obtained by subsidiaries
of the Group from the government for boosting the
industry development. The same amounts as relevant
expenditures incurred during the reporting periods
were recognised as government subsidies in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The items represent subsidies obtained by subsidiaries
of the Group from the government for maintaining
employee stability. The same amounts as relevant
expenditures incurred during the reporting periods
were recognised as government subsidies in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The items represent corporate R&D subsidies obtained
by subsidiaries of the Group from the government. The
same amounts as relevant expenditures incurred during
the reporting periods were recognised as government
subsidies in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

The items represent subsidies obtained by subsidiaries
of the Group from the government for maintaining
employee stability and expansion and conducting
training. The same amounts as relevant expenditures
incurred during the reporting periods were recognised
as government subsidies in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

The items represent subsidies obtained by subsidiaries
of the Group from the provincial government for
increasing production and promotion of new energy
vehicles. The same amounts as relevant expenditures
incurred during the reporting periods were recognised
as government subsidies in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

AT #5 B B w6 B (4

Wizt -

(a)

SIREA LB E AR TEIAB
BIRFESNMHEEL - MR AR AEE
EMIER AL B FREREEH -

BIRFE RSB B AR 2R HEE
FESABBFESOMEEL - MAKRAR
HEAEENRIERFRERES S
Mo

WIREAEBEMBARREDTEER
BIRFESMNHEEL - BiREMEELN
A BB R T R R IR # R HO AR R
FSCARE o

It TR 5 7K 55 [ B B B AR e B BT 2
SEmaL - EIREHMELENESIIA
a5 2% 7P 2 % DR 4 B 0 4B B B S AR

+t

= o

I I FE AN 52 B P B 1 R RIS IR R 89
EEMEEE  BRESMEELN
A HHER R T R S ET R A E R
FXHEE °

I TR 5 7 5 [ P 8 8 R RIS BT 3T 8
fem iR MIRFIRmME - LIRS BEE
EMES T EER PR BBUTHAIH
AR S ARE

Ih TR 7K 5 [ B BB 2 B ERAS B BUR B
EVHTREIR TR IR E (R SO RE - SR
HRELANESHEERTERRBF
AR AR S AAE -
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An analysis of finance costs is as follows:
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BhE R AN
WMERASH T :
2020 2019
—g-%F —z-nF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®TT ARETT

Interest on bank and other borrowings IRIT R EAMERFE 2,596,300 3,028,457
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGENES 56,422 32,927
Bank charges for discounted notes EETHEMRITR 523,867 611,654

3,176,589 3,673,038
Less: Interest capitalised B BARERE (52,788) (185,631)

3,123,801 3,487,407

The average capitalisation rate for the year used to
determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation was 4.93% (2019: 5.84%).

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ 9.
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and supervisors' remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

FARRETERBRATRAEALHNTHE
LR E493% (ZZE—NF : 5.84%) °

EERESHM

RIEEHRE - BERQBEHIF383(1)(a) »
(b) * (c)EMIERAR (BEZEEFIZEER)
BEIF2H  REEEEREENHHHEE
m

2020 2019
—T=TF T NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBT T

Fees e 1,000 1,000

Other emoluments: Hipi< -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e ERIRIER SRR 11,595 11,758
Pension scheme contributions RIREET IR 61 73
11,656 11,831

12,656 12,831
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9. DIRECTORS’

AND SUPERVISORS’

REMUNERATION (continued)

There were no discretionary bonuses or compensation paid
for loss of office or as inducement to join the Company for
directors and supervisors during the year (2019: Nil).

(a) Independent non-executive Directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive

EEREEHFM (H)
RAFE  BEAEFLREFINHE - N

ERBEEBBAT S WENMARRR 2B
TEARHE(CE—NF &) -

(a) BIUFBITES
RAFEINTEIIFRTEENE

directors during the year are as follows: 0
2020 2019
—EZEH —E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBEFTT
Ms. Zhang Ran kAT 138 200
Mr. Wang Zi-dong FFREE 138 200
Mr. Zou Fei BRFEE 138 200
Mr. Cai Hong Ping e 62
Mr. Zhang Min R E 62
Mr. Jiang Yan Bo BEREE 62
600 600

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year

(2019:

*

*%

*kkk

*kk kK

KRKKKK

Nil).

Ms. Zhang Ran resigned as the director
on 8 September 2020. Her remuneration of
2020 covered the period from 1 January to 8
September.

Mr. Wang Zi-dong resigned as the director
on 8 September 2020. His remuneration of
2020 covered the period from 1 January to 8
September.

Mr. Zou Fei resigned as the director on 8
September 2020. His remuneration of 2020
covered the period from 1 January to 8
September.

Mr. Cai Hong Ping was appointed as the director
on 8 September 2020. His remuneration of 2020
covered the period from 9 September to 31
December.

Mr. Zhang Min was appointed as the director
on 8 September 2020. His remuneration of 2020
covered the period from 9 September to 31
December.

Mr. Jiang Yan Bo was appointed as the director
on 8 September 2020. His remuneration of 2020
covered the period from 9 September to 31
December.

MARFE R EE DS FIBILIFIT

E=mfie (=%

*%

*kkk

*kkk K

KKk KK

—NEFE) -

RARTR_ZE_ZTFAAN
HBffES B - H-T_-F
FRFMRE—A—BENA
JANER-Elis

FFEEER T @Ehﬂ
JBRMTES B LT
ZENHIRE-HA—BEN
H\E #3fa -

BREFV_Z_ZTFAAN
AftEEE—MH H-_=_-F
FRFMRE—A—BZENA
J\BEAR ©

BERFEERZZ_ZFNA
)\E?E%TEE?%§$ H-ZT—
TENHFMRENANLEET
—A=+—BHMH -

RHEER_Z_FFAAN
REZEIRE=E -H_T_-F

FHHFMERENLANBETZ
A=+—BH8M -

BERAERZTZZEF A
)\ H ?%éf_{?%E? H-oZ—
TENHFMAENANLBET
—A=+—BH8MH -
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(b)

Executive director, non-executive Directors

and supervisors

AND SUPERVISORS’ o.
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—E-TF+-_HA=+—H

BITES  FUTESRES

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration
e 2 Bk
e RIEREFEH SRR Mehs
2020 —ECEE RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%TR ARET R AR®TR ARETT
Executive director: BOESE:
Mr. Wang Chuan-fu TEEEE - 5,315 21 5,336
Non-executive Directors: FHTES
Mr. Lv Xiang-yang BREEE 200 - - 200
Mr. Xia Zuo-quan BzndE 200 - - 200
Supervisors: -
Ms. Wang Zhen Tyt - 3,499 22 3,521
Mr. Dong Jun-ging ERELE - 100 - 100
Mr. Yang Dong-sheng BRELE - 2,481 18 2,499
Mr. Li Yong-zhao FxEIEAE - 100 - 100
Mr. Huang Jiang-feng HISEE - 100 - 100
400 11,595 61 12,056
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’
REMUNERATION (continued)

9. EEREEHFM(HE)

(b) Executive director, non-executive Directors (b) HTESE FHTESRESE (A)
and supervisors (continued)
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind  contributions  remuneration
e 28 Rike
we KEReHR BELGES BemE
2019 “T-NE RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT ARETTT ARETT
Executive director: HITES:
Mr. Wang Chuan-fu TERELE - 5,316 24 5,340
Non-executive Directors: FHTES
Mr. Lv Xiang-yang BREEE 200 - - 200
Mr. Xia Zuo-quan Blznk 200 - - 200
Supervisors: -
Ms. Wang Zhen Iyt - 3,495 26 3,521
Mr. Dong Jun-ging ERELE - 100 - 100
Mr. Yang Dong-sheng BRELE - 2,647 23 2,670
Mr. Li Yong-zhao FxEIEAE - 100 - 100
Mr. Huang Jiang-feng HISEE - 100 - 100
400 11,758 73 12,231

There was no arrangement under which a director
or a supervisor waived or agreed to waive any

remuneration during the year (2019: Nil).

AERYVEEEREERELRAE
BEEMHM 2L (ZF—N5F

®) -
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. EEGRESHFMES
No directors are included in the five highest paid FAhEBRaTMEEREZTEZ (ZZE—N
employees during the year (2019: Nil). Details of the FTE)EFE - FANREL(ZZE—NF A
remuneration for the year of the five (2019: five) non- BB MEEBHRIIEES - EHMFS
director highest paid employees are as follows: U
2020 2019
St 22 —hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBEFTT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind %?% ALK IEIR & FlE 40,144 42 237
Pension scheme contributions BB B 87 123
40,231 42,360
There were no discretionary bonuses or compensation paid RAFE - $iER LS HEE TR
for loss of office or as inducement to join the Company for H - UEAKERHB RS FEZEIMALRRDR
the above highest paid employees during the year (2019: BB SAE(ZTE—NF - &) -
Nil).
The number of non-director highest paid employees whose BUTHMNEENFESHE HIEES AR
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: wm
2020 2019
=E-RE  —TNF
RMB#6,500,001 to RMB7,000,000 AR ¥6,500,001% AR 7,000,0007T 2 -
RMB?7,000,001 to RMB7,500,000 AR#7,000,0017tE ARE7 500,000 1 2

RMB7,500,001 to RMB8,000,000
RMB8,000,001 to RMB8,500,000
RMB8,500,001 to RMB9,000,000
RMB9,000,001 to RMB9,500,000
RMB9,500,001 to RMB10,000,000
RMB10,000,001 to RMB10,500,000
RMB10,500,001 to RMB11,000,000

AR#7,500,001 7 E AR #8,000,0007T - -
AR #8,000,001 72 AR 8,500,0007T - -
AR #8,500,001 72 AR¥9,000,0007T 1 2
AR #9,000,001 72 AR¥9,500,0007T - -
AR¥9,500,001 702 AR % 10,000,000 - -
AR#10,000,0017LE AR#10,500,0007T - 1
AR#10,500,001 7. AR#11,000,0007T 1 -
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11.

INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the tax
rates prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

Under the relevant income tax law, the PRC subsidiaries
are subject to corporate income tax (“CIT") at a statutory
rate of 25% on their respective taxable income during the
year.

Certain subsidiaries operating in Mainland China were
approved to be high and new technology enterprises
("HNTE”) and were entitled to a reduced CIT rate of 15%.
The HNTE certificates need to be renewed every three
years so as to enable those subsidiaries to enjoy the
reduced CIT rate of 15%.

Certain subsidiaries operating in Mainland China were
entitled to a reduced CIT rate of 15% for the year pursuant
to the Western Development Policy. These subsidiaries
retained records pursuant to the policies by the State
Taxation Administration so as to be entitled to the reduced
CIT rate.

11.

gy
EBFERIZFEAREBE NG EERR
HHE16.5% (ZZT—F : 16.5%) fEH B
#o EitENEAFEHOIRAEEMRLY
EREaiERNERFR RS -

REVEFASIE  FR PEMBARA
FREE B A R AIR R TE B 25% B4
EEMSH ([EEMREHR]) -

RPBERBEENETHBERALERAR
i ([EHxmhz])  LHERRF
NEF15%HEEMSRINR - @M
XBEAB=FEY UEZSHBRARE
EZH15% N EEMEHIA

B LY S 3 T B 2 RS
EBABHEHEMARRFAEH15%H L
$FBBHIN « RENBA AT TRED
KB RBRTREARERSE - UFHE
BHLEFEBE -

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
Current — Hong Kong REE-—FB
Charge for the year REFEZH 0 -
Current — Mainland China REE — PEAM
Charge for the year REEZH 658,920 446,014
Current — Elsewhere REE — Hibilz
Charge for the year KEFEZH 109,814 19,968
Deferred (note 38) IERE (B77£38) 99,890 (153,708)
Total tax charge for the year NEZMIAT HARRE 868,624 312,274
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A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory tax rate for the jurisdiction in
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rate, and
a reconciliation of the statutory tax rate to the effective tax

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

11. FrB#H (@)

BARB RERBAMNE R R PAERE#ERE
VA TE B R FTE RO BR B AT 3 R A IR B S £
REBRBRAENRIAMSNEER - LRE
EREEBEREHRENERMOT

rate, are as follows:

2020 2019
“ECEE ZT-NEF
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
ARET T % ARETT %
Profit before tax BR B A A 6,882,587 2,431,131
Tax at the statutory tax rate BATEREAENHE 1,720,647 25.0 607,783 25.0
Lower tax rate for specific provinces or A& kit #ER R (739,900) (10.9) (341,610) (14.1)
enacted by local authority MBER
Losses attributable to joint ventures and ~ EIEAE R A MEE R A 15,673 0.2 59,547 2.4
associates HEE
Income not subject to tax E i ON 0 0.0 (40,530) (1.7)
Expenses not deductible for tax EAMNTAY 66,457 1.0 11,219 05
Tax losses and deductible temporary REROBBBERY 796,723 11.6 565,050 23.2
differences not recognised IRERHEE
Tax losses utilised from previous periods  FIf AR EAR B A5 18 (349,062) (5.1) (82,287) (3.4)
Super-deduction of research and T B B AR R I BR (641,914) (9.3) (466,898) (19.1)
development costs
Tax charge at the Group’s effective BASEERRETENHE 868,624 12.6 312,274 12.8

tax rate

it

PERPETUAL LOAN INTEREST

12. XKEEBAE

The interest of perpetual loans paid in 2020 was
RMB222,987,000 (2019: RMB241,388,000). The
Group’s perpetual loans are disclosed in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RZE_TFENMNKBEENEAAR
222,987,000t (ZE—NF : ARM
241,388,0007T) ° AEBMKEGEHBERE
B RFRMITE42 ©
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T

13.

S

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is
based on profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent adjusted for interest paid or payable
for perpetual loans, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 2,728,142,855 (2019: 2,728,142,855) in
issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings
per share amounts presented for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 in respect of a dilution as the
Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during those years.

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on:

13.

BRARANEBRESFAEARGER
23

EREAREFNIRGARERRERSES
ANEEARNEEEF (RO F Bk EAKE
BERAR) RAEEDBITE BB MNE
T8 R 2,728,142,855 R (B — N5 :
2,728,142,855[%) 5t &

BE_Z-_ZFR_F-NAFt-_A=1—
BILFE  SEEEMME  M2HRNER
EAXRNREFELETAAZE  HRAEER
ZEFEANS BT E BRI BERETE
BRE -

BRRERBFITHRIA T EEGFE

2020 2019
o 33 —NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBEFIT
Earnings BF
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of &R R L@ ZEIEE AEN 4,234,267 1,614,450
the parent il
Interest paid for perpetual loans for the year B fRIKEBHAREF B (174,308) (209,186)
Accumulated unpaid interest attributable to  KEBEER 25RO AFEF S (42,326) (48,679)
perpetual loans for the year
Profit used in the basic earnings per share BARETEEREREFANGF 4,017,633 1,356,585
calculation
Number of shares
RHEE
2020 2019
=F=%F T NF
Shares gy

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the year, used in the basic BETEm

earnings per share calculation

RARFTEEREARNNER
P b 15 8k

2,728,142,855 2,728,142,855
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% BERRE
Freehold Machinery Office
land and Leasehold and Motor  equipment Construction
buildings improvements  equipment vehicles  and fixtures  in progress Total
KAKELH HAERE
Group 158 kgF HENREE KERRG EH RER  EBIR st
RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR ARETn  ARETR  ARMTR  ARBTR
31 December 2020 ZRCBFTCAZT-H
At 31 December 2019 and RZZ-NETZA=T-H
1 January 2020: RR-Z_FE-A-F:
Cost A 21,177,239 199,310 57,314,868 1,690,428 9,419,899 5721076  95522,820
Accumulated depreciation and ZERAE (3,826,190 (67,737) (30,877,676)  (692,688)  (4,762,520) - (40,226,811)
impairment
Net carrying amount EHFE 17,351,049 131,573 26,437,192 997,740 4,657,379  5721,076 55,296,009
At 1 January 2020, net of accumulated  R=E-FF-A-H- 17,351,049 131,573 26,437,192 997,740 4,657,379 5,721,076 55,296,009
depreciation and impairment TREHRERRE
Additions AE 404,789 17,267 6,006,840 333,353 2,652,203 3,474,644 12,889,096
Disposals HE (6,677) (50,824)  (422,720) (65,929) (47,325) (12,758)  (606,233)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ FMITERE (677,112) (30,821)  (6,655,209)  (303,360)  (1,606,422) - (9,272,924)
Impairment HE - - (5,885) - - - (5,885)
Transfers i 1,099,181 - 44072390 34,745 91,579 (5,632,895) -
Exchange realignment EiA% (42,561) - (16,778) (34,957) 3,885 - (98,181)
At 31 December 2020, net of RZE-EF+-F=1T-H' 18,128,669 67,195 29,750,830 961,502 5743529 3,550,067 58,201,882
accumulated depreciation and TREHRERRE
impairment
At 31 December 2020: RZE-ZE+-A=+-H:
Cost A 22,610,285 130,447 64,586,063 1,857,535  11,649451 3,550,067 104,383,848
Accumulated depreciation and ZHTERAE (4,481,616) (63,252) (34,835,233)  (895,943)  (5905,922) - (46,181,966)
impairment
Net carrying amount BEE 18,128,669 67,195 29,750,830 961,502 5743529 3,550,067 58,201,882

As at 31 December 2020, the Group was still in the process
of obtaining property ownership certificates for certain
buildings with a net carrying amount of RMB2,917,879,000
(2019: RMB3,641,244,000). In the opinion of the directors,
there is no major barrier for the Group to obtain the
property ownership certificates.

MR-ZZE-TE+-A=+—0 AEEPE
MEEFEAARK2917,879,0007T (=&
— N+ ARES,641,244,0007T) 75 THE
FHEEEMBES EERA  AEET
RS EEAAEEEESKEE -
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14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. #¥ -  BERRZHE (&)
(continued)
As at 31 December 2020, certain items of the Group’s RZZEZZTF+ZA=+—8  REFEY
freehold land and buildings with a net carrying amount of AE¥191,209,0007T (ZZE—NF : AR
approximately RMB191,209,000 (2019: RMB209,019,000) 209,019,0007T) B AR E BE Fok A FEME 1 3
were pledged to secure general banking facilities granted REFIEE REFEHARE1,781,000
to the Group, certain items of the Group’s motor vehicles T(ZZE—NF : AR¥2,088,0007T) HIA&
with a net carrying amount of approximately RMB1,781,000 EEETAEBEEEEAERURSEE TR
(2019: RMB2,088,000) were pledged to secure general SEAM—RIRITRLE (H3E35(a)) ©
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 35(a)).
Freehold Machinery Office
land and Leasehold and Motor  equipment  Construction
buildings  improvements  equipment vehicles  and fixtures  in progress Total
KAFELH HoERE
Group 158 REF HEMERE HAREE B4 Rixi fRIE EH)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  ARETID
31 December 2019 ZEAETZAZT-R
At 31 December 2018 and RZF-NE+ZR=+-R
1 January 2019: RAZE-n%-F-R:
Cost A 19,492,269 201,306 49,4915% 1,380,402 7,198,098 5638810 83,402,479
Accumulated depreciation and i ERAE (3,222,694) (34,163) (26,361,225)  (513.463)  (3,786,352) - (33917:897)
impairment
Net carrying amount KEFE 16,269,575 167,142 23,130,370 866,939 3411746 5638810 49,484,582
At 1 January 2019, net of accumulated  W=F-nE-F-H" 16,269,575 167,142 23,130,370 866,939 3411746 5638810 49484582
depreciation and impairment TREHHERRE
Additions AE 134,698 25,808 6,105,749 567,450 2115491 5452140 14401426
Disposals HE (1,549) (18,959) (246,346) (146,381) (22,706) (638) (436,579)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ FRAERE (609,167) (42508)  (5,999,659)  (291,595)  (1,203,894) - (8,146,829)
Transfer to investment properties BEEREANE (9,332) - - - - - (9,332)
Transfers &% 1,564,09 - 3,448,741 211 356,188 (5,369,236) -
Exchange realignment S 2728 - (1,663) 1,116 554 - 2735
At 31 December 2019, net of RIF-NETZA=+-H' 17351049 131573 26,437,192 997,740 4657379 5721076 55,296,009
accumulated depreciation and TREHHERRE
impairment
At 31 December 2019: RIE-NETZA=T-R:
Cost A 21,177,239 199,310 57,314868 1690428 9419899 5721076  95522,820
Accumulated depreciation and ZHERAE (3,826,190) (67,737) (30.877.676)  (692,688)  (4,762,520) - (40.226,811)
impairment
Net carrying amount BEE 17,351,049 131578 26,437,192 997,740 4657379 5721076 55,296,009
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REYF
2020 2019
e 523 —E-NEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBEFTT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—HA—BrERHEE 96,902 90,066
Transfer from property, plant and equipment HEAYE - WE KRB - 9,332
Depreciation provided during the year FRITERRB (2,685) (2,496)
Carrying amount at 31 December RNt BA=+—H8EEE 94,217 96,902
LEASES 16. HE
The Group as a lessee AEEEREBA

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
leasehold land, buildings and machinery and other
equipment used in its operations. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the
owners with lease periods of 44 to 99 years, and no
ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these
land leases. Leases of buildings generally have lease
terms with lease periods of 1 to 20 years. Machinery and
other equipment generally have lease terms of 1 to 5 years
and/or are individually of low value. Generally, the Group is
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets
outside the Group. There are several lease contracts that
include extension options, which are further discussed
below.

AEEREEEFERANSERE T 2
F oML EEER AN EMREERET T
HEER - RIFZFLHBESHR - RME
TWEREHE i (AHR44E99%F) AICIE
H—RMUN - UELEEETONR - BF
HEMEM—RR1E20%F - s R HMEKR
BOEB—RB/1ESF - Rk HERIEE
BIE - —RME - AEETSEREEIAIN
HELHEHEHEEEE -FTHEARAREHE
MRS - HE—FHFAmT -
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16. LEASES (continued) 16. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERABEA (H)
(a)  Right-of-use assets (a) (EHEZRE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use RER - AEEGFAREENKREE
assets and the movements during the year are as REmT
follows:
Machinery
Leasehold and other
land Buildings equipment Total
BER
HELH BT At o
RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR
As at 1 January 2019 RZZE-NE-A—H 6,426,394 592,261 13,570 7,032,225
Additions AE 797,080 395,156 12,575 1,204,811
Disposals & (557,714) (69,210) - (626,924)
Depreciation charge HERY (155,123) (209,245) (4,617) (368,985)
Exchange realignment 5 HE (114) - - (114)
As at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 RZZ-nE+-A=1+-H 6,510,523 708,962 21,528 7,241,013
k=Z-Z2%-A-H
Additions AE 239,359 501,254 5,275 745,888
Disposals HE (7,519) (97,349) (15,348) (120,216)
Depreciation charge WERY (158,295) (167,819) (2,151) (328,265)
Exchange realignment EHEE (1,961) (8,745) 138 (10,568)
As at 31 December 2020 RZZZZFT-A=1-H 6,582,107 936,303 9,442 7,507,852
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The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

B 5 ¥ R B
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—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

HE (&)
AEBEREBEA ()

(b) HEAE

WER - AEEENEEERZBED

movements during the year are as follows: ™
2020 2019
“EZ-EF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT
Carrying amount at 1 January “—R—BmMEAE 767,720 569,077
New leases nHE 344,593 333,416
Accretion of interest recognised during the year ERBERATSIEM 56,422 32,927
Covid-19-related rent concessions from lessors MEmAEBOLEAREER (3,065) -
Payments O (153,877) (167,700)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZA=Z+—HRNEAEE 1,011,793 767,720

Analysed into: PR :

Current portion mEE s 168,507 219,040
Non-current portion e iba 843,286 548,680

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed
in note 49 to the consolidated financial statements.

As disclosed in note 2.2. to the financial statements,
the Group has early adopted the amendment to
HKFRS 16 and applied the practical expedient to
all eligible rent concessions granted by the lessors
for leases of certain plant and equipment during the
year.

HEBBENIMADNNE M BR
RUTFT49PHREE -

B TS ERAR M2 2P AR EE - A E
ERAFM(EEMBREER)E
16T R HEARFAREE
ETHEMRBRENMESERE
SEEERAERERE
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16. LEASES (continued)

(c)

—A=+—H
16. HHE (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBERABEA (H)
The amounts recognised in the statement of profit or (c) REZEXERNEBHEAENRED
loss in relation to leases are as follows: NE
2020 2019
—Z-EF —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AR®EFT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFNE 56,422 32,927
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEENTERS 328,265 368,985
Expense relating to short-term leases and other leases  f2X2EifEE K& THER 1,267,749 1,146,219
with remaining lease terms ended on or before “E-TFF+-A=1-H
31 December 2020 FZAERNEBTAESH
R
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets HHEREEEERBNAY 2,317 3,051
Covid-19-related rent concessions from lessors nEMAREBNLIEAESER (3,065) -
Total amount recognised in the statement of profit or loss REZERHNAETE 1,651,688 1,551,182

(@)

(e)

Extension options

The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension options. These options are negotiated by
management to provide flexibility in managing the
leased-asset portfolio and they are aligned with the
Group’s business needs. These extension options

are expected to be exercised.

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note

44 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases certain of its properties and vehicles
under operating lease arrangements. The terms of the
leases generally require the tenants to pay security
deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was
RMB143,117,000 (2019: RMB196,269,000).

(d)  EHEEE

AEEREZRBEREREERNE
EaR - ZFEERDEEEEHE
B RHEEEMAAETEARAER
M FearEEEBER - ZSEE
BEREIEAE TITME

(e) FMEMESRLETNA LG TR
CEIPEE T

FEBERHAEA

REEREBLEEHETHIHERTWER
B MAKK—REXBPLPAMNES -
WREERBETTSRIIERTHAR S A
B AEERFARRHNBESWABAR
143,117,000 (ZZE—ILF : ARK
196,269,0007T) °
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LEASES (continued) 16. HHE (&)
The Group as a lessor (continued) AEEERHBEA (H)
At 31 December 2020, the undiscounted lease payments RZZEZZTF+ZA=+—H ' x5EIRE
receivable by the Group in future periods under non- ERE FH P A 0] B8 45 & FH & R0 AR 2 B ) FE U
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows: BIRAIREERIBLT ¢
2020 2019
—E-ZHF ZE-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T T ARBET T
Within one year —FR 109,020 100,585
After one year but within two years —FREMTR 62,442 65,619
After two years but within three years MFERE=FA 32,160 44 551
After three years but within four years = F&EMFR 13,419 20,470
After four years but within five years MERERFN 9,070 9,319
After five years RF% 89,122 62,407
315,233 302,951
GOODWILL 17. B8
RMB’ 000
ARETR
At 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 and R-ZZE—NF—A—H8 —ZT—NF
31 December 2020: TZA=TARZZTEF
+-A=+—8:
Cost B AR 75,585
Accumulated impairment E2ETRE (9,671)
Net carrying amount BREEE 65,914
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17.

S

GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the automobiles and related products cash-
generating unit, which is a reportable segment, for
impairment testing:

The recoverable amount of the automobiles and related
products cash-generating unit has been determined based
on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projections is 13% (2019: 13%).
The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the
automobiles and related products cash-generating unit
beyond the five-year period is 3% (2019: 3%), which is less
than the long-term average growth rate of the automobile
industry.

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash-
generating unit is as follows:

17.

EmE (E)

AER AR
REBEMEENHEED im$&$ﬁ
MEMRSELEM (ER/E2HRDE)

EITRERIR

AERAHERRESEESEMHAIKRESEHE
DERBEREBEAEEMERE EEPLMEHF
HERAFHEMNMBBREELTLESRER
Ttt/ﬁé’\]fﬁiumiiﬁé/ﬂﬂz%%ﬁ cIWEMETR
B ITIRE B13% (ZZ—NF - 13%) °
REEAERABERBReEEBNL AT
FHENREREMNIERERI% (ZE—N
F:3%)  ERTEITENRPTHEBRE -

DETREELBVNHENHR@ENT

Automobiles and related

products

AERERER
2020 2019
—E-ZF —NnEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Carrying amount of goodwill SR REE 65,914 65,914
Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of HEZTEFERZT-NF+ZA=1+—

the automobiles and related products cash-generating unit
for 31 December 2020 and 2019. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has based its
cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the
average gross margins achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements and expected market development.

AABERIEMERREESEMNERER
BERATHRX EEEREBETIISEIER
RIBRERE - ETHERERNH -

BREENEX -BEEMNEXNEEDREER
EREFEMNFEANCZINTFHENE
(EMMEANERBMER) REHHSER
BEE °
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GOODWILL (continued) 17. BE (&)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) EERENR (E)
Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and TRE -—FREDRZEEVBER - R
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant unit. EHABMMEERRE
Raw materials price inflation — The basis used to determine R RHERBIE — BIEE T RM A ERRIR
the value assigned to raw materials price inflation is the MEEDREFENIEAYERE -
forecast price index during the budget year.
The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent FTEBINEBALINFRER R -
with external information sources.
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. HMEFEE
Industrial
Development  proprietary
costs rights Know-how Software Total
BRAA IXEE i BH @t
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETn  ARETn  AR%Tx
31 December 2020 ZECEETCA=T-H
Cost at 1 January 2020, net of accumulated RZE-ZE-F-BHNE 11,545,664 7,225 856 333,890 11,887,635
amortisation and impairment NG 25 H R E
Additions - internal development RE - NHPRE 1,091,090 - - - 1,091,090
Additions - acquired AE - - 10,333 2,518 218,730 231,581
Disposal e - - - (309) (309)
Amortisation provided during the year FRERER (2,761,108) (7,515) (31) (146,148)  (2,914,802)
Impairment HE (187,058) - - - (187,058)
Exchange realignment ELAE - - - (361) (361)
At 31 December 2020 WZFZFTF+ZA=1-H 9,688,588 10,043 3,343 405,802 10,107,776
At 31 December 2020; RZE-EF+-fA=1-H:
Cost kA& 20,656,964 163,662 4,756 1,034,692 21,860,074
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 2B RAE (10,968,376) (153,619) (1,413) (628,890)  (11,752,298)
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2020 RZE-FF+-A=1+-AH 9,688,588 10,043 3,343 405,802 10,107,776

MR FE
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MR FE

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 18. HM\EEEE (&)
Industrial
Development proprietary
costs rights Know-how Software Total
RN IXER i #h st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR
31 December 2019 “E-hETZA=1-H
Cost at 1 January 2019, net of accumulated RZE-NE-F—-BRME 9,953,100 10,349 942 307,676 10,272,067
amortisation and impairment NR2HESERAE

Additions - internal development RE - NEREE 2,791,688 - - - 2,791,688
Additions - acquired NE - - 2,462 12 145,946 148,420
Disposal e - - - (2,721) (2,721)
Amortisation provided during the year ERBEEE (1,199,124) (5,586) (98) (117,017)  (1,321,825)
Exchange realignment ERAE - - - 6 6
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NETZA=1-H 11,545,664 7,205 856 333890 11,887,635

At 31 December 2019; RZE-NETZA=T-H:
Cost AR 19,584,641 56,753 3,695 853894 20,498,983
Accumulated amortisation and impairment ZHEHRAE (8,038,977) (49,528) (2,839) (520,004)  (8,611,348)
Net carrying amount at 31 December 2019 RZE-NETZA=1-H 11,545,664 7,225 856 333800 11,887,635

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less
any impairment losses. Development costs start to be
amortised once relevant products reach mass production
conditions. They are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the commercial lives of the underlying products
not exceeding ten years, except for those of new energy
vehicles which are amortised using the unit-of-production
method, commencing from the date when the products are
put into commercial production.

IR FE 5 3 B AN R A AR R (E RS R 51 AR -
—BHBEEREARBEERE  HEXAE
BIFTsa B SH - B ARAEREZERBE
mEALE BB T EREE - ERERT
EHERRABEEEZAREREMEE
SEHEES o
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INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. REERANRE
2020 2019
—B-BF -T-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥TT ARBFT
Share of net assets PEFEE 4,442,807 3,105,145
The Group's trade receivable and payable balances REBHEERRNEYE S RFMER
with joint ventures are disclosed in note 46(c) to the PR BN S T BT S R T EE46(c) ©
consolidated financial statements.
Particulars of the Group’s joint ventures are as follows: REBEEQAFNFBEET
Percentage of
Particulars of  Place of iy
registered  registration Ownership  Voting Profit
Name capital held  and business interest power sharing  Principal activities
8 FsamEsst BERERLYE FEERE REE SBEN  FEEH
Shenzhen Denza New Energy RMB5,760,000,000  PRC/ 50% 50% 50%  Research, development and sale of
Automotive Co., Ltd. (‘DENZA") Mainland China automobiles
RYEEHERTEARRA AR B8/ HRER W% REREEAE
(&%) 5,760,000,0007C
Tianjin BYD Automobile Company RMB350,000,000  PRC/ 50% 43% 50%  Assembly and sale of automobiles
Limited (“Tianjin BYD") Mainland China and coaches
RENEHTERRAA ARE B8/ HERN BERHERERTE
(IRafkEd]) 350,000,0007C
Xi'an Infrastructure Yadi Automobile RMB10,000,000  PRC/ 40% 40% 40%  Automobiles and parts sales and
Service Co,, Ltd. Mainland China automobile maintenance
(“Xi'an Infrastructure”)
BN RGN ERBEREEAR AR B/ HRERND HETERTHHIRELE
(MEZHE]) 10,000,00070
Shenzhen BYD Electric Car RMB300,000,000  PRC/ 60%* 50% 60%  New energy investment and the
Investment Co., Ltd. Mainland China establishment of industrial electric
(“BYD Electric Car’) vehicle industry
AT RS ERABRAR AR RE/HRERND MERRERK I TEEH R8T
(THEeEdRE]) 300,000,0007C
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19.

INVESTMENTS

IN JOINT VENTURES 19. ®

BELTANEKRE (H)

(continued)
Percentage of
Particulars of  Place of frEEA
registered  registration Ownership  Voting Profit
Name capital held  and business interest power sharing  Principal activities
£8 FREEmEsEr BERERMYE FEERE RER SRR IEXH
Guangzhou Guang Qi BYD New RMB300,000,000  PRC/ 51%" 50% 51%  Manufacture and design of auto parts
Energy Bus Co., Ltd. Mainland China and accessories and manufacture
(“Guang Qi BYD") of automobiles
BB R R EERAR ARE 8/ HERS SRR EBM R R E
(TErtksa)) 300,000,0007C
Shenzhen Didi New Energy Auto RMB1,195,616,300  PRC/ 10% 40% 10%  Electric car and fuel car rental and
Lease Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Didi") Mainland China sale and taxi business
AR B S ERAR ARE 8/ HERS HERHEBDERM A ERIEE
(MR ) 1,195,616,3007C BRB
Beijing Hualin Loading Co., Ltd. RMB100,000,000  PRC/ 49% 40% 49%  Production and sale for special-used
(“Beijing Hualin”) Mainland China vehicles, import and export storage,
technologies and agency
ERENGRERRRA ARE 8/ HERS EERHEZRE ELOAR 8
(M) 100,000,0007C Rt
Hangzhou BYD Xihu New Energy RMB100,000,000  PRC/ 49% 40% 49%  New energy vehicle technology,
Auto Co., Ltd. ("Xihu New Energy”) Mainland China internet technology development,
technical services and advice, and
the establishment of charging poles
MAERE EEs R EERAT AR HE/HRERND MERTERN - BERWRE - 5
(TP ) 100,000,0007 RBRFARTEERR
BYD Auto Finance Company Limited ~ RMB1,500,000,000  PRC/ 80%" 80% 80%  Auto financing leases, auto loans
(“BYD Auto Finance”) Mainland China issuance of financial bonds, and
car finance consulting agency
EEAEERARRA ARE 8/ HER RELRES BEER BILRE
(ThEenEed)) 1,500,000,0007C 5 RECHFARE
Hubei Energy Storage Co., Ltd. RMB100,000,000  PRC/ 55%* 60% 55%  Investment and operation of energy
(“Hubei Energy Storage”) Mainland China storage
= (L) BRAR ARE B/ RER REREREHES
(Mt Ess)) 100,000,0007¢
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BELTANEKRE (H)

(continued)
Percentage of
Particulars of  Place of frEEA
registered  registration Ownership  Voting Profit
Name capital held  and business interest power sharing  Principal activities
£8 FREEmEsEr BERERMYE FEERE RER SRR IEXH
Hengqin Vanke Yundi Commercial RMB5,000,000  PRC/ 50% 33% 50%  Commercial services, technology
Services Co., Ltd. Mainland China development, technology transfer,
technology consulting and
technology services
BREENEHBHERBERAR ARE B8/ HRERN BERY - KT REE BN
5,000,0007C EELEGUT
Chengdu Shudu BYD New Energy RMB30,000,000  PRC/ 60%" 57% 60%  The R&D of new energy electric
Vehicles Co., Ltd. Mainland China vehicles, and leasing of new energy
electric vehicles
RABEB T RERRLE AR BB/ HRERS MEREDAENTE  AHREDA
30,000,0007 BiEg
Shenzhen Vanke Yundi Industrial RMB100,000,000  PRC/ 72%" 67% 72%  Commercial services, technology
Co., Ltd. Mainland China development, technology transfer,
technology consulting and
technology services
AIMENENEEERAT AR B8/ HRER BERY - RMHE  RTEE B
100,000,0007 FARRMRS
Shenzhen BYD International RMB400,000,000  PRC/ 30% 33% 30%  Financial lease and financial lease
Financial Lease Co., Ltd. Mainland China advisory service
(“International Financial Lease”)
A TR R EEEERAR AR HE/RER HAMERREHEERRS
((ERRERE]) 400,000,007
Qinghai Salt Lake BYD Resources RMB 500,000,000  PRC/ 49% 40% 49%  Development of lithium resources in
Development Co., Ltd. Mainland China Salt Lake and the production and
(“Qinghai Salt Lake") sale of lithium carbonate
FAEALRRERREERAR AR HE/RER ERRERAORE RIRRENEE
U ) 500,000,0007C &
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19.

—FF+-A=t-F
INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. R&EEQARMNKRE (&)
(continued)
Percentage of
Particulars of  Place of frEEA
registered  registration Ownership  Voting Profit
Name capital held  and business interest power sharing  Principal activities
£8 FREEmEsEr BERERMYE FEERE RER SRR IEXH
Meihao Chuxing (Hangzhou) RMB 1,285,000,000  PRC/ 65%" 60% 65%  Automobile R&D, automobile leasing
Automotive Technology Co., Ltd. Mainland China and operational management; and
(“Meihao Chuxing") new energy technology
REFHTT (M) AERBERAF ARE  HE/mER RERE  AEHEREREE HE
(I 1,285,000,0007C TR
BYD TOYQTA EV Technology Co., RMB345,000,000  PRC/ 50% 50% 50%  Design and development of electric
Ltd. (‘BTET") Mainland China vehicles & their derivatives and the
parts of electric vehicles & their
derivatives; import and export,
sales and after-sales service
%ﬁ@%ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬂ&ﬁ Al ARE 8/ RERY EHERANEERUREYAES
HEREHENR]) 345,000,0007C PHRATEERNRGRAE
0 HERERRS
Hengain Hexie Dingtai Equity RMB110,100,000  PRC/ 54.5% 33.3% 54.5%  Equity investment: most investments
Investment LP (“Hexie Dingtai”) Mainland China were made in sub-funds in TMT,
logistics and other areas
BEMRRRRERECE AR BB/ RERY RiERE  ABARERBTHFRE
(BRa®) ((M:E8%]) 110,100,0007 ¥ DRREREENTES
Harmony Fund LP USD600,000,000**  Cayman Islands 16.7%  16.7%™ 16.7%  Equity investment: most investments
were made in technology, logistics,
medical innovation and other
industries
REEE (BRAH) 600,000,000%  HEHS RiERE - RBARERRI - iR -

*k

According to the articles of association of these
investees, a board resolution requires unanimous
consent of a two-third majority or all members of the
board of directors. Thus, the Group does not have
control even though the Group’s ownership interests in
these investees are greater than 50%.

According to the articles of association of these
investees, any matter to be approved by the Investment
Committee may only be approved with the unanimous
consent of all Investment Committee members. The
Group takes a seat on the Investment Committee.
Therefore, even though the Group’s ownership interests
in the fund is below 20%, the Group still can exert
common control on the fund.

According to the subscription agreement signed by the
Group in respect of the fund, the amount anticipated
to be raised will be no more than US$600 million. The
Group intends to contribute US$100 million, as a limited
partner.

*%

BREFRARITE

*ETJ%EZﬁ&‘é“ﬂ%E’JiH%i%ZEH‘J B
ERHRRAEEGERANEN =02
ALk 2 E8RBIRE o Bt @MZIK;E
ENREH RN EREBIB50% A%
BT R ERELHR -

RIBZEREHROMHEIEAA - F

MhHkEZESHAENEIE - YAERIE

&ﬁiaﬁA?WE*ﬁﬂ XYLk
AEEERATBERIEE B2

m HEAME AR EE RN E R FTE R

%fgm%'$%ﬁﬁﬂ%%$§m%
\

REEEHZESRENRBHH
SHGEERETEBERT - £E
FRBERABARABHLERSET
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DENZA, which is considered a material joint venture of
the Group, is a strategic partner of the Group primarily
engaged in the research and development of automobile
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products and is accounted for using the equity method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of DENZA adjusted for any
differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the

carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements.

FEBRBESAEEER
R HEXEREMEEME S
Wi A AAR

BELTNRKRE (H)

BE QB REE
o

EEDD !

TRIABENVHERME (ERE=E
BRTREMTARAE) - RESHFHHRE
FRRREEMN S -

2020 2019
gt 22 —E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBETTT
Cash and cash equivalents BeMAEEEY 511,940 213,591
Other current assets EfnsEE 947,794 1,416,638
Current assets MENEE 1,459,734 1,630,229
Non-current assets, excluding goodwill FRBERE  TEERE 925,479 1,032,116
Financial liabilities, excluding trade and other &£ RI&E&E @ TEEENE SBEX 402,108 550,000
payables and provisions Ko EL At AN FRIE A K B4
Other current liabilities HEMmsaE 832,987 1,236,005
Current liabilities mEAE 1,235,095 1,786,005
Non-current financial liabilities, excluding FEREBemMmEE  TEEEN 660,000 660,000
trade and other payables B 5 R R SR
Net assets EEFE 490,118 216,340
Net assets, excluding goodwill EEFE TEERE 490,118 216,340
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the ~ EREBEEA L QAP HERS
joint venture: BI¥IRR -
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBOEE LD 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint REESEEERANEETFE - 245,059 108,170
venture, excluding goodwill TEEEE
Unrealised profit arising from transactions [ S A 55 (B 22 5 B8 A O oK 4 3R s ) (4,227) (4,107)
with the Group
Carrying amount of the investment REREE 240,832 104,063
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19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. REe&QA7NEE (&)
(continued)

2020 2019
—?——\'ﬂz :ifﬂi
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Revenue A 1,060,318 427,701
Other expense HbFx 252,564 3,416
Interest income FEUA 8,919 8,284
Depreciation and amortisation Pree & ey 59,258 430,540
Interest expenses FMBRXZ 48,228 72,497
Total comprehensive loss for the year NEZEFEEBERRE (426,223) (1,152,860)
The following table illustrates the summarised aggregate TRHAARATEBEANAEREE QA
financial information of the Group’s joint ventures that are VEETHIBERBLE ¢

not individually material:

2020 2019
—?——\'ﬂz :ifﬂi
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARETT

Share of joint ventures’ profit for the year EEARFEEE QR 13,206 137,212

Share of joint ventures’ total comprehensive {5 A4 QR Z A WA LA 13,206 137,212
income

Elimination of unrealised profit/(loss) PRI AR IR A (EE) 12,866 101,918

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's REEREGERAZIRERERE 4,201,975 3,001,082

investments in joint ventures
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20. REZERNTMNRE

2020 2019

—Z-EF —E-NF

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR® Tt AREET T

Share of net assets PEFEE 891,543 823,792
Goodwill on acquisition WEER 2 131,238 131,238
1,022,781 955,030

Provision for impairment B - -
1,022,781 955,030

The Group’s trade receivable and payable balances with
associates are disclosed in note 46(c) to the consolidated

financial statements.

Particulars of the Group’s associates are as follows:

REBEZRRNFEBOT

REB HHE QAR B E 5 IR KM 4
HRIRENA G T MK EE46(c) °

Percentage of
Particulars of  Place of P
registered  registration Ownership ~ Voting Profit
Name capital held  and business interest power sharing  Principal activities
8 FEEmEsEs BERERMYE FEERE REER 2GRN FERH
Tibet Zabuye Lithium Industry Co., RMB930,000,000  PRC/ 18% 18% 18%  Products of lithium and boron mineral
Ltd. (“Zabuye Lithium") Mainland China salt
ERRRAEATELEREERAT ARE 8/ HERS EMEREE
(Mg ]) 930,000,0007C
Shan Mei Ling Qiu Bi Xing Industry RMB10,000,000  PRC/ 20% 20% 20%  Solar power ecosystem remediation
Development Co., Ltd. Mainland China of agricultural products
(“Shan Mei Ling Qiu Bi Xing")
LWEBR L EEEREERAT ARE S8/ HRERS AERERZRBERER
(MuEBREE]) 10,000,00070
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20. REEQIRINRKRE (F)
Percentage of
Particulars of  Place of frEEA
registered  registration Ownership ~ Voting Profit
Name capital held  and business interest power sharing  Principal activities
8 FEEmEsEn BERERMYE FEERE REER 2GRN FERE
Hangzhou Xihu New Energy Auto RMB50,000,000  PRC/ 29% 29% 29%  Taxi service, electric vehicle
Operation Co., Ltd. Mainland China rental, electric vehicle charging
(“Hangzhou Xihu Operation”) infrastructure
MBS R TR EEER AT AR BB/ HRERS LEBRE EHERE ENERE
(MMEHEE]) 50,000,007 ERRiE
Shenzhen Electric Power Sales RMB200,000,000  PRC/ 40% 20% 40%  Electric power engineering design,
Co., Ltd. (*Shenzhen Electric Mainland China installation, operation of electric
Power Sales”) vehicle charging infrastructure, and
sale of electricity
AITREEETERDE ARE  RE/HRERND ENIRE  ENERERENRR
(MR EsEE]) 200,000,007 BEWRE  ENLE
Shenzhen Qianhai Green RMB20,000,000  PRC/ 19% 29% 19%  Car rental, public transportation
Transportation Co., Ltd. Mainland China vehicle maintenance and repairs
(“Qianhai Green Transportation”)
AT HERERBERAT AR B8/ HRER AERE  PARBIAREREE
(Manssexa)) 20,000,007
MCC Ramu New Technology Limited ~ RMB936,840,000  PRC/ 10% 1% 10%  Development, consultancy, transferal,
(“MCC Ramu’) Mainland China and services of energy-saving
and environmentally friendly
technologies and product
technologies, power battery
manufacturing, import and export of
goods and technology
BB AR R R AR A AR HE/HREND HRRRRIRERRIRE  #&H
(TagAl) 936,840,0007C BERRE  BHERHE UK

R0
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20. REBEQATNERE (F)

Percentage of
Particulars of  Place of frEEA
registered  registration Ownership ~ Voting Profit
Name capital held  and business interest power sharing  Principal activities
8 FEEmEsEn BERERMYE FEERE REER 2GRN FERE
China Railway Engineering RMB730,818,000  PRC/ 4% 1% 4%  Engineering survey, design,
Consulting Group Co., Ltd. Mainland China consultancy, supervision and
inspection, EPC contracting, and
specialised contracting.
mEIRRARREERAA ARE B8/ HRER IRAE Rt &0 BERR-
730,818,0007 EPCEBLERAR
Shenzhen Faurecia Auto Parts RMB200,000,000  PRC/ 30% 40% 30%  Develop, produce, assemble, sell and
Co., Ltd. (*Faurecia’) Mainland China deliver car seats and related parts
covering the whole car chair, seat
frame, seat foam and seat cover;
and provision of after-sales service
and technical development service
ABETAEBHERAT ARE 8/ HER FE 4E A% BERERARE
(Tf5z]) 200,000,0007C BREBTRAERE  BRER
B A RERENDENRRH
ERRHRHNFE RS
Tianjin Hongdi Financial Lease RMB400,000,000  PRC/ 25% 33% 25%  Finance leasing business; leasing
Co., Ltd. (“Tianjin Hongdi") Mainland China business; purchase of leased
assets at home and abroad;
disposal of residual value and
maintenance of leased property;
leasing transaction consulting
services;
RELERENEARLA ARE 8/ HERS REBSEY HEEK BRHMEE
(BS=v~:1) 400,000,0007C RERE HENENBEELER

g MERSHHARS
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

20.

REEQRNERE (&)

Percentage of

Particulars of  Place of frEEA
registered  registration Ownership ~ Voting Profit
Name capital held  and business interest power sharing  Principal activities
8 FEEmEsEn BERERMYE FEERE REER 2GRN FERE
Yinchuan Sky Rail Operation RMB1,200,000  PRC/ 40% 33% 40%  Clear in laws and regulations or
Co., Ltd. (*Yinchuan Operation”) Mainland China approved by the State Council
BNEREZERAR ([RIER]) ARE  HRE/RER RERREE RS EBR AN
1,200,007 £%
Dongguan Tec-Rich Engineering RMB20,000,000  PRC/ 32.5% 33% 32.5%  Research and development,
Co., Ltd. ("Dongguan Tec-Rich Mainland China production, sales, leasing,
Engineering”) installation, maintenance and
technical consultation of precision
equipment and instruments;
processing and sales of machinery
and equipment parts; computer
software development, sales and
technical services;
RREREERBEARLA ARE 8/ HERS e rEHE BE RE 48
(IR=RH)) 20,000,0007C NRRERBRIENRIHN #
BREETHEMIRES  HE#
AMEE - HERRMRS
Allystar Technology (Shenzhen) RMB588,596,541  PRC/ 6.93% 14% 6.93%  Research and development of chips,

Co. Ltd (“Allystar’)

RIERI AR AT
(XL

Mainland China

ARE 8/ RERD
588,596,5417C

algorithms, modules and terminals;
production of terminal products;
design, integration, testing and
sales of chips, algorithms, modules
and terminal products; design,
sales, technical consultation and
technological transfer of operating
systems and application software
of related products; investment in
startup; import and export of goods
and technologies

Th B BRGNS : K5
EmiEE: Bh  BE BRAK
HEMMRE - &N AIFEAHEE
REERNBREZRRERR MR
it HE - BOTEARRTER 8l
ERE  ENARIMELD
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REEQRNRE (&)

TRHBERLFBEANAREGE AT
VAR E AR :

2020 2019

—EB-BF —TNF

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBETTT

Share of associates’ profit for the year RNEE D (REE DA A 9,697 11,282

Share of associates’ total comprehensive DGHEE R RRERE AT 9,697 11,282

income

Elimination of unrealised profit/(loss) SREH AR IR (E58) 2,856 450
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s REEREERARINKRE

investments in associates BB RREE 1,022,781 955,030

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 21. UAAEBETENstAHMGEES RS

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME HERRE
2020 2019
—Z-EF —ZT—hEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARETT ARBET T

Listed equity investments, at fair value NAREBEFEN EHERKRE

Holitech Technology Co., Ltd. ENFEHE RO BR AT 1,420,080 1,922,304

The above listed equity investments were irrevocably
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income as the Group considers these investments to be
strategic in nature.

A SR L 4 R R R SR R
B WESRATTREEEE AR A
BB AR A 2 o
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22. COMPLETED PROPERTY HELD FOR SALE 22. REHEERIYXE
2020 2019
—2-%F _—T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ARBTT ARBFT
Completed property held for sale, at cost: FHEHERRITYE « KK :
At the beginning of year REH 3,365,916 3,950,676
Recognised in the statement of RIBR KR (465,064) (584,760)
profit or loss
At end of year RER 2,900,852 3,365,916
* The above completed property held for sale were - ERFBEHERRIMERN_T—+
a property named Yadi Sancun which has been FE-REHECEBENTBE=NY
purchased from a real estate enterprises in 2017. E
23. INVENTORIES 23. FE
2020 2019
—B®HF —ZT-hHF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFT
Raw materials R 4,346,508 3,650,668
Work in progress TR 9,912,370 10,982,781
Finished goods LURK oh 16,639,924 10,124,766
Moulds held for production FEEERE 497,556 813,349
31,396,358 25,571,564
24. TRADE RECEIVABLES 24, FEWEZEN
2020 2019
—g-8F —T-hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFT
Trade receivables FEME 5 BR 41,474,843 41,697,960
Impairment B (2,166,947)  (1,563,415)
39,307,896 40,134,545
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

For sales of traditional fuel automobiles, payment in
advance, mainly in the form of bank bills, is normally
required. For sales of new energy automobiles, the Group
generally provides the customers with a credit period
of one to twelve months or allow the customers to make
instalment payments in twelve to twenty-four months.

For sales under other segments, the Group’s trading terms
with its customers are mainly on credit, except for new
customers, where payment in advance is normally required.
The credit period is generally one to three months. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. At the end of
the reporting period, the Group had certain concentrations
of credit risk as 11% (2019: 8%) and 25% (2019: 22%)
of the Group’s trade receivables were due from the
Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers,
respectively. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable
balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net
of loss allowance, is as follows:

24.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

FEWE 5 BRFk (4R)

SRIHEEGMRmIEMS -  BEETPAMN
RITALERIAN KR - SAFEERITEHE
s ARE—RAFFPREHE—Z+=@A
MEEH IAFAFTFPFRT_E-1+MEAR
M 2 IS 3R -

Hitp D #f i E - ARBEEATFNE
SEFRZBRELA - EHEFPAATE
NRERS - EEHBES—==@A -
BREPHERREERE

7R 62 (B 75 S S AR LA 1 o B K P R A 5 R AR B
o URAEEEEAPIARDEERR
BREEABERRMBHELR - NIBED
R AEEEETEEETRER  REAK
SEEXAEBERAEPRELARRAER
WEWRESERD N R11% (ZF—hEF
8%) K25% (ZF—NF : 22%) - A&EHE
W\t HEE 5 IR RS 15 A E R E IR @
FEMERRRE - BREE SRR ASTE

B o

o

RI|EHR - REZ AR NGB REBD
JEW B ZRRAE R AT

2020 2019

—EEF —E-NF

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®ET T ARBT T

Within three months =@ARA 18,595,895 16,646,431
Four to six months m=ENEA 2,308,395 7,300,248
Seven months to one year tEAZE—%F 3,612,798 6,023,355
One to two years —EWF 11,429,333 8,107,967
Two to three years ME=F 2,665,393 1,369,674
Over three years =FRE 696,082 686,870
39,307,896 40,134,545

The government subsidies of new energy automobiles
sales are included in the above trade receivables.

LIt E 5 8RR S T ee IR TR i B BUT
BESR o
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24,

S

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables are as follows:

FEWE 5 BRFk (4R)

JEWE 5B FURE B 18 BB 5 Z EH 5 m
™~

2020 2019

—E-ZHF ZE-NF

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBTT

At beginning of year REF] 1,563,415 1,097,917
Impairment losses RIEEE 1,114,205 722,670
Impairment losses reversed R EEE (465,435) (217,856)
Amount written off as uncollectible MEEEE N E SR (43,675) (38,386)
Exchange realignments b H % (1,563) (930)
At end of year RER 2,166,947 1,563,415

The increase in the loss allowance was due to the following:
1) Increase in the loss allowance of RMB441,315,000 as a
result of an increase in trade receivables whose credit risk
exposure was individually assessed; and 2) An increase
in ECLs resulted in increase in the loss allowance of trade
receivables.

The increase in the loss allowance of 2019 was due to the
following significant changes in the gross carrying amount:
Increase in the loss allowance of RMB614,283,000 as a
result of an increase in trade receivables whose credit risk
exposure was individually assessed.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix or individually assessed
to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates
of the provision matrix are based on the invoice date for
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns by product type. The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

EEBEENHERTIREA - 1) EERR
W B 8 T A0 FE IR B 5 BR UL 008 BUES
EREEIE I AR 441,315,000t : M2) 8
HEEBEGINESRERE SRR EER
g -

TE-NFEEREEMLAN T RmE
BHREAEY - FERRM O EEBT
HEWE ZRFIENEBEREIZMAR
#614,283,0007T °

RS B EREE F B  SE R o (R Bl T A AT
WEDT - LETETEHEERIE - B2 &
HEDENZRERELE S A EUEERE
A ZEEF DA AR R B EE RS
ZETERMTHMEMELER  BE¥RBEE
&F#&iElT?E Eﬁﬁfﬁﬂ£$1 - BRI
# e
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a

provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2020

24.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

FEW B 2 AR ()

DT B4 50 P M 55 8 3 PR A
PR AR -

R-Z2-F2F+-A=t+—H

Gross Expected Expected
carrying credit credit
amount losses loss rate
BHEE

REAE BAHEEEE BE=E

(RMB’000)  (RMB’000)
(AR%T ) (AR®TFx)

Individually assessed
Based on provision matrix

(EGIEEE
PR Bt AE bR

1,578,142 1,369,575 86.78%
39,896,701 797,372 2.00%

41,474,843 2,166,947

As at 31 December 2019

R-ZZE—-h&E+=ZHA=+—H

Gross Expected Expected
carrying credit credit
amount losses loss rate
BHEE

REMAE BHEEEE EE X

(RMB’'000)  (RMB’'000)
(ARBTT) (AR¥EFIT)

Individually assessed
Based on provision matrix

(EGIEEE
R ERE

1,331,858 1,005,041 75.46%
40,366,102 568,374 1.38%

41,697,960 1,563,415
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 24,

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a
provision matrix:

New energy business (include subsidies to new
energy automobile products)

FEW B 2 AR ()

VAT 851 AN 5% (B e W B 5 B SR £ PR R f A e

MEERBREFR

HEERER (BEFEFTEERNER)

Ageing as at 31 December 2020
RZB-BE+ZA=+-BHER

Within Four to Seven months Over
three months  six months  to one year one year Total
AR NZxEE  tHERZE-F —EhE ait
Expected credit loss rate BHEEFR 0.72% 1.45% 1.86% 2.26% 1.87%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) FmaE(ARETL) 4,275,542 1,271,667 2,579,376 14,068,792 22,195,377
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEBR (ARETT) 30,595 18,433 48,025 317,559 414,612
Ageing as at 31 December 2019
RZB-NETZA=T-BHER
Within Fourto  Seven months Over
three months six months to one year one year Total
AR ME~EAR  tEAZ-F —FE ait
Expected credit loss rate SEEGR {720 0.53% 0.84% 1.18% 171% 1.18%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) EHBEARETT) 4,543 202 6,331,752 5,141,348 9756797 25773099
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEFE(ARETT) 23,908 53,426 60,809 166,925 305,068
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 24. EWREZERX (&)
Non-new energy business IEFRERER
Ageing as at 31 December 2020
RZB-BETZA=T-BHER
Within Fourto Seven months Over
three months  six months  to one year one year Total
=fBRR mEAER  tEAE-E —EhE fit
Expected credit loss rate BHEEERE 0.44% 0.52% 0.37% 21.91% 2.16%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) FASE(ARETT) 14413685 1070232 1,107,517 1,109,890 17,701,324
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEER(ARETR) 63,313 5,534 4,128 309,785 382,760
Ageing as at 31 December 2019
RZE-NEtZF=+-RNER
Within Fourto  Seven months Over
three months six months to one year one year Total
=@ARK mEAER  tEAZE-F —EpE At
Expected credit loss rate BHEEERE 0.52% 0.38% 0.35% 41.89% 1.74%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) BESE(\RETT) 12,175,969 1,026,641 953,741 436,652 14,593,003
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BHEEFR(ARETR) 63,151 3,888 3,354 182,913 253,306
TRADE RECEIVABLE FINANCING 25, EWRFIERE
2020 2019
—BBHE —E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T AR¥EFTTT
Commercial acceptance bills AT ERE 13,834 192,510
Bank acceptance bills RITAE K EiE 8,930,479 6,886,161
8,944,313 7,078,671
Less: other comprehensive income — change  Ji @ Hibsr A Uzs — A4 EEES 81,973 69,292
in fair value
8,862,340 7,009,379

The Group reclassified bills receivable into financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
presented as trade receivable financing. As of 31
December 2020, the accumulated impairment provision
for trade receivable financing provided by the Group was
RMB13,878,000 (31 December 2019: RMB13,549,000).

REBMBERKEESHTHOBEUAABER
BV AEMGAKSENESEEE 295
EWHERE HE-_T-_TF+-_A=1
—H - AEERERGIEREFHEN RETR
EEEB ARE13,878,0007T (ZE—hE+
ZA=+—H: AR#¥13,549,0007T) °
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26.

27.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 26. FEfFIE  HttEWEIREMEE

OTHER ASSETS

31 December

31 December

2020 2019
e —TNEF
+=A=+—HB +=ZA=+—H~
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFT

Non-current portion FERNERER >
Prepayment for items of property, plant and ¥ - BiE MR EEB 2,561,700 4,953,771

equipment K TR IR
Others Hh 108,418 349,383
Current portion BVERER &>

Deposits and other receivables e M E At fE UBR 3R 5,236,813 5,768,723
Impairment BUE (95,422) (95,490)
5,141,391 5,673,233
Prepayments TR FRIE 724,350 362,761
Loans to employees EEEE 45,944 42 461
5,911,685 6,078,455

At 31 December 2020, an impairment loss of
RMB95,422,000 (2019: RMB95,490,000) has been
provided, including a full provision for a deposit of
RMB94,616,000 (2019: RMB94,616,000) paid to a supplier.

RZZE_FE+-_A=+—H BELER
EBEEEARKIS5 422,000 (ZE—H
£ AR#95,490,0007T) *© BIEGH A —
ZHERNIZE AR 94,616,000 (= F

—NE - AR¥94,616,0007T) 5HIE 5 585

& -

CONTRACT ASSETS 27. EREE
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZT—hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR® Tt ARBET T

Contract assets arising from: MTYIEEEENEGREE

Sale of goods and construction services SHE S m M ER 5,635,217 7,061,365
Impairment A (289,112) (74,746)
5,346,105 6,986,619
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CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

The increase in the net carrying amount of contract
assets in 2020 and 2019 was the result of the increase
in the ongoing sale of goods at the end of each of
the years. During the year ended 31 December 2020,
RMB289,112,000 (2019: RMB74,746,000) was recognised
as an allowance for expected credit losses on contract
assets. The Group’s trading terms and credit policy with
customers are disclosed in note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract
assets as at 31 December is as follows:

27.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

EREE (&)

ZECERER-IT-NFERAEEREFE
BINMRAASSFREMEEFEL MM
BH-BHE_T_TFF+-_A=T—HIEF
- AR#289,112,0007T (ZZE—NF : A
R#74,746,00070) EERAE R EETEH
EEEERE ASBEZFHNEHBRHR R
FEEBRBEEREG I EmEMTT24 -

E’”r:ﬂ =t—R AREENEFRERK
BmERBENT

2020 2019
—ECTF —E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T AR®ET T
Within one year —FR 5,588,617 7,061,365
After one year —Fi% 46,600 -
5,635,217 7,061,365

The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of EREENREBERECEZFHUT

contract assets is as follows:

2020 2019
—E-EF —hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AR®ET T
At beginning of year REA] 74,746 94,570
Impairment losses, net BEEEFE 214,366 (19,824)
At end of year REXR 289,112 74,746

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
to measure expected credit losses. The Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating expected credit losses.

REREBIETRED N - ATEEHE
EER - ARBERABETERBERES

& o
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27. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued) 27.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s contract assets using a provision

EREE (&)

UNTHINAREEREEEBBRERERENE
ERBRER

matrix:
2020 2019
—T=-TF T NF
Expected credit loss rate FEHIEEEEX 5.13% 1.06%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) EEAE(AREFT) 5,635,217 7,061,365
Expected credit losses (RMB’000) FEAEEEE (ARETFT) (289,112) (74,746)

28. LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES 28. RHIEWERER

2020 2019
—EEF —E-hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T T AR®ET T
Long-term receivables REIFE U BR X 1,878,736 1,264,256
Impairment pEREN (73,823) (23,916)

1,804,913 1,240,340

During the year, the discount rate used for recognising
goods sold by instalments ranged from 4.75% to 4.90%
(2019: 4.75% to 4.90%).

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
long-term receivables are as follows:

FR - BEROPUTHEEREBNITE X
NF4.75%%F4.90% (ZE—NE : 4.75% %
4.90%) °

RHEEUR R BEBIEREZSHIT

2020 2019
—ECEHF —E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARBTR AR®BTRT

At beginning of year REFA] 23,916 35,095
Impairment losses, net REEERE 49,907 (11,179)
At end of year RER 73,823 23,916
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LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group's long-term receivables using a

provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2020

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

RIEWERRR (&)

AT 8051 74 8 55 0 M B 5 9 B JE
SRR AR -

R-Z2-F2F+-A=t+—H

Gross Expected Expected
carrying credit credit
amount losses loss rate
BHEE

REAE BAHEEEE BE=E

(RMB’000)  (RMB’000)
(AR%T ) (AR®TFx)

Based on provision matrix B 8 1 2B [ 1,878,736 73,823 3.93%
1,878,736 73,823
As at 31 December 2019 R=ZB—-h&E+=-A=+—H
Gross Expected Expected
carrying credit credit
amount losses loss rate
EHEEE
FREBE EBHEEEE EE=E
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(ARBFT) (ARETT)
Individually assessed (ERIRRES 39,742 20,369 51.25%
Based on provision matrix HAREER 1,224,514 3,547 0.29%

1,264,256 23,916
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29.

S

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED 29.

BANK DEPOSITS AND SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS

REeERBETEEY IRHABRTEN

REHERFR
2020 2019
—?——\'ﬂz :ifﬂi
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Kzt ARBTR ARETT

Cash and bank balances 0 & RRITER 11,238,498 11,674,297
Time deposits TEBIER 3,206,532 975,786
14,445,030 12,650,083
Less: Ve
Pledged deposits [EEwcireE- (i) (429,041) (837,921)
Restricted bank deposits Z R HI BRI TR (ii) (277,491) (137,865)
Cash and cash equivalents HekReZEEY (iii) 13,738,498 11,674,297
Notes: Biat -

(i) At 31 December 2020, a bank deposit of
RMB429,041,000 (2019: RMB837,921,000) was
pledged for bank acceptance bills and letters of credit.

(i) The balance of restricted bank deposits as at 31
December 2020 mainly represented the balance of
a guarantee deposit required by the bank under a
tri-lateral agreement between a subsidiary of the
Company, the bank and a third-party supplier.

(iii) At the end of the reporting period, cash and cash
equivalents of the Group denominated in Renminbi
(“RMB”) amounted to RMB10,887,983,000 (2019:
RMB8,079,731,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies. However, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Most of the bank balances,
pledged deposits and restricted bank deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

(if)

(i)

RZBZEF+=-A=+—8" Eaffﬁ
TARIEEREABRBRITERA
#429,041,0007T (ZE—N4F - /\E
#837,921,0007T) °

RIZBZZE+-A=+—BHNXREH
RITIFRAER T ZERITREBEAR RN
BRE - RIRE=FHEBN=T71%
BT ERAVRFE DR

RBEHR  AEENRE KBS E
MAARE(TARBDFE  EAR
#10,887,983,0007C (ZZ—AF : A
Emzs 079,731,0007T) ° HEARAARE

BEERABRAREMERBIRERH
ﬂiﬁﬁﬁh[ BAEPI R 4508 - S8 RS
EEERMATE  AEEEERBERER
TINEEBNRITHBRAREAEME
mé} °

fﬁﬁfﬁmﬁEI%E%?T%X?’F'J%E%HNE??%?r
HEOMEB - REDRITHEER  CHEBERK
PR IR 1T 17 5K BOR f  BA ¥ R R IR RC 8%

BizE

RIIFHYERTT »
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An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

EBRNESRRRRE

R|EHR - BNESERARFERERER
HeRER DT

as follows:
2020 2019
—T=%FF T NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR%T ARBET T
Within three months —@AR 39,300,148 25,808,926
Four to six months mEREA 7,281,323 8,065,446
Seven months to one year tRAzZ—%F 2,606,167 905,861
One to two years —EWE 399,682 379,794
Two to three years ME=F 123,549 127,424
Over three years =FUE 80,761 53,211
49,791,630 35,340,662

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are

normally settled within terms of 30 to 180 days.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

ERESERIDITEE - —MIE308£180
HEAR A AT -

HttENRERETER

2020 2019

=2==2 —E-NE

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARET T ARBTT

Other payables Hth B 38 10,700,809 6,865,958
Accrued payroll =y 4,835,248 3,782,780
15,536,057 10,648,738

Other payables are non-interest-bearing
average term of three months.

and have an

Hip A HIAL TEE - FHHAR B =1
H o
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32.

33.

“EFT-A=t-A
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32. {TA€mTIA
2020 2019
ZEZEE “Z-NE
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
EE afE BE B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARETR AR®EFTT ARETT
Foreign currency forward contracts INEEEAR 24 57,541 34,345 34,307
Portion classified as current: AEHREH D
Foreign currency forward contracts SNEEEER 24 57,541 34,345 34,307
Non-hedging derivatives: FEHHLTETA :
The Group has entered into various foreign currency REB DN ZMINERIA R AE IR E X
forward contracts to manage its exchange rate exposures, WA GBS R AAFEE RS ERE 2K
which did not meet the criteria for hedge accounting. o EEHTETANAABEEHBHEY
Losses on changes in the fair value of non-hedging AR®57, 55500070 (ZZE—NF : WZEFL
derivatives amounting to approximately RMB57,555,000 AR#8,146,00070) ' ERAFEZAN
were charged to profit or loss during the year (2019: gains BroefTHESRTI AR —FREIE -
of approximately RMB8,146,000). The maturity of derivative
financial instruments is within one year.
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 33. AEAME
Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2020 and KRB _EFR - ZE-—NF+_A=+—H
2019 are as follows: ERBEMNFHBENT :
31 December 31 December 1 January
2020 2019 2019
R+=A=+—-H W+=—A=+—8 m—H—H
—EEF — N — N
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T ARBFTT
Short-term advances received BE PR AR
from customers
Sale of housing HERE 724,040 301,987 588,579
Sale of goods HEMM 7,461,848 4,200,152 2,880,535
Total contract liabilities aRAGEHEE 8,185,888 4,502,139 3,469,114
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CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 33. ERAfE (&)
Contract liabilities mainly represent receipts in advance ERABETZERENBAREZAEERE
from customers prior to the satisfaction of performance PWEBIBRIE - Z& BEBKRARKREER
obligations. The relevant income from such contract ERBHOETRHER - EAZEBERAT - &
is recognised upon satisfaction of the performance SEBEENBHNET  WEKITFEN
obligations by the Group. In most cases, the Group RIBIEH) —FARERIA
generally satisfies the performance obligations and
recognises the income within one year upon receipt of
payment in advance from customers.
DEFERRED INCOME 34. EZEWA
2020 2019
et 242 “E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Government grants and subsidies TR #6 Bh K 4 b 2,269,176 2,232,101
Others HAith - -
2,269,176 2,232,101
Current portion TEENES
Others HAth - -
Non-current portion IERENEB D 2,269,176 2,232,101
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34. DEFERRED INCOME (continued)

The movements in deferred income related to government

34, EIEWA (E)

RER - BT B Ko 1 f6 A BE ROIR B U A

grants and subsidies during the year are as follows: KRB EIINT

2020 2019

—ECEF —E-NEF

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBTT

At 1 January Rn—H—H 2,232,101 2,410,994
Received during the year FARB W 1,714,998 1,506,378
Returned during the year FHNER (10,070) (7,998)
Released to profit or loss FEEER (1,667,853) (1,677,273)
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 2,269,176 2,232,101
Non-current portion IEMENER D 2,269,176 2.232,101

Various government grants have been received for
basic research and development activities. Government
grants received for which related expenditure has not yet
been undertaken are included in deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position. A certain grant
received relates to an asset is also credited to deferred

B=iE -

income and is released to profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

ERERMRERFAEEZDRNZ BRTRE
B ERAPARAXARIERBFMIE
FARHPBRRRNELZRA - BT HE
M2 B BT H B I E FEARIER A
YHERBEEERFHRASFREED HH
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 35. ESHBITREMMER
BORROWINGS
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
ZBIRETCACT-B I 2l
Effective interest Effective interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB'000 rate (%) Maturity RMB'000
ERil% Uik
(%) B8R ARETI (%) BER ARETR
Current il
Bark oans - unsecured BiTES - BEA 106413 W1 15633864 148479 00 B3
“E-f C5EE
31 LIBORz100bps-12M 2021 766,326 LIBOR+ 2020 1732,024
LIBORz140bps 45bps-1100ps
MEARIRARE 3% hygnmEry  C50F
FEA00BEL12fER 5 FES - 110EEL
RERIRERS
HA0EEY
Current porton of long-term bank loans - secured ~ REFFETNEHA - AEE 3.00-4.75 2021 39M 817 300537 200 4107471
“§--F o5°%%
Current portion of long-term bank loans - unseowred  REFTERHTHHS - E5A 340-5.46 2021 3,310,000 369546 200 1,328,000
It b 5%
Current portion of other bortowings - Secured Epfstiians - sEA -
Curtent porton of other borrowings - unsecured — ZRfEEATHTA - EEA - -
Other loans - unsecured Efpfes - 2R (m) 4% (m) 200000
23,652,507 45,970,940
Super short-term debentures BREERES 360391 (k) 4,997 982
Corporate bonds - unsecured DA% - BER 498517 (e), (f) and (g) 3,992,136 487575 (d)and (f) 3,0929%
(¢) (R(g) (dR(])
27,644,643 54,061,858
Non-current #ird
Bank loans - secured B - pEA 490 090 27,601
- 2
3.00-4.75 2025 109,620 3.00-475 202 125,011
ZECRE “E0nf
Bank loans - unsecured FER-EIA 3.10-6.60 2030 14,635,875 3.69-6.60 2028 1179320
23%% 2o
Other borrowings - secured Epfes- B EA -
14,745,495 11,047,932
Corporate bonds - unsecured DA% - A 356487 (), (n), (i) 8,880,459 46575 (e)(0) ), 9,968 555
() and {) fiyand ()
(@t (o)
(iR0) (i) &()
23,625,954 21,916,487
51,270,597 75,978,345
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35. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 35. :EHITREMMER (A
BORROWINGS (continued)

2020 2019
—B-%F -—ThF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

Analysed into: DA
Bank loans repayable: JEEBIRITER :
Within one year —FR 23,652,507 45,970,940
In the second year FFR 5,791,296 7,819,437
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZEZERFAN(BREEREMTE) 8,708,194 3,961,097
Beyond five years AF LA 246,005 167,398
38,398,002 57,918,872
Corporate bonds NaElEH
Within one year (notes (e) (f) and (g)) —FRN (Hite)  (HL(g)) 3,992,136 3,092,936
In the second to fifth years (notes (d), (h), FEZEFRFAN (M)~ (h) - 8,880,459 9,968,555
(i), (j) and (1)), inclusive )R (BIEERME)
12,872,595 13,061,491
Super short-term debentures B HR B H
Within one year (note (k)) —FWN (it k) - 4,997,982
- 4,997,982
51,270,597 75,978,345
Notes: e -
(a)  Certain of the Group's bank loans are secured by: (a) AEEEFTROTERDUATIEEE
#

(i) mortgages over certain of the Group’s freehold (i) REERMEHARNE T KA
land and buildings with an aggregate carrying XEITHEEFEREDAE
value at the end of the reporting period #“AEARE191,209,0007T (=
of approximately RMB191,209,000 (2019: T—hF : AR¥209,019,000
RMB209,019,000) (note 14). 7t) (fisE14) -

(i) mortgages over certain of the Group's motor (i) AREERREHNRHETER
vehicles with an aggregate carrying value at TAEHEERENRARE
the end of the reporting period of approximately 1,781,000L (ZZE—NF : A

RMB1,781,000 (2019: RMB2,088,000) (note 14). R#2,088,0007T) (KizE14) »
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

In addition, the Company has guaranteed certain of the
Group’s bank loans of up to RMB27,967,203,000 (2019:
RMB45,464,912,000) as at the end of the reporting
period.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the
Company’s bank borrowings approximate to their fair
values.

Except for bank loans of RMB1,375,451,000 (2019:
RMB2,403,790,000) which are denominated in United
States dollars (“US$”), nil (2019: RMB992,000) in
Singaporean dollars and nil (2019: RMB6,410,000) in
Japanese yen, all borrowings are denominated in RMB.

On 15 June 2017, the Company issued
RMB1,500,000,000 corporate bonds. The bonds have
a maturity of five years due in 2022 and bear a fixed
interest rate of 4.87% per annum to be paid annually.
Investors have the right to sell back all or part of
their bonds at par value to the Company on the third
interest payment date (15 June 2020), or release the
investor sell-back option. The bonds were listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 14 July 2017.

On 12 April 2018, the Company issued
RMB3,000,000,000 corporate bonds. The bonds have
a maturity of five years due in 2023 and bear a fixed
interest rate of 5.17% per annum to be paid annually.
Investors have the right to sell back all or part of
their bonds at par value to the Company on the third
interest payment date (12 April 2021), or release the
investor sell-back option. The bonds were listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 4 June 2018.

On 22 August 2018, the Company issued
RMB1,600,000,000 corporate bonds. The bonds have
a maturity of four years due in 2022 and bear a fixed
interest rate of 5.75% per annum to be paid annually.
Investors have the right to sell back all or part of their
bonds at par value to the Company on the second
interest payment date (22 August 2020), or release the
investor sell-back option. The bonds were listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 25 September 2018. As
of 31 December 2020, the corporate bonds had been
repaid in full.

35.
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sHERTREMER (&)

Hrat : (&)

(a)

(c)

(%)

AN - ARBRREBARE BEAEE &
% A ANR#27,967,203,0007C (= F—
N 2 AR#45,464,912,0007T) HF
FRITERELIER -

AN ER B ] R B B SR 1T A8 SR 6 B 0 £
HERARBEMRE -

BB ARM1,375,451,0007C (=
T—NF : AR%2,403,790,0007T)
RIRTTERAELFE  @8AZT (=
T—hF + AR®992,0007T) HIERTT
BRI Tt EAR AT (=
2 hE - AR®6,410,0007T) BAH
TLRHE - FTBEREUAREHE -

RZZ—+FRNATHB » AQRET
AR#1,500,000,000 WA FIMES °
BERZTZ_FHEH AHAF -
RETFENEL87%tE  BENE—
R REERERE=ZENLEB ("Z
ZEFEXNATRA) RAAEREARD
@ﬁ%%i%ﬁ%%viﬁ%&ﬁ%%
ELERE - NEEN T —+F+LA+
MBERYEELZSET LT ©

RZE—N\FHEA+=H  XRAFET
AR #3,000,000,000TH A RIES ©
BER-ZE-_=ZF3H BHAF -
BETEFFREAT%E  BEME—
W &é%ﬁ%?“‘ﬂﬁgﬁ(_v
——FMNA+—H) EEERAR
CE2EHHITDES imﬁ&éﬁﬁ
EEERE - NEFR T N\F AN
BEFRIIFESZSAHT LT °

RZE-NFENAZ+ZH  KAQA
%17 AR ¥1,600,000,000 LA A A&
5 BFR-ZT-_F3H AT
F - RETFMNES75%E - BFN

B—R -BELEARNE_MENER
(_7_ SENA -+ ZR) REERA
RAECHEEHRENES - HWER

BEERIREE - AMEHFRZT—N\F
NBZ+EBERYBHZSH LT °
BE-T-ZF+-A=+—H0 27
BEHDETHEE -
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35.

S

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(9) On 18 December 2018, the Company issued
RMB1,000,000,000 corporate bonds. The bonds have
a maturity of five years due in 2023 and bear a fixed
interest rate of 4.98% per annum to be paid annually.
Investors have the right to sell back all or part of their
bonds at par value to the Company on the third interest
payment date (21 December 2021), or release the
investor sell-back option. The bonds were listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 29 January 2019.

(h) On 22 February 2019, the Company issued
RMB2,500,000,000 corporate bonds. The bonds have
a maturity of five years due in 2024 and bear a fixed
interest rate of 4.60% per annum to be paid annually.
Investors have the right to sell back all or part of their
bonds at par value to the Company on the third interest
payment date (22 February 2022), or release the
investor sell-back option. The bonds were listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 13 March 2019.

(i On 17 June 2019, the Company issued
RMB1,000,000,000 corporate bonds. The bonds have
a maturity of five years due in 2024 and bear a fixed
interest rate of 4.86% per annum to be paid annually.
Investors have the right to sell back all or part of
their bonds at par value to the Company on the third
interest payment date (14 June 2022), or release the
investor sell-back option. The bonds were listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 11 July 2019.

) On 9 August 2019, the Company issued
RMB2,500,000,000 corporate bonds. The bonds have
a maturity of five years due in 2024 and bear a fixed
interest rate of 4.80% per annum to be paid annually.
Investors have the right to sell back all or part of
their bonds at par value to the Company on the third
interest payment date (9 August 2022), or release the
investor sell-back option. The bonds were listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 15 August 2019.

35.

sHERTREMER (&)

Wizt - (&)

(9)

RZF-—NF+=ZA+NA  KAA
?5‘ 771 AR#1,000,000,000 7T 2 Rl f&
CEFN-_ZE_Z=FFH - AHA
F o ?;zlmiﬂ?zt 98%ET R - BFMN
B—R-KREEBRRE=EANER
:2?:*¢+fﬂf+*5)ﬁzﬁ@ﬁﬂ
ARREMERHLIADES - RHE
REEEOEER - BFRN T NF
—AZTNABERINBSFZ S L

e 5

Hi

RZFE-—hhFZA=Z+=ZB  £2AF
17 AR 2, 500,000,000 T KA AIfE
5 BHFR-_T-_MNFHH AR
F - ?EI;EE%'J?AL 60%:T B - BEHF
MNE—R - EEEENE=ENEH
TECCFZACH R EREAERAK
ARIEBEEIRI D ES - KHER
BEEREERE BHFER-_T—NF=
A+=RERINBEHX ST LT »

‘UIJH

RZZT—AFARATLER  ARFRET
AR #¥1,000,000,000 TR A AIES o
BEER-_ZTIUFEE  AEAF 1%
EEFFEL.86%51E - HEFHE—
R BEEBHRE=ZANBER(=ZF
ZZFXNATHEA) REERARRE
EIEE2HAIHES  INEREEE
EliEEE - EFR T —NFLtA+—
BIERYIBEEZH LT o

—NENANB  ARAETA
F#2,500,000,000 TH A FIES - &
FR_Z-_MFEE - BHEF &
EEFFEL80%:TE  BEEHE—
Ko BEERERE=ARERA(=Z
ZZFENANB) REERARRER
Hegf @ ES - AREREEED
BEE - BHER-TE—NFEN\A+EAB
ERYIBHZ S LT -
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Notes: (continued)

(k)

(m)

On 17 July 2019, the Company issued the Eighth
Tranche Super Short-term Debenture in 2019, with an
aggregate amount of RMB1.0 billion and an interest
rate of 3.91%, valid within 270 days. On 26 July
2019, the Company issued the Ninth Tranche Super
Short-term Debenture in 2019, with an aggregate
amount of RMB2.0 billion and an interest rate of
3.84%, valid within 270 days. On 14 August 2019, the
Company issued the Tenth Tranche of Super Short-
term Debenture in 2019, with an aggregate amount
of RMB2.0 billion and an interest rate of 3.60%, valid
within 268 days. As of 31 December 2020, these Super
Short-term Debentures had been repaid in full.

On 22 April 2020, BYD was approved by the China
Securities Regulatory Commission to publicly issue
corporate bonds (Phase |) (Epidemic Prevention and
Control Bond) (abbreviated as “20YDO01”, bond code
“149101”) to qualified investors (“CSRC Approval
[2020] No. 587"). The bond has a term of 5 years, with
the issuer’s option to adjust the coupon rate and the
investors’ option to sell back at the end of the third
year. The final issue size was RMB2,000,000,000, with
a coupon rate of 3.56%.

As at 31 December 2020, there were no unsecured
loans due to joint ventures for the Group (2019:
RMB200,000,000).

B 5 ¥ R B
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35. FTESITREMER (&)

Wizt - (&)

(k) RZE—AFLA++ER  KNARET
—E-NFEF\HBEHRES
BTHBARBEI0EI  B#IARE
3.91%  HIR270K : R-ZT—NEt
AZ+XA  AAREITZZE—LEFE
FNHBEHRMES  BITREARE
2018 7T + BITHIE A3.84%  HIBR270
X RZE-AFNATTEA - AR
BT _Z-NEEFETHBRYHRE
% BITHBARB20ET - BITHE
53.60%  HifR268K - HE-T-F
F+-A=Z+—8 ZHBEHRES
OEEEREE -

0 NZB-_TEWNA-+=-H - @
FPEELFEETEZESIERARE
BEAHABTARESR (B—H) (BB
PriefE) (E5 208801 @ &
RAE[149101)) ([FEFFR][2020]58
1) o EHHRASFH  WEIFX
BOTAABREMAREERENRES
ElIERERE ZEBITHEAARKE
2,000,000,0007T * SEEFF &3.56% °

(m) #HEZ-_ZF+-_A=1+—H %&
ErERMNESOEZEEFAER (=
ZT—NF  AR¥200,000,0007T) °

PROVISION 36. &
Warranties
RA

2020 2019
—F-%F T NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T ARBET T
At 1 January Rn—A—H 1,824,194 1,854,627
Provision for the year FEABE 812,806 695,252
Amounts utilised during the year FRETHERE (698,311) (725,685)
At 31 December R+-—A=+—H 1,938,689 1,824,194
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36.

37.

PROVISION (continued) 36. & (&)
The Group provides warranties on automobiles and the REBEAERMHERA - WABHEBSIER
undertaking to repair or replace items that fail to perform BITTRMEMDY - BEARBOEED
satisfactorily. The amount of the provision for the warranties ERHES U B RKERE KRBT HEM
is estimated based on sales volumes and past experience TEH e - B EEDEIFETETNEE
of the level of repairs and returns. The estimation basis RrEIBET -
is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where
appropriate.
OTHER LIABILITIES 37. HM&EE
2020 2019
—E-ZHF —E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBEFTT
Long-term payables RHEER B - -
Investment repurchase right* A SO 2,772,729 -
Financial guarantee contracts BIERE R 36,179 18,855
Others HAh 192,239 192,239
3,001,147 211,094

On 26 May 2020, BYD held the 38th Meeting of the
Sixth Session of the Board and the “Resolution on the
Introduction of Strategic Investors by the Controlled
Subsidiary” was considered and approved. It agreed
the Company and BYD Semiconductor entered into
the Investment Agreement and the Shareholders’
Agreement and appendices thereof with other strategic
investors. Pursuant to the above agreements, the
Company shall repurchase the equity interests of
BYD Semiconductor held by these strategic investors
at a fixed consideration under some specific agreed
circumstance. For the year ended 31 December 2020,
the present value of such repurchase obligation of
RMB2,772,729,000 (31 December 2019: Nil).

The financial guarantee contracts represent guarantees
given to financial institutions in connection with facilities
granted to customers.

2020F5A26H LM BHAENE
EEEFE-TN\ASH FHABT
(EARERT ARSI ABBREENZ
B) AEARRARAEEZ FARL
DEFEERE-FREAERE(RE
W) BEATE—EBHET i
MEAENE TS EOEHEREEY
s EEAIRERENEY - HE
2020 12A31H ' ZEBHWRESE
BARE2 772,729,000 (2019412
A318 : &) -

MBREREAEIE TEPORE M S A
HRAEL R -
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OTHER LIABILITIES (continued)

The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the
higher of the expected credit loss allowance and the
amount initially recognised less the cumulative amount of
income recognised. The expected credit loss allowance
is measured by estimating the cash shortfalls, which are
based on the expected payments to reimburse the financial
institutions for a credit loss incurred less any amounts that
the Group expects to receive from certain customers. The
amount initially recognised representing the fair value at
initial recognition of the financial guarantee contracts was
not significant.

The credit exposure of the financial guarantee contracts
is classified as stage 1. During the year, there were no
transfers between stages (2019: Nil).

37.
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Ht & & (&)

MBRERRARDRBREEBREG RS
BREBERCERRAZRFT 2R (ARD
ERE)GE -RHEEBBENRASER
ZIEETETE - RTVRBMERERBIAE
EEEBRZAHNIE  BEMARERS
RETEFUMZERELHENE - NI HER
TRRBIFERNZHMBRERARRIFHER
ZRREE-

BHEERARZEERREDBRESE R -
RAFE  BERNRENER (N
FmE) e
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38. DEFERRED TAX 38.

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during
the year are as follows:

IEFE R 1R
FANEEHBEERAEE

BT

Deferred tax assets BEEBBEEE
Accruals
Depreciation Unrealised and
in excess of profits from  provision
depreciation Impairment Government intercompany for Tax
allowance  of assets grants transactions  warranties losses Others Total
REARHE
ERRH 250 ERES
WEERE  EENE  UARY  AEREN  JERERE  HERR Hi Eh
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB'000
ARBTR  AR¥TR ARMTR  AR¥TR ARETR ARETR AR¥TR ARETR
At 1 January 2020 RZE-EF-f-H 737,638 134,999 189,212 305,132 359,852 304,99 15,496 2,047,325
Deferred tax credited/{charged) to  ERRERREA /()8 171,326 2976 (29,272) 59,347 269,501  (103,676) 394 392,59
the statement of profit or loss ERHE
during the year
At 31 December 2020 RZFZZETZR=1-H 908,964 159,975 159,940 364,479 629,353 201,320 15,890 2,439,921
At 1 January 2019 RZE-NE-A-H 733,416 47,690 186,314 209,694 434740 97,634 234 1,709,722
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to - FRREBRRTA /(1) £ 4222 87,309 2,898 95,438 (74,888) 207,362 15262 337,603
the statement of profit or loss ERHE
during the year
At 31 December 2019 RZF-NETZR=1-H 737,638 134,999 189,212 305,132 359,852 304,99 15496 2,047,325
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DEFERRED TAX (continued) 38. IRILEBIIE (&)
Deferred tax liabilities BELEBEBEEE
Fair value
adjustments  Fair value Withholding
of equity adjustments taxes on
investments  of financial the earnings  Deferred tax
at fair value assets at Depreciation  anticipated payment
through other fair value in excess of tobe arising from
comprehensive through depreciation  remitted by  disposal of
income profit or loss allowance subsidiaries a subsidiary Total
NAREENE NAAEER R e
Y ARMGE BUHABRE WELR WENWEAR
WENEERE HEREE  FESEN  ELNEN  ELNEER
MEEHE AAEERR BERE R XfI5E &3t
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETIRT  ARBTR ARMTR AR¥TR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2020 RZZZT5-F-8 63,644 810 542,503 15,957 12,341 685,255
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the ERRMBRENR /(EA) B - (810) 509,252 (15,957) - 492,485
statement of profit or loss during the year ~ EXERE
Deferred tax charged to other FRRNE i AR NEL (63,644) - - - - (63,644
comprehensive income during the year  F{E
At 31 December 2020 RZEZZETZAZT-H 0 0 1,051,755 0 12,341 1,064,096
At 1 January 2019 RZE-N§-F-H - 68 330,659 44,648 12,341 387,716
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the ERPMERZNR /(A B - 742 211,844 (28,691) - 183895
statement of profit or loss during the year  iEEFE
Deferred tax credited to other ERpEtFe kR ERNELE 63,644 - - - - 63644
comprehensive income during the year ~ FiB
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NETZA=+-H 63,644 810 542,503 16,957 12,341 635,255
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38. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax
assets and liabilities have been offset with an amount
of RMB670,946,000 (2019: RMB532,391,000) in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The following
is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for
financial reporting purposes:

38.

ERERE ()

ERZF A% ETELEHEBEEERAED
EA/*\GT'LWIFH)UR%EPE@/\E%NO 946,000
THeEEE (ZE—HhE: ARK
532,391,0007T) ° N3 ARt % iRE s
NEBRLEFBEBRDIT

2020 2019

et 22 20194

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥T R ARBEFIT

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RE GRS R iR A IR A 1,768,975 1,514,934
consolidated statement of financial position — FiIE&E F4E

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the K& HEI AN & P HERRIET 393,150 102,864
consolidated statement of financial position ~ FIE & E/F58

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets related to REBEEREAERRBELEMSHEEMR

tax losses arising in Mainland China of RMB1,130,562,000
(2019: RMB1,964,355,000) that will expire in one to five
years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

The Group has accumulated tax losses arising in Mainland
China of RMB3,696,763,000 (2019: RMB3,886,797,000)
that will expire in one to five years for offsetting against
future taxable profits. The Group has tax losses of
RMB165,430,000 (2019: RMB119,829,000) arising from
other jurisdictions that will expire in one to eight years
for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses
as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilised.

RIS E B AR 1,130,562,00070 (==
NF - ARB1,964,355,0007T) Al —EF
FRIE AR R ERT R F] o

REERFEAEEENRATEBEAA
[R#3,696,763,0007C (=T — L& : AR
3,886,797,0007T) AJ A —E A F NEIH AR K
FERBLE R o AEBRH A GERE R E AW
FRIEE B A AR 165,430,0007C (= — A,
£ AR¥119,829,0007T) AIR—ENER
AR RERTAA - BRULEEBTIRE
MEBEOMB AR - ARBTAAIEEL
FERRBR T LU SE AT B AR B RIS - AR
HUERELERIBEE ©
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DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

ERERE ()
HA e A LA B E’Jfgéﬁ)‘?&iﬁé%‘ﬁﬂﬁ%%

of the following items as it is not considered probable that RATge IR - THIIEEB WARBRAELERIE

taxable profits will be available against which the above BE -
items can be utilised:

2020 2019

—EZEHF —E-NEF

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR%T T ARBEFTT

Tax losses i Ea 3,862,193 4,006,626

Deductible temporary differences AIMBEREER 6,978,107 4,571,760

10,840,300 8,578,386

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

As at 31 December 2020, there were no deferred tax
liabilities recognised on earnings anticipated to be remitted
by certain subsidiaries in the foreseeable future (2019:
RMB15,957,000). No withholding tax has been provided for
the earnings of approximately RMB21,008,792,000 (2019:
RMB15,243,223,000) as these earnings are expected to
be retained by the PRC subsidiaries and not to be remitted
to a foreign investor in the foreseeable future based on
several factors, including management’s estimation of
overseas funding requirements.

RIBFRBEIDEMEEOE - SRR EAMBAKT
BNE R E R IMEE EE IR BB R
10%MIEHN - ZIRER _FTFENEF—A—
BREAR EAR_FTELEF+_A=1+—
BRIRGH AT o 5 BEAERINERE
ENRDEER BRIV WE - BT RERAR
EFEMBHE - At - AEBBERRPEA
WRIWHBAREEA —TTN\F—H—
B A AR O B MR B O BB SR TR AT ©

R_E-EF+_F=+—H VEHRE
AETHEBRARARTERRRBEELOR
FHRREEHEEE(ZTE—NF : AR
15,957,0007T) c IRIBEBIFEEEREHIRINE
CHEKEFTEANZERE - ARASEE
HzZERTERTRNBARREBETER
AR ARRELIBBINEGESE - MW EREF
AR #21,008,792,0007T (—ZFE—NL4F :
AR#15,243,223,0007T) 5HEFEF -
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39. SHARE CAPITAL 39. WA
Shares Bz 12
2020 2019
gt 22 —hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBEFIT
Authorised, issued and fully paid: 2t - BITREHRE -
2,728,142,855 (2019: 2,728,142,855) 2,728,142 855 (= ZF— NL.F : 2,728,143 2,728,143
ordinary shares of RMB1 each 2,728,142,855/%) BIREE
AR TR m AR
40. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 40. LR BEBENIZS
a. Overview a. Bt
Equity-settled share-based payments are as follows: NHEREEARD AERO T
™
2020
—EEF
RMB’ 000
AR®T
Accumulated balance of equity-settled share- FTABRRNREERAEREE 53,718
based payments credited to capital reserves* ARAD B ERER S 25t erEE~
Total costs of equity-settled share-based HA DARE 2 45 E DARR () R LT 74,298
payments in the period B SZ 15 A 4R RK AR

b. Share option incentive scheme

BYD Semiconductor Co., Ltd (“BYD Semiconductor”)
2020 Share Option Incentive Scheme (“Scheme”)

Pursuant to the “Resolution concerning equity
incentive scheme of the wholly-owned subsidiary
involving related-party transactions”,
had been approved by the Board at the Thirty-sixth
Meeting of the Sixth Session of the Board of Directors
on 14 April 2020. Pursuant to the Scheme, BYD
Semiconductor proposed to grant 30,019,760.00
share options to 36 scheme participants. The
scheme participants of the Share Incentive Scheme
were the directors and senior management of BYD
Semiconductor and key staff of BYD Semiconductor
who have direct impacts or contributions to BYD
Semiconductor's business results and ongoing
development as a whole, excluding independent
directors and supervisors.

the Scheme

b. BRENBS

Heapd - EEER M AR AR ([Hapd
/e |) 2020 A B AT & ([ 3% 5t
ED)

RIEBEREE T ARIRESEE
FRERTZNER]  ZABER
T EFNAFTNHEERNEEEE
ForAREBLEEFESHE - R
EBaZatEl el E R R 36 A At
B2 8EEE F30,019,760.0017 BB
o RSB EIMET R 2 HE BIE
thhEt EENEENSREEAS
LA B2 # b B0 i - SE BE ) S48 I BB 4B B
E% SHERVENTRML MY

BHEEET TEEBIEEM
%%
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (continued)

b.

Share option incentive scheme (continued)

The share options to be granted under the share
option incentive scheme are exercisable in three
stages, which will correspond to a vesting period
of 24 months, 36 months and 48 months beginning
on the grant date. The granted share options
can be exercised in stages in the following three
exercise periods beginning on the grant date. In
the first, second, and third exercise periods, 30%,
30%, and 40% of the share options are entitled to
exercise rights under the prerequisite of meeting
performance conditions. The exercise price shall
be RMB5.00 per share. The share options will not
be exercisable when participants fail to fulfii BYD
Semiconductor’s performance as the conditions of
exercise or those currently not exercised after the
end of the exercise period shall become null and
void and be repurchased without consideration and
cancelled by BYD Semiconductor.

The performance indicators for the exercise of the
share options include:

(1) Revenue;

(2) Net Profit.

The conditions for the exercise of the granted share
options:

40.
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31 December 2020
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IR B ER A ()
b. BREMBE (H)

ROREARE B R BT AT R T M AR A2 HA
BOZRTE  HESEBEHS 5
EBETHB24EA - 361@ A - 48
A EFHOREHERNETFHHA
W EZ B =BT D RITHE -
- FE_ME=ETHELADRE
30% * 30% - 40% Y HREfE i R 248
IRFRTIR T EB AT TREMER - 1718
EAERARES5005T - E2EEXK
BEEIRIEAITEIGHA LR m - E e
RRIEE - BERITERERRAE - 1T
FHEREE R ARITERNBERESE
BE - WHEM L Tn @ E R A E I O] &
MIERERRIE -

BERTENRRERER

(1) WA
(2)  FFH -
BT BRI TR G -

Percentage
of options
Exercise period exercisable Duration Conditions for exercise
EEgd
TR RAELLE  HE TR
First exercise period 30%  From 12 May 2022 the growth rate of revenue and net profit of the

(“First Period”) to 11 May 2023

FETEH(FE—5])

30% —ZEZ--—F£R/[+=-BZE

—E-=FHA+—H

Second exercise period 30%

(“Second Period”) to 11 May 2024

FETER(E=H))

From 12 May 2023

30% Z—ZEZ-=FRA+=BHZE

—T-mERA+-R

Third exercise period 40%

(“Third Period”) to 12 May 2025

F=@TFEH(E=8H]) 40%

From 12 May 2024

“E-MERA+-HE

“E-RFRATZAH

fiscal year before the exercise date of the first
exercise period over the previous year is not less
than 20%
FETEBTTEAN — S FENEERAN
FMER E—FEEREDMER20%

the growth rate of revenue and net profit of

the fiscal year before the exercise date of the
second exercise period over the previous year is
not less than 20%
F_{HTRSTTREB N — S RS ERAN
FNER F—FEAREREMER20%

the growth rate of revenue and net profit of the
fiscal year before the exercise date of the third
exercise period over the previous year is not less
than 20%

E (TR TEB A — S EE RS RN
FAER L FERERETMER20%
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40.

41.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (continued) 40. LR AERNIZMS (E)

b. Share option incentive scheme (continued) b. BREREE (&)
The fair value of the share options to be granted R THERENALEBEAAR
amounted to RMB337,098,000. #337,098,0007T °
The fair value of the equity-settled share options to TR R THNESEENBRENE
be granted on the date of grant was estimated using FAMAREERAZEAERR - &
a binomial model, taking into account the terms and AR TRREEAGRSE - (FE
conditions upon which the options were granted. o TRIVRTFTRAKEMEA -
The following table lists the inputs to the model
used:

First Second Third

Exercise period TEH £—@ (@ HE=1E
Volatility B 52.80% 51.99% 57.88%
Risk-free interest rate [ P 1.60% 1.81% 2.02%
Demission rate BB = 0.00% 0% 0%
Volatility is an assumption based on the trend BERZENE L REE R H B
reflected by historical volatility, and hence may not WRE - At~ —E2EEOE
be the actual result. In respect of the fair value, R-HRAREBEE TEZEERTH
other features of the granted share options were not BB A E A4S o
considered.

RESERVES M. @#E

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 95
to 96 of the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for business
enterprises, a portion of the profits of the Group’s entities
which are registered in the PRC has been transferred to
the statutory surplus reserve fund which is restricted to
use. When the balance of the statutory surplus reserve
fund reaches 50% of the respective entity’s share capital,
any further appropriation is optional. The statutory surplus
reserve fund can be utilised to offset prior year's losses
or to increase share capital. However, the balance of the
statutory surplus reserve fund must be maintained at least
25% of the share capital after increase.

AR B G S B R B WA A BB
EEENEB T RTINS R E5FI6E
BB BHEE B BN -

RECENBEEZRER  AEERPEH
AMHEENDO M EEREEARTE AR
REERBBAES - EXTBBAESMNE
HRIESEERANLS0% ' BIRAIAEER
GHREBENTMNER - ZTABRAESTH
PIEEA T FENBERENER - A -
BINE  EAERBABEENERERESD
25% %N o
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PERPETUAL LOANS

(a)

In 2016, the Company issued medium term notes
at par of RMB200 million and RMB400 million on 24
February 2016 and 26 February 2016, respectively,
with a total amount of RMB600 million (RMB595.8
million after deducting listing expenses). The current
medium-term notes have a term of 5+N years. On
or after the fifth interest payment date, the issuer
has the right to redeem the current medium-term
notes at par plus accrued interest (including any
deferred interest payments). If the issuer decides
to exercise the redemption rights, the issuer shall
publish the Announcement of Early Redemption
through media one month before the redemption
and the redemption process shall be completed by
the Shanghai Clearing House as the agent. For the
current medium-term notes, the coupon interest rate
of the first 5 years for which interest is accruable
is 5.1% per annum. If the issuer does not exercise
the redemption rights, the coupon interest rate will
be adjusted to the then base rate plus initial spread
and 300 basis points from the 6th year and remains
unchanged from the 6th year to the 10th year for
which interest is accruable. The coupon interest rate
is reset every 5 years.

Unless the mandatory interest payment event
happens, before each of the interest payment
date of medium-term notes, the issuer can choose
to defer the current interest and all the deferred
interest to be paid at the next interest payment
date, which is not subject to any restrictions on
the number of deferred interest payments. The
foregoing deferred interest payment does not
constitute the issuer’s default to pay the interest in
full. In the event that the issuer decides to defer
the interest payments, the issuer and the related
agency shall disclose such arrangement in an
announcement of deferred interest payments five
days before the interest payment date.

KA

(a)

B 5 ¥ R B
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&

TE—RF AR ARZE—REFEZ
AZt+mMBEE=ZZE—R"RF-_A=+~
B REEERTSEAARBK200
BELMARKI0HETNRHE
B AT ARB600EE T - Nk
THYXBEAAREEIS.8EHEET - &
B R EAR A5+NF - RAPHE
BERAEMEESENER @ BITA
BREZEENESFE (BEEME
RS EEAEPHEE - i
BITAREITEERE - BIRERA
A —E A - BT AREETIEGR
AIFERAE) - WA EEEEmMRE
SERKFE D TE - REAR HIZ B RIS (@
AEFEMNEENEAS1% - IR
BITATNTEBEE - A FE6Est
EFEHBEENEXFARAEERE
YERR A0 _E#AF| = B A0 _E 300EE
2 EFMFEFEEF10EE
FEANREFETE - BoFEE—XNE
EFIE o

BROFEARBIN B EM  BITAET
HEERSENSXN B AEITE
BEEHAEMAERLENSHES
T—HMEXNAXN » BARERBE
FER S ST IR BRI BRI o BTl IR AE 7
BN TERBETAREHEAF
BRENFM - HETAREELES
MHE - BTARBERTRERE
NEAAMARRNEENEXNAER
WEZL -
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42,

PERPETUAL LOANS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(continued)

The issuer shall not defer the interest payment of
the interest accrual period and all the interest and
the underlying yields that were deferred according
to the investment agreement and the contractual
agreement if any of the following occurs within 12
months before the interest payment date:

o The borrower declares dividend to the
holders of ordinary shares; or

° The borrower reduces registered capital.

The Company issued two tranches of perpetual
loans on 22 August 2017 and 18 October 2017,
respectively, with a total principal amount of RMB3.3
billion. The loans will have a perpetual term until
redemption by the Company in accordance with the
terms of issuance and will mature at the redemption
by the Company. At the third maturity date and each
maturity date thereafter, the Company has the right
to redeem the notes with a principal amount plus
all deferred interest. The initial loan interest rates
are the first year of these trust loan annual interest
rates were 6.30% and 6.16% respectively, the trust
loan annual interest rates of the second and third
year were based on the differences between the
previous interest rate adjustment date and the date
of one-year SHIBOR plus the annual interest rate
on trust loans of the first year, respectively. If the
Company will not redeem the loans, the interest rate
will be reset every year after the first three years.
The interest rate for the first extended year will be
reset to the last effective interest rate plus 300 basis
points per annum. Thereafter, the interest rate for
each year will be reset to the effective interest rate
of the previous period plus 300 basis points per
annum until the interest rate reaches 18%.

42,

XEE ()

(a)

(b)

(%)

W B AR 1I2EAR - HEEATEMF
2 BITATNBRLEZ BB
BUEZRBREGZ) RARKE
ERELEHNAENEREES

. fERAREBERISE AT KK

. tERANBDEMEAR o

ARARDHIRZE—tFNAZ+Z
AR=ZZE—tF+ A+ /BT
KEBE  ASBEAAREIIET -
ZEEFBEKENE  EEARAR
BERITERED AL - WERARR]
FECIRFEEY - ME =B HARA RBEE
BEZEHAE  ARABBRUAALES
A RERN SERER - 1IaEK
MER: F—FEXERNFERNES
7 56.30% K% 6.16%  F-_ERFE=
FHELERFMNEER L —IKFE
FEE A E—F EFRITERERK
FMEZHZENZEMEE —FETE
HEOENEAE - WARRTEEDE
FoAMEREREE=FHRRESF
EITER @ EEHFENNEEE
HEZREBEFNESINGFI00EE
o HEBFANERGERZ BT HME
MEBRMNESNGFI00EERES
FRiE18E -
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42. PERPETUAL LOANS (continued)

(b)

(c)

(continued)

As long as the compulsory interest payment events
have not occurred, the Company has the right
to choose to defer the interest payment at each
interest payment date to the next without time limit
of deferral, which does not cause the breach of
contract for the Company. The compound interest
will be charged to the deferred interest by the
interest rate of the deferred period.

The Company could not defer current interest and
all deferred interest before 12 months of the interest
payment date when the following compulsory
interest payment events occur:

° To declare and pay dividend to ordinary
shareholders;

° To pay any financial instruments that have
priority lower than the perpetual loans; and

° To decrease share capital.

As of 31 December 2020, this perpetual loan has
been repaid in full.

The Company issued renewable bonds on 21 June
2019 with a total principal amount of RMB500
million. The loan will have a term of 2+N years. On
or after the second interest payment date, the issuer
shall have the option to extend the maturity of the
bonds for one additional cycle (i.e., two years) or
to pay in full at the end of that cycle. The issuer is
not limited by the number of times it may exercise
its option to renew the term, but it shall publish an
announcement of exercise of the option through
media at least 30 trading days prior to the interest
payment date in the exercise year of the option to
renew the term.

B 5 ¥ R B
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42, KERE(E)

(b)

(c)

(%)
REWEBELREIFE SN EMF - A
ARRAREEERSN B BOELTH
BXHREET—ERN B B ML EE
EERERS - BT EEHARFR
RER « A S HRIE T HRE H 7
KEFANRIER S -

ERETIREF SN EMHE - &
REATERLTE RN RFEZE
A28 AR S -

[ ]
¢ I

BRI R E K ROR B

XAHE RN R B B R E
SRMIA: &

o HURMA -

BE-T-TFI-A=+—F &
NEEDEEREE -

ARFARZB-NAFA-+—HE
TAEES - AERBER/ARKES00
BEIL BERHRAB2+NF - REZ
RISBHEZZE - BEITABREEERLT
REFIHEES—ERAH (RF)
FNERIBAMAERERER - BITA
PREFRARS] - EAIITELEEA
EEFH HESRABTAZIN
EREEEHREFNNESBAI0ME
REZABBEE ETIEREITHERE
-
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42,

PERPETUAL LOANS (continued)

(c)

(continued)

In the case of any change of tax policies or
accounting standards, the issuer shall have the
right to exercise the right of redemption at the end
of the year in which the change of such laws and
regulations, the judicial interpretation of relevant
laws and regulations or the change of accounting
policies is officially implemented. If the issuer
decides to exercise the redemption rights, an
announcement shall be published 20 trading days
before the date available for redemption (except
that the period from the implementation date of the
change of accounting policies to the year end is
less than 20 trading days, in which case the issuer
shall make a timely announcement). The redemption
plan is irrevocable once announced. Except for
the above two cases, the issuer has no right or
obligation to redeem the current bond. For the
current renewable bonds, the coupon interest rate
of the first 2 years for which interest is accruable is
6.20% per annum. If the issuer does not exercise
the redemption rights, the coupon interest rate will
be adjusted to the then base rate plus initial spread
and 300 basis points from the 3rd year and remains
unchanged from the 3rd year to the 4th year for
which interest is accruable. The coupon interest rate
is reset every 2 years.

Unless the mandatory interest payment event
happens, before each of the interest payment dates
of medium-term notes, the issuer can choose to
have the current interest and all the deferred interest
to be paid at the next interest payment date, which
is not subject to any restrictions on the number of
deferred interest payments. The foregoing deferred
interest payment does not constitute the issuer’s
default to pay the interest in full according to the
contract. In the event that the issuer decides to
defer the interest payments, the issuer and the
related agency shall disclose such arrangement in
an announcement of deferred interest payments five
days before the interest payment date.

42,

XEE ()
(c) (&)
RS R R G FHREF (&

BITABBEEREBRERERES -
AR YABANEERENX S
BERSHEABETEFFRITEERD
o B TT AREITEERE @ 817
AFERAIHEE A BRI 2018 22 5 B (B
EFSBEREEEIT A AREE -
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42. PERPETUAL LOANS (continued)

(c)

(continued)

The issuer shall not defer the interest payment of
the interest accrual period and all the interest and
the underlying yields that were deferred according
to the investment agreement and the contractual
agreement if any of the following occurs within 12
months before the interest payment date:

o The borrower declares dividend to the
holders of ordinary shares; or

° The borrower reduces registered capital

These perpetual loans do not have specific
maturities. The Company has the right to defer
interest or to redeem the notes. The Company does
not have the contractual obligation to deliver cash
or other financial assets to other parties. Therefore,
the perpetual loans are recognised as an equity.
The interest paid on the perpetual loans in 2020 was
RMB222,987,000 (2019: RMB241,388,000).
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42, KERE (E)

(c)

(#)

W B AR 1I2EAR - HEEATEMF
2 BITATNBRLEZ BB
BUEZRBREGZ) RARKE
ERELEHNAENEREES

. fERAREBERISE AT KK

. &R M E A

L EKEEW B EREA o AQF]
BEELEFERERZER - AQR)I
mMEREAMAMALTRNRGRE
thEBMEE - BUKEBEERB#ER °
—E-TEEMKEGFEAARE
222,987,000 (ZE—NF : AR
#241,388,0007T) °
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43. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

Litigation
Action against Foxconn

On 11 June 2007, a Hong Kong High Court action
(the “June 2007 Action”) was commenced by a
subsidiary and an affiliate of Foxconn International
Holdings Limited (the “Plaintiffs”) against the
Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company
(the “Defendants”) for using confidential information
alleged to have been obtained improperly from
the Plaintiffs. The Plaintiffs discontinued the June
2007 Action on 5 October 2007 without any liability
to the Defendants. On the same day, the Plaintiffs
initiated a new set of legal proceedings in the
Court (the “October 2007 Action”). The Defendants
named in the October 2007 Action are the same as
the Defendants in the June 2007 Action, and the
claims made by the Plaintiffs in the October 2007
Action are based on the same facts and grounds
in the June 2007 Action. The remedies sought by
the Plaintiffs in the October 2007 Action include an
injunction restraining the Defendants from using
the alleged confidential information, an order for
the disgorgement of profit made by the Defendants
through the use of the confidential information,
damages based on the loss suffered by the Plaintiffs
and exemplary damages. The total damages sought
by the Plaintiffs in the October 2007 Action have not
been quantified.

On 2 October 2009, the Defendants instituted
a counter-action against Foxconn International
Holdings Limited and certain of its affiliates for
their intervention, by means of illegal measures, in
the operations involving the Company and certain
of its subsidiaries, collusions, written and verbal
defamation, and the economic loss as a result of the
said activities.

As at the reporting date, the case remains in the
process of legal proceedings. After consulting the
Company'’s legal counsel representing the Company
for the case, the Board is of the view that the
estimate of ultimate outcome and amount to settle
the obligation, if any, of the litigation cannot be
made reliably up to date.
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43. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(a)

Litigation (continued)

Service Contract Dispute against Shanghai
Qiancheng Culture Communication Co., Ltd.

On 4 November 2018, Shanghai Qiancheng Culture
Communication Co., Ltd., as the plaintiff, filed a
legal proceeding against the Company and its
subsidiary, Shanghai BYD Electric Vehicle Co., Ltd.,
to Shanghai High People’s Court in respect of an
advertising service contract dispute, requiring a
service fee of RMB241,592,516, liquidated damages
of RMB60,813,050 and a temporary total amount of
RMB302,405,566, including litigation fees, property
preservation fees and preservation guarantee
expenses.

On 7 December 2018, the Company filed an appeal
to Shanghai High People’s Court, arguing that the
case shall be heard by a court with jurisdiction
in Guangdong Province. On 20 December 2018,
Shanghai High People’s Court issued a Civil Ruling
Paper of (2018) Hu Min Chu No. 100 (“(2018)}ER
#1100%%"), ruling to reject the objection over the
jurisdiction raised by the Company. On 2 January
2019, the Company appealed to the Supreme
People’s Court of the People’'s Republic of China,
requesting the repeal of the aforementioned Civil
Ruling Paper issued by Shanghai High People’s
Court and the transfer of the case to a court with
jurisdiction in Guangdong Province. On 28 February
2019, the Supreme People’s Court of the People’s
Republic of China issued a Civil Ruling Paper of
(2019) Zui Gao Fa Min Xia Zhong No. 60 (“(2019)
SEARERGOIR"), overruling the appeal and
maintaining the original judgement. Shanghai High
People’s Court held hearings on 25 April 2019, 17
May 2019, 22 August 2019 and 9 October 2019, 16
January 2020 and 31 March 2020, respectively. The
case was formally heard for the first time on 21 May
2020, after which a hearing was held on July 24th,
2020. It is still in trial and pending for judgement.

B 5 ¥ R B
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43. HEEE(H)

(a)

R ()
LHETRE RMHE

ZE-NF+—AmHE - EEFTEX
{LEFEERAFMERARSE BESR
BERAmE T aRARERRE
RN BERARAARETAGLE
bR EEBE AR AT MREE A
R#241,502,51670 * XHEHE A
K¥60,813,050 TA MEFFAE « (RE
B REERE  FEHATTARE
302,405,566 7T °

ZE-NF+ZA+tH  ARERE
ATERARERRELESEE LFE
#ORBREZREEHEREBEEE
AP HEITEE - —T—\F+=A
Z+H - EETEHRARZERMLL
YEH T (2018)JER #1005 REFH E
E HERLOARARRENEERER
He—_T—NEFE—A=-H  ARAFMA
FEARAMBESES ARERIEL £
&k b B s e RARE
RREHTE  UHRGBEREER
BEEEENERETERE - % —
NE—_A=-+N\B  hEARENEH
mEa ARZEREL(2019) &5 ERE
KeOMREHTEE - HERKE LFF -
BERFRHTE - LETRRARZERR
ZE-NFMNAZ+HHA ZE—N
FRA+EHE - ZE—AFENA=F
ZH - ZE-AFt+ANR ZE=
TE—A+RB ZEZTHFE=[=
+—BHEETNRNEF c RERN T
ZEFRA+T—HABERERNERE -
R_ZE_TF++A-+NHETEL
RIBFE o HADIEE IR - MR -
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43. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued) 43. HEAEE(E)

(a) Litigation (continued) (a)

Service Contract Dispute against Shanghai
Qiancheng Culture Communication Co., Ltd.
(continued)

As at the reporting date, the case is still in
proceedings. With the assistance of the legal
adviser responsible for the case on behalf of the
Company, the Board believes that the final result of
the proceedings and compensation obligations, if
any, cannot be estimated reliably.

(b) At the end of the reporting period, contingent (b)
liabilities not provided for in the financial statements
were as follows:

Y
L TREFMGHE ()

BEREAH  RMFNEFRDIERF
o ERRARBEEZRMER
EEFEH%;’JEJJT BEEEeRn E%ﬁ*’\é’]

RERBERMBERDE (WE) T8
SR o

RBEHR - BHERRAKRFTRAK
BREWNT

2020 2019
—g-8F —T-AF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBET T

Guarantees given to banks in connection — FLARRFR T HE A FEY
with facilities granted to subsidiaries by B MR TR AR
the Company

97,233,180 87,565,930

As at 31 December 2020, the banking facilities
granted to subsidiaries and joint ventures subject
to guarantees given to banks by the Company
were utilised to the extent of approximately
RMB33,832,287,300 (2019: RMB45,759,214,000)
and RMB5,539,327,000 (2019: RMB3,559,870,000),
respectively.

RZZEZZF+=-A=+—H0 A2
At ARITEHERMETFHB A
AREERNTNRITHES - 95l
M AR#33,832,287,3007T (—ZE—
hE : AR¥45,759,214,0007T) &
ANER#5 539,327,000 (ZE— A
F£ . AR¥3,559,870,000) B EH
}Eﬁ °
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43. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

(c)

Repurchase obligation

The Group entered into tri-lateral finance
cooperation contracts (“the Cooperation Contracts”)
with certain customers and third parties or related
financial institutions (“Financial Institutions”).
Pursuant to the arrangement under the Cooperation
Contracts, the Company bears repurchase
obligations to Financial Institutions that in the event
of customer default or other specific conditions, the
Company inherits all the creditor’s rights and related
interests. At the same time, the Company is required
to make payments to Financial Institutions for the
outstanding payments due from the customers
and has the right to take recovery measures by
way of sale of new energy vehicles and other
relief measures to pay the remaining arrears of
the customers to the Financial Institutions. The
Company reserves the right to pursue the remaining
creditor’'s rights. Management believes that the
repossessed vehicles will be able to be sold for
proceeds that are not significantly different from the
repurchase payments. As at 31 December 2020,
the Group’s maximum exposure to these obligations
was RMB8,644,159,000 (2019: RMB11,163,670,000).
For the year ended 31 December 2020, there was
no default of payments from customers which
required the Group to make payments to Financial
Institutions.

44. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
RMB506,529,000 (2019: RMB730,490,000) and
RMB506,529,000 (2019: RMB767,720,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for
leasehold land, buildings and machinery and other
equipment.

B 5 ¥ R B
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43. HEEE(H)

(c)

EERE

AEESEETEPRE= A H
BB ((RERE D) BT pE&
EEAR(TEEER]) - RESE
BRMNZH AR E Mg E A E
CEEY  ARFPENNAROTED
BERME  ARBIEASBEEUAR
AR  WHEBRIREZZHEE
TR E R E RO T e R 5 SR ER S
M MENEEERERERNFIRK
%vﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁL%m%
o EBERE  WEMWEEENE
o MBERAERNENTHEHE
BENFBAR - RZEZTF+=
A=Z+—8 AEEHZEEBHEKX
WO A ARES,644,159,0007T (=
T—HF: ARM11,163,670,000
L) BEZZ-_ZTF+=-_A=1—
BILFE  RBERTFEXMARMm
DAL B T A B A R S A 3R
I8 o

44, EHEESHRERMET

(a)

TEFRERS
FR-AREHREEL BT #

BNEMBRENHEE ?%%@m%é
ENHEEENIFRESREDIAA
R#506,529,000C (=& —h&F :

ANR#730,490,0007T) M AR
506,529,000 (ZZ— & : AR
#:767,720,0007T) ©
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44. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 44.

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

SHRERERMWEE (F)

(b) RBMEFBFELNABELD

activities
2020 —EBCEHF
Interest-
bearing bank
and other Lease
borrowings liabilities
FERTR
Hirfe HEEE
At 1 January 2020 R-ZZE-_ZF—A—H 75,978,345 767,720
Changes from financing cash flows BMERERES (27,738,609) (153,877)
New leases FHE - 344,593
Interest expense FIBFAX 3,067,379 56,422
Interest capitalised BEAREFIE 52,788
Covid-19-related rent concessions from HEMARENLEARSESR - (3,065)
lessors
Foreign exchange movement HNEE K B (89,306) -
At 31 December 2020 R-Z-2F+-A=+-8 51,270,597 1,011,793
2019 —T-nE
Interest-
bearing bank
and other Lease Other
borrowings liabilities liabilities
FRBRITR
Hi R HEEE HinaE
At 1 January 2019 RZZ-NF—F—H 64,692,802 569,077 1,376,550
Changes from financing cash flows BEREREEY 7,584,878 (167,700) (1,376,550)
New leases Mg - 333,416 -
Interest expense FIRRZ 3,454,480 32,927 -
Interest capitalised BARERE 185,631 - -
Foreign exchange movement INE R B 60,554 - -
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NE+ZA=+-H 75,978,345 767,720 -




Annual Report 2020
—RCREER 245

Notes to Financial Statements

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

44. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 44. &A#tBRE&RERMT (&)
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HENRESRLHERE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the FFAGHRERERCHERES T
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: WEEINT -
2020 2019
—T=FF T NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®TT ARETT

Within operating activities LEEBA (1,270,066)  (1,149,270)
Within investing activities BEEEA (239,359) (797,080)
Within financing activities BEEEN (153,877) (167,700)
45. COMMITMENTS 45. EiE
(a) The Group had the following capital commitments at (a) AREBRMEMRER T 5| E R

the end of the reporting period:

iR

2020 2019
—ECEHF —E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARBTR ARBT T

Contracted, but not provided for: 2T AB AR B
Buildings BF 673,138 1,139,767
Plant and machinery R E K es 3,051,539 4,608,229
Capital contribution in respect of B EBBAEE 112,757 81,757
investments
3,837,434 5,829,753
Authorised but not contracted for EERBERITA : 60,946 23,538
3,898,380 5,853,291
(b)  In addition, the Group'’s share of joint ventures’ own (b) WHN REEDHEERFARFHE
capital commitments, which are not included in the ANEE(RFALR)WOT -

above, is as follows:

2020 2019
—®-%F —T-AF
AR®FRT AREBTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

el

Capital contribution payable to joint ventures A& &R RIHE 450,775 543,925
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46.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

46. BEAX S

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere (a) BAPBERKREMMAMFLNRS
in these financial statements, the Group had the Hh - F AN S B ELRAEE T LT T
following transactions with related parties during the R
year:
2020 2019
—E-EF ZEZ-NF
Notes RMB’ 000 RMB'000
H#  AR®Tr  AR®TR
Joint ventures and associates: BEREREE AT
Sales of products HEERM (i) 2,135,448 2,623,864
Sales of machinery and equipment HERSERRE (ii) 10,680 -
Service income FREHA (iii) 234,729 272,696
Rental expense Her% (iv) 914,414 914,333
Purchases of products and service EEERLRE (v) 2,254,046 1,848,141
Sales of products and service to Union Brother EFRIHELEROREERAF (vi) 536 704
Technology Co., Ltd. ("UBTECH") (TBYE ) HEERRR%
Sales of products and service to Xi'an Northern AAZLAIR/IEBEERAR (i) 63 -
Qinchuan Company Ltd. (“Northern Qinchuan”) (TFR))) HEER KRB
Sales of products and service to Shenzhen RFNMEAFEHRERERERAR (v 882 -
UniFortune Supply Chain Service Co., Ltd. ([BEFE])) HEER KRS
(“UniFortune”)
Sales of products and service to Youngy MEEREEREEER AT (ix) 1,319 -
Investment Holding Group Co., Ltd. (*Youngy ([RhfERRR ) R EEM LR
Holding”)
Sales of products and service to Onyx International  FEMNXAEEREERAR (XAEELE) (v 1,970 -
Inc. Co., Ltd. (“Onyx International Inc.”) PEERRRE
Sales of products and service to Shenzhen MRS AIERIRRE ([EERED () 2 -
Zhengxuan Qianzhan Venture Capital HEER LR
(“Zhengxuan Qianzhan’)
Purchases of products and service from Xi'an AAZLAFR/IEBERAR (vii) 43 141
Northern Qinchuan Company Ltd. (“Northern (TeFR) ) BEER KRS
Qinchuan”)
Purchases of products and service from Beijing ML RE AR RN ERAE (xii) 166,491 268,369
Easpring Material Technology Co., Ltd. ([EARE]) BEEM RSB
(“Easpring Technology”)
Purchases of products and service from Cangzhou A MBS ERIR (A ER A (xiif) 16,347 21,383
Mingzhu Plastic Co., Ltd. (‘Mingzhu Plastics”) ([T EH ) BEER KRS
Purchases of products and service from Shenzhen RIS ARHERHBRAF (Xiv) 1,877 3,395

Jingshi Technology Co., Ltd. (“Jingshi Tech”)

(M8arx)) BEERRRSE
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(continued)

Notes:

(M)

(if)

(iif)

(vi)

(vii)

The sales of products to joint ventures and
associates were made according to the
published prices offered to other customers of
the Group.

The sales of machinery and equipment to
the joint ventures and associates were made
according to the published prices offered by
the Group to its other customers.

The service income from joint ventures and
associates was made according to the
published prices offered by the Group to their
other customers.

The rental expense was charged at prices
mutually agreed between the Group and joint
ventures and associates.

The purchases of products and service from
joint ventures and associates were made
according to the published prices offered by
joint ventures and associates to their other
customers.

The sales of products and service to UBTECH,
a company of which a non-executive director
of the Company is a director of the board, were
made according to the published prices offered
to other customers of the Group.

Northern Qinchuan is a company of which a
supervisor is the chairman of the board. The
sales and purchases of products and services
made with Northern Qinchuan were according to
the published prices offered to other customers.

B 5 ¥ R B
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46. BBAEXRZ (#E)

(a) (&)
Kt -

)

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

MASRARBERANNEE
5T AR5 0 7 o 8 K A 5 4R
I ) A AT

& &N E RS R HE#
BEhEREIRBEASEEARE
& PR DB EARET -

BaBARRBERANEE
BRATYREA R E AR F
PRI A EREST -

MeRX HIREAEEES S
REANBELRESTHBENE

FEYTHER -

MeaErmEkBE R RAEEE
o X IR# ThRB A & A E R
EARMREEMEPELDN
N EIHETT o

RELE (KRR —EIERTE
EREEREER IHEERR
RBTDRERAEEEMBEP
BB RMERETT

EFRNB—REERZAT
EFSIROQA - BILFR
NHEH B E &R R RIS E E TR
EREAMEPRMH QM ER

N}

HETT o
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

The sales of products and service to UniFortune,
a company of which a non-executive director
of the Company is a director of the board, were
made according to the published prices offered
to other customers of the Group.

The sales of products and service to Youngy
Holding, a company of which a non-executive
director of the Company is a director of the
board, were made according to the published
prices offered to other customers of the Group.

The sales of products and service to Onyx
International Inc., a company of which a
non-executive director of the Company is a
director of the board, were made according to
the published prices offered to other customers
of the Group.

The sales of products and service to Zhengxuan
Qianzhan, a company of which a non-executive
director of the Company is a director of the
board, were made according to the published
prices offered to other customers of the Group.

The purchases of products and service from
Easpring Technology, a company of which a
former independent non-executive director of
the Company is the independent director of the
board in the past twelve months, were made
according to the published prices offered by
Easpring Technology to its other customers.

The purchases of products and service from
Mingzhu Plastics, a company of which a former
independent non-executive director of the
Company is the independent director of the
board in the past twelve months, were made
according to the published prices offered by
Mingzhu Plastics to its other customers.

Jingshi Tech was not a related party of
the Group since May 31, 2020, due to the
resignation of the executive on May 31, 2019,
who is the legal representative of the Company.

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

L X% (&)
(&)
Hiat : (4)

FEE & F 8 (RA R —FIERTT
ERRHESSES) HEAEM
FRS TIRE AR EE A E M E
PIRHMAMBARETT -

A B A (R ) — % 3E AT
EXRRARESSER)HE
EmAREIREBERASEE
& PR DB BN T -

AXAES (RAR—HIERTT
EXRRARESSER)HE
EmAREIREBERASEE
& PR DB BN T -

A IESFATIE (R R — % IEHTT
EXRRARESSER)HE
EmAREHIREBERAASEE
& PR DB EARET o

8 F R (KRB — &R EB
VHERITEERNBET @A
RZAFEFEBUES)BE
EmERBTIREEFAREM
HEMEFRENDMERE

N
C L

FBAERZE R (R A B — & A8
VHERITEERNBET @A
RZAFEFEBUES)BE
EmERBTIREAKLHE W
HEMEFRENDMERE

o

N
C L

HRR-E-AFREA=1+—
FBESREREAE (RREAR
AEARSK) EAMRE-F
“EFAA=THETER
REBERHTT -
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)

Guarantees provided to related parties:

Loan guarantees

(i)

(i)

(iii)

As at 31 December 2020, the Company
provided a guarantee to the bank for
the borrowing of DENZA amounting to
RMB406,054,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB480,000,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the Company
provided a guarantee to the bank for the
borrowing of BYD Auto Finance amounting
to RMB4,560,000,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB2,680,000,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the Company
provided a guarantee to the bank for the
borrowing of Tianjin Hongdi amounting
to RMB459,893,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB281,980,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the Company
provided a guarantee to the bank for the
borrowing of MCC Ramu amounting to
RMB100,000,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB100,000,000).

As at 31 December 2020, the Company
provided a guarantee to the bank for
the borrowing of Hubei Energy Storage
amounting to RMB13,380,000 (31 December
2019: RMB17,890,000).

B 5 ¥ R B
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46. BBAEXRZ (#E)
(b) BEEELER:
1B HEIR

(i)

(i)

(iii)

RZE_ZF+-_A=+—
H ARBAEEZHARE
406,054,000t (ZZE— AR
F+ZA=F+—H: AR¥
480,000,0007T) K& X AR
FTER LR -

RZEZEF+ZRA=+—
A ARRALTHAES
B AR % 4,560,000,000
T(ZE—hhF+=ZA=+
—H : AR®2,680,000,000
TC) KB FRAERITIE L B4R -

RZEZEF+=A=+—
A ARelARKERHMNAR
# 459,893,000 (= — A1
F+_A=+—H: AR¥
281,980,0007T) K& Z AR
TTIEHELR -

RZEZTFEF+_A=+—
A ARdlAFERmANAR
#100,000,0007C (=T — AN,
F+-_A=+—H: AR¥
100,000,0007T ) M f& 3K A1ER
TTIEHELR -

RZEZEF+_A=+—
= NN 8 B = A
MEREBRITELERAR
#13,380,000 T (—ZE— N
FH+-—A=+—H: AR¥
17,890,0007T) °
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 46.

BBAERS ()
MEBLRERE - (8

52 7%

(b) Guarantees provided to related parties: (b)
(continued)
Repurchase obligation
Details of the repurchase obligation are disclosed in
note 43(c) to the consolidated financial statements.
(i) As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s (i)
maximum exposure of obligation to
Shenzhen Didi and its subsidiaries was
RMB1,429,996,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB1,988,087,000).
(i) As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s (i)
maximum exposure of obligation to Rongjie
Company Limited was RMB55,260,000 (31
December 2019: RMB78,108,000).
(c) Outstanding balances with related parties:

EHARBEEEEERA I BREM
FT43(c)NIHEE -

RZZEZEF+_A=+—
B - AREES R85 R E M
BRAAEBHEABABAR
#1,429,996,0007C (ZF—
hWF+—A=+—8: AR¥
1,988,087,0007T) °

RZB_FEF+_HA=+—
H - A&EEHBERMAE
RARMEAKRODAAR
# 55,260,000 (=T — A1
F+ZA=+—H: AR¥
78,108,0007T) °

(c) REBLAREESR:

2020 2019
—EEF —E-NEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARET T ARBTT
Amounts due from joint ventures and B E E AR REEE R A
associates: FIE -
DENZA ) 28,162 36,053
Tianjin BYD P 38 AR 1,122,068 1,700,584
International Financial Lease and its X B T N B B 278,358 278,415
subsidiaries NS
BYD Auto Finance e TE S R 1,649 1,244
Xihu New Energy AT REIR 40,139 45321
Guang Qi BYD Eatt g 1,532,276 1,614,696
Shenzhen Didi and its subsidiaries IR R E M E A A 23,934 93,922
Beijing Hualin Loading I REMFEE 30,425 9,118
Shenzhen Electric Power Sales and its AYRBREE RHENE 38 -
subsidiary ~A]
Xi'an Infrastructure [ifgzg %5 237,776 492 532
BYD Electric Car th R EE) T E 71 975
Tianjin Hongdi KA 30,680 806,278
Dongguan Tec-Rich REEn 4,211 7,249
Yinchuan Operation RINEE 33,075 24,729
Faurecia i) 71,958 24,583

3,434,820 5,135,699
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BBAERS ()
ELRAN S ORMBAS B - ()

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 46.

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties: (c)

(continued)

2020 2019
—EBEF —E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T T ARBTT
Amounts due to joint ventures and associates: JE A & A B KB 2 QA
SIH
DENZA fE 190,265 317,452
International Financial Lease RRERE 125,469 92,532
Tianjin BYD KiZh gl 12,451 8,083
Xihu New Energy PR REIR 1,803 280
Guang Qi BYD EattgeE 128,678 69,864
Shenzhen Electric Power Sales and its AYABREE RHE 2,339 11,175
subsidiaries NS
Chongdian Easy REH - 386
BYD Auto Finance (o e Dak= = o 275 62
Faurecia i 769,042 202,270
BYD Electric Car Lhen i E B )& 14,369 17,471
Shenzhen Didi and its subsidiaries R 3% K EL B B A A 540 1,260
Meihao Chuxing ELF AT 896,321 304,654
Dongguan Tec-Rich REE 34,850 56
BYD-TOYOTA EV Technology Co., i E HEE B RHY 12,954 -
Ltd (“BTET") BRAR (e
BEH])
Qinghai Salt Lake BYD Resources BGERLY A E R 208,821 -
Development Co., Ltd. BRATA
2,398,177 1,025,545
2020 2019
—EEF —E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARET T ARBTT
Amounts due to other related parties: FEA E Ath B e 75 BRI -
Northern Qinchuan sl 6 5
Mingzhu Plastic FR TR 28 R 16,630 9,365
Easpring Technology AR 120,683 101,450
UBTECH BsiR 199 37
Onyx International Inc. XAEER 48 -
137,566 110,857

The balances are unsecured, interest-free and have

no fixed terms of repayment.

B RERN - 28 NEREEER
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46.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 46. EEBAXS (&)

(c)

(d)

Outstanding balances with related parties: (c)
(continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had total
lease liabilities with related companies under non-
cancellable leases falling due as follows:

SRR S MR EEARR - ()

RZZF_FTF+_A=1+—H8 &%
ERE ARl EEA AR ES
MEEREAREIIRBERINT

31 December 31 December

2020 2019
—§-%F T A%
+=A=+-H +=A=t-~
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARBTR ARETT

Lease liabilities — current HEGE — BE 9,665 8,299
Lease liabilities — non-current HEBE — JEBNHE 7,480 14,447
17,145 02,746

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s right-of use
assets relating to such rental contracts amounted to
RMB14,912,000 (31 December 2019: 18,797,000).

In 2020, the Group kept a related party deposit
balance of RMB2,500,000,000 with the BYD Auto
Finance, where the annual interest rate was from
1.65% to 2.25% on the basis of the benchmark
interest rate published by the People’s Bank of
China on the deposit for the same period (2019:
Nil).

Compensation of key management personnel (d)
of the Group:

RZZEZTF+A=+—H K&
EHEZEHESCNEENEREEE
BARE14912,0007T (ZZE—h4F
+=-A=+—H :18,797,000) °

RZZTZZF ASEAERTHA
BHeBRNEB S TRBEAARE
25000000007z AR B A RIRTT
N E AT REER R BEE - F
FMENF165%FE225%(=ZZF—H
Fm|E)o

AEBNFTEEBEASEHH :
2020 2019
—ECEHF —FE-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

ARETT ARETTT

Short term employee benefits REEMEEET 71,300 85,140
Pension scheme contributions RRETBIHE R 322 415
71,622 85,555

Further details of directors’ and supervisors’
emoluments are included in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of the items
set out in note 46(a), (b) and (c) do not constitute
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

EEREEHENE—THFBEERE
PEA TS AR L -

BN E46(a) ~ (b) R (c)FTE A
B 8 Bt &%iﬂ%fﬁ%iﬁ%ﬁﬁu’%
14AE 5 F KR E
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 47. DEELRIE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial NEIERR - FESRTANKREES? N
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as N
follows:
2020 —B-EHF
Financial assets TREE
Financial
assets at fair
value through  Financial assets at fair value
profit or loss  through other comprehensive
Mandatorily income
designated  BAREEFELF AL
as such BRUENEREE Financial
WAAEETE Debt Equity assets at
5t ABHEHK  investments investments amortised cost Total
SREERS DA SR AT
BEAZER BERE EiRE ENEREE @t
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETx
Long-term receivables REEWER 1,804,913 1,804,913
Equity investments at fair value through other ~ JAL BEGET AL MG ANE 1,420,080 1,420,080
comprehensive income HERRE
Other non-current financial assets EnEngeniE 284,896 284,896
Trade receivables EUE ZEH 39,307,896 39,307,896
Due from joint ventures and associates EUAEDATRBERFTE 3,434,820 3,434,820
Trade receivable financing U ERE 8,862,340 8,862,340
Financial assets included in prepayments, SABRRE - KRR kAR
other receivables and other assets EENEREE 1,435,461 540,956 1,976,417
Derivative financial instruments TEeRIA 2 24
Pledged deposits BEAER 429,041 429,041
Restricted bank deposits RRHETER 277,491 277,491
Cash and cash equivalents BeRALEED 13,738,498 13,738,498
1,720,381 8,862,340 1,420,080 59,533,615 71,536,416

253



254

BYD Company Limited
LeEsRBBRAE

Notes to Financial Statements

B TS ¥R R B

31 December 2020
—TIEF+TZA=1+—H

47.

FINANCIAL
(continued)

INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 47.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows: (continued)

SEELRMIE (&)
RIsmE - &
T ()

BeRITAMERmESYN

2020 —ECEF
Financial liabilities =R
Financial
liabilities at Financial
fair value liabilities at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
URAREE LA SR A
STEWFAE STEM
maNEMA s =R st
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBT T AR®T T ARBTT
Trade and bills payables ENESERRER 49,791,630 49,791,630
Interest-bearing bank and other AT EIRIT R EAB AR 51,270,597 51,270,597
borrowings
Due to joint ventures and associates JEA &R 8] k& N F] 2,398,177 2,398,177
IE
Due to other related parties JRE A< ELAth B ek 75 kIR 137,566 137,566
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,011,793 1,011,793
Derivative financial instruments TEESBMIE 57,541 57,541
Financial liabilities included in other st AEfbEFRIE R EE 8,860,571 8,860,571
payables and accruals AWEsaE
Other liabilities HibafE 2,808,908 738,193 3,547,101
2,866,499 114,208,527 117,074,976
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 47. Z7E&®mIH (#)
(continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RBERR  SHem I AENKREERYIW
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as T (&)
follows: (continued)
2019 —E-NF
Financial assets cREE
Financial
assets at fair
value through Financial assets at fair value
profit or loss ~ through other comprehensive
Mandatorily income
designated MR BB BUE AL
as such RGNS BEE Financial
WRnBEETE Debt Equity assets at
P ABHEH  investments  investments  amortised cost Total
SREERS P83y
EERZLET EHRE ERRE EMEBEE @i
RMB'000 RMB'’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETT AREFT
Long-term receivables REERES - - - 1,240,340 1,240,340
Equity investments at fair value through WAL BEH BT AL BERAKES - - 1922,304 - 1,922,304
other comprehensive income MERRE
Other non-current financial assets EhEnoendE 46,608 - - - 46,608
Trade receivables EUEHER - - - 40,134,545 40,134,545
Due from joint ventures and associates ~ EWNAELE REEARFE - - - 5,135,699 5,135,699
Trade receivable financing EWFERE - 7,009,379 - - 7,000,379
Financial assets included in prepayments, sfABRZIE - At EREZT REM - - - 717,056 717,056
other receivables and other assets BENSREE
Derivative financial instruments iTE2BIA 34,345 - - - 34,345
Pledged deposits BEAEN - - - 837,921 837,921
Restricted bank deposits XRHRIER - - - 137,865 137,865
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREZEN - - - 11,674,297 11,674,297
80,953 7,009,379 1,922,304 59,877,723 68,890,359

255



256

BYD Company Limited
LeEsRBBRAE

Notes to Financial Statements

B TS ¥R R B

31 December 2020
—TIEF+TZA=1+—H

47.

FINANCIAL
(continued)

INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 47.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows: (continued)

2019 —E-NF
Financial liabilities =R
Financial
liabilities at Financial
fair value liabilities at
through profit amortised
or loss cost Total
IAREE LAY 55 A 7R
STENEAE FrER
mHERaE TRIARE “ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT
Trade and bills payables ENESERRER - 35,340,662 35,340,662
Interest-bearing bank and other FERIT REME R - 75,978,345 75,978,345
borrowings
Due to joint ventures and associates JEN & & A A KE 2 QA - 1,025,545 1,025,545
FRIE
Due to other related parties JE < L Ath BB S 75 5K 8 - 110,857 110,857
Lease liabilities HEBE - 767,720 767,720
Derivative financial instruments THEeRT A 34,307 - 34,307
Financial liabilities included in other T AE A ENFRIE K EAE - 6,511,803 6,511,803
payables and accruals AWEaE
Other liabilities HibBfE 18,855 192,239 211,094
53,162 119,927,171 119,980,333
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of restricted
bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents, pledged
deposits, trade receivables, trade and bills payables,
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, amounts due from/to joint ventures
and associates and amounts due from/to other related
parties approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly
to the chief financial officer and the audit committee. At
each reporting date, the corporate finance team analyses
the movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed
with the audit committee twice a year for interim and annual
financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The changes in fair value as a result of the
Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2020 were
assessed to be insignificant.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on
quoted market prices.

48.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

EMIACZAARBERAABERER

ERECHEZRHRITER RehRE
EEY  CHERER  BRESER - BN
BHERERE  FEABNFIER - HaERK
AR EMEENEREE St AHMERN
RELEAERNSRHAE  BEENE
BNE B N R RIE R A E A
BORENAAEBEEEREEMRES - H)
TEARZEFTLABREHEE -

il

AEBECXBEEFHRELERE A
BEeRMTARAABEMEZBRREER
TCEREERERAMBREREZZES
BE - REHREAHY - CXREEBROINE
MTAZEEZPLRETERANGBEZEE
BAHRT - HEXHYBREEZLIE -
MBBRERERZREEFRTHRFEEY
BHmEHEEREFRERETRRER

/

TREERRBENAABEDNTERALLZ
FHETHRR R Z LA T AE L ERS
M&ERX S W IFERESFROER T #E
17 WTIERBRAR G AR EE

FEERITREMERN AR EERERTEY
AREATRB T IRELRBLUE - EREARM
HAEFHANTAMNBTHNEAE R-F
“EE+-A=+—RH FAEBEABEFER
T REMEFRREORRN D FEZ SR
RTEK °

LtTRERENAABEDREM RS E
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48.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with
various counterparties. The carrying amounts of these
derivative financial instruments are the same as their fair
values. The derivative financial instruments are measured
using valuation techniques similar to forward pricing,
using present value calculations. The models incorporate
various market observable inputs including the credit
quality of counterparties and foreign exchange spot and
forward rates. The carrying amounts of derivative financial
instruments are the same as their fair values.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s and the Company’s financial
instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2020

48.

EMIAZARBEERAAEBEER
(&)
AEBMEETEFAHILTESHBMIA - &
EEERTIANKEEERERAEEM
Rl e TSR T AARERMEBERUZMEE
WERBEEEEMAE - ZFRABHE
ETHSABRRALE BEHUFHZER
Bz HMNERHIREMME - ZETED R
TAMNKREEREAREEBERR -

ARBEEER

TREAFEERAATNSBT AL AR ME
R EER

HAREBEFEREE :
R-ZE-_ZEF+=-A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

AREEFEFANGAE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
SERTE EATBE EXFAH
3R 1E M@ AE EWBHAE
(8—%) (B=4) (E=4) @t
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARET T AR%T T AR%T T
Equity investments at fair value through AR BEFET A AR MEGA 1,420,080 - - 1,420,080
other comprehensive income W tERRE
Financial assets at fair value through WARBEGTEUTABER 14,593 1,705,764 - 1,720,357
profit or loss cREE
Trade receivable financing ElFERE - 8,862,340 - 8,862,340
Derivative financial instruments fTHEERMIA - 24 - 24
1,434,673 10,568,128 - 12,002,801
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

As at 31 December 2019

(&)

AREBEEER (F)
BAREBEFEEE - (#)
R-ZE-AF+ZRA=1—H

N

Fair value measurement using

EMIACZAARBERAABERER

AnBEFEERANBAE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERETS BRAEER EVNGE-
)R {E HEAE EHBAE
(B—8) (B=H) (B=8) et
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Equity investments at fair value through ~ UAR BEGETFAEMEE 1,922,304 - - 1,922,304
other comprehensive income Bhatiol- Ensig e
Financial assets at fair value through WA BEF 2L A B 8,305 38,303 - 46,608
profit or loss SREE
Trade receivable financing EUHIERE - 7,009,379 - 7,009,379
Derivative financial instruments TEeRIA - 34,345 - 34,345
1930609 7,082,027 - 9012636
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48. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 48.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Liabilities measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2020

EMIAZARBERAABEER
(7&)

2 RBEEER ()

KRR (BB BARLE -
R-Z-25+-A=+-~8

Fair value measurement using

AABEFEERANBAE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RS EATUBE  BEAFUE
ke HaAE  ENBAR
(F—4) (B=R) (B=R) Azt

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBT R ARE TR ARBT R AR®T

Other liabilities HibBE - 36,179 - 36,179
Derivative financial instruments fTHEERTA - 57,541 - 57,541
- 93,720 - 93,720

As at 31 December 2019

R-ZZ-hE+=A=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ARBEHEERANEAE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

ERTE BEAUEBR  BEANE

HR(E MBAE  RENBAE

(B—&) (=) (B=R) fact
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTL  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR

Other liabilities Hih At
Derivative financial instruments fTHEERTE

- 18,855 - 18,855
- 34,307 - 34,307

- 53,162 - 53,162
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Liabilities measured at fair value: (continued)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2019: Nil).

Assets for which fair values are disclosed:

As at 31 December 2020

48. TRMIBAZAABERAAEBEER

(&)

DIREBEEER (F)

Kar

BlETENRE - (&)

FA - F-RARE-_FzBALEAREET
EEE TEEBE=ABASEL (ZT—
NE &) -

Fair value measurement using

AREEFERANBAE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EEM S EXTER EXTAH
HEE M AE EH@AE
(-8R (E=8) (B=R) 5t
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTR AR¥TR AR¥TR
Long-term receivables RERWERT - 1,804,913 - 1,804,913
As at 31 December 2019 RoE—hE+=—A=+—H
Fair value measurement using
AREEEEANEAE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
EEM S EAABER EVNOIE =
HRE M AE ENBAE
(E—4) (B=8) (=) @5t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARETT  ARETR
Long-term receivables KRR - 1,240,340 - 1,240,340
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48.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 48. %
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

As at 31 December 2020

BMIEZR

(&)
REERER (K]
BEAABENRE -
R-E-EF+ZA=1—H

n

E

Fair value measurement using

REEERD

BEEER

ANEEFERANAAE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BB S EATEER EXTAH
HRE N AE EN@AE
(E—4) (B=8&) (B=H) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBT T ARBT T AR®T T
Other liabilities HibBE - 2,964,968 - 2,964,968
Interest-bearing bank and other TEBITREMER - 51,270,597 - 51,270,597
borrowings
- 54,235,565 - 54,235,565
As at 31 December 2019 R=-E—-hE+=-RA=+—H
Fair value measurement using
AREEFERANBAE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
BT BRAEHER ERATAE
BB B AE REBAE
(B—8) (B=®) (B=8) w@st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AREFT NS
Other liabilities Hihaf - 192,239 - 192,239
Interest-bearing bank and other FERITRAMER - 75,978,345 - 750978345
borrowings
- 76,170,584 - 76,170,584
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivative financial instruments, comprise interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, restricted bank deposits,
pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents. The
main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from
its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s accounting
policies in relation to derivative financial instruments are
set out in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term
debt obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a
mix of fixed and variable rate debts. At 31 December 2020,
approximately 56% (2019: 72%) of the Group’s interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings bore interest at fixed
rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rate, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings) and the
Group’s equity.
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MBEREEBRERBER

AEENFTZEeRIA(DTE2RIAR
5N BEEFTBIRIT R EMER - R HIRTT
TR BERAERARR S RASEEY -
ﬁt%%ﬂIﬁE’\Jixﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁil%%ﬁ%
E8E8e AEBEFEMTAEHEENRE
B WERBEEBEENEREEZERRE
FERTE ZIRAK o
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REENBRERIBEERTEEREAE
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

BEEBEERRRBEK ()

Interest rate risk (continued) F= @ ()
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in profit (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity*
BEHH  BRBIADEFN N
#gm, ) Em OGfd) #Eh R
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
2020 —E-EE
RMB AR 25 (19,027) (19,027)
RMB AR (25) 19,027 19,027
2019 —EB-hF
RMB AR 25 (22,858) (22,858)
RMB AR (25) 22 858 22,858
* Excluding retained profits and exchange fluctuation * TEIE BB T35 H) K2 HINGEE SR B o 1
reserve

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units
in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies,
where the revenue is predominately denominated in
US$ and RMB and a certain portion of the bank loans is
denominated in US$. The Group takes rolling forecast
on foreign currency revenue and expenses and matches
the currency and amounts incurred, so as to alleviate the
impact on business due to exchange rate fluctuations.

SME LB

AEEHRZZMENEERR o ttRRRH
BEBMETUARDEEE NI ER LK
HIHERBERBME - MBAERETR
ARKEFHEME TRITERKRAEXTAE -
REBHEINE WA RS ETEMERN
A EEXRAEENSREECL - #MmR
EINEERFRUHEIHNTE
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change
in the US$ exchange rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes
in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) and the
Group’s equity.
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BEEBEERRRBEK ()

SER B (4F)

TRIAXEENOBRHAGEN (HREEE
ENRBEAAEERZY) RASERSEN R
EHRYETNER (RMENE SRR
TE&) EEARENEBHNHEE -

Increase/ Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) (decrease)
(decrease) in profit in owners’
in USS$ rate before tax equity*
EE
ErER RR B Al E T EE
#g,CEA) #in Chd) i‘”’ilu/(/ﬁ'l‘
% RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥TR AR¥TR
2020 —B-ZF
If RMB weakens against US$ M AR N ETRE 5 288,207 288,207
If RMB strengthens against US$ i AR W T HHE (5) (288,207) (288,207)
2019 —EB-hF
If RMB weakens against US$ M AR HETRE 5 233,485 233,485
If RMB strengthens against US$ i AR W ETHE (5) (233,485) (233,485)
* Excluding retained profits and exchange fluctuation * TEEBBEENRINE G B FEE
reserve
Credit risk =EE8EK%

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

In addition,

AEBERRUTREEBENFE = THETE
" ARENBRASEMBEAEBUNEENR
SHNEPETEERRZREF < MH - BUER
RERBETER  MAKBEZRERNRERL
REKX -
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49.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 49. HEEKREEBERBUEK (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued) FERK ()
Maximum exposure and year-end staging A RFAESEE
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TREFIRT_A=+—BREREENE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, EERRITNEERBRZEEEEZEREKR
which is mainly based on past due information unless WA ARFRERSR - EETZEREHH
other information is available without undue cost or effort, B (BRIFATEN BB MBERRNSIE S
and year-end staging classification as at 31 December. BERATHREEMERBISERR) /EL © A
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for 2IMESEREREENRMAEBERIMEE
financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for financial RERBEERRHA
guarantee contracts.
As at 31 December 2020 R-E-ZEF+=-A=+—H
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 %S
EEER ERABHEEFE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
K& [ 1:9) B&3 Lf#73 E
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Long-term receivables REEUER - - - 1,878,736 1,878,736
Contract assets AREE - - - 5,635,217 5,635,217
Trade receivables® BWESER - - 1,578,142 39,896,701 41,474,843
Trade receivable financing EUFERE 8,944,313 - - - 8,944,313
Financial assets included in prepayments, s ATEIFUE - EfRUESREL
other receivables and other assets BENSHEE
- Normal** -5 485,525 - - - 485,525
- Doubtful** - RE - - 94,616 - 94,616
Due from joint ventures and associates” A E QA B &N RIFE" - - - 3,573,678 3,573,678
Pledged deposits BERER - - - - -
- Not yet past due - R 429,041 - - - 429,041
Restricted bank deposits RBHRTER 277,491 - - = 277,491
Cash and cash equivalents BERALZED 13,738,498 - - - 13,738,498
Exposure on guarantees to finance leasing BETENFERER
companies
- Not yet past due -ApH 8,644,159 - - = 8,644,159

32,519,027

= 1,672,758 50,984,332 85,176,117
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Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2019

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

BEEBEERRRBEK ()

FERRE (&)

W=B-AE+=A=+-A

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12[8R%EH
FEFE ERNEHEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
LEY B2 &3 Bk &
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETT AREFT
Long-term receivables RERNER - - - 1,264,256 1,264,256
Contract assets REEE - - - 7,061,365 7,061,365
Trade receivables” BUESEZ - - 1,331,858 40,366,102 41,697,960
Trade receivable financing EYERE 7,078,671 - - - 7,078,671
Financial assets included in prepayments, st AT IE - At ERER LM
other receivables and other assets BENSBEE
- Normal** -EE" 717,931 - - 717,931
- Doubtful** - RE - - 94,616 - 94,616
Due from joint ventures and associates”  EMAERARBEAFZE" - - - 5,239,809 5,239,809
Pledged deposits BERER
- Not yet past due - K@ 837,921 - - - 837,921
Restricted bank deposits RRHFTER 137,865 - - - 137,865
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREZEN 11,674,207 - - - 11,674,297
Exposure on guarantees to finance leasing BETELNFERER
companies
- Not yet past due - &0H 11,163,670 - - - 11,163,670
31,610,355 S 14474 53931532 86,968,361
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49.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

*

For trade receivables, amounts due from joint ventures
and associates and amounts due from other related
parties to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

> The credit quality of financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to funds shortage using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank borrowings, lease liabilities and corporate bonds.
In addition, banking facilities have been put in place for
contingency purposes. Except for the non-current portion of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, lease liabilities
and certain corporate bonds, all borrowings would mature
in less than one year at the end of the reporting period.

49.

BEEBEERRRBEK ()

FERRE (&)

* HEKESER  AEBECEAMILET
BEAREMNEIRAE AR REE QBN
T8 I FEUR E BB 5 FRIB M S - IRIRRE
HEEBAENERBERNE HFIBHRE
MizE24 o

* FTATEN TR - E bR R B A&
ENEREENGEEER  EHAaH
REERIEHSREE QYIS HERLEN
EERBRBEZENNOBERT  BWER
[ER]-BRuzI eMEENEEEL
EWRBIRIE] -

RBEEER

AEBEBRAKLEERBDESFETA
ERHEESRROER ZTAZES@HT
BERhemERE (i BUE SRR W2H
ARREREXBNERRDRE -

AEENERAEBFARITENR  HER
BERABEFAEBES AR EE LN
Py e dhsh - REED ZBHRTTRIE B IAE
TR2H - BFFBRRITREMER  HER
BRETREESFHFERNHAE DS - RS
HRZBIERER—FREH -
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AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

49. HKEREREBERBEKR (#)
RBESERE (E)

AEBRFEHRRESRATREARNE
BMEEKNATHBREEE

Financial liabilities ZHEE
2020
- - 3:3
3to
Less than less than 1to Over
On demand 3months 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
ZEtZfiR
REX  =fAUT AT -B1f BENE aft
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARETR ARETr ARETR ARETn ARETn  ARETR
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings S35/ REMEH 5,168,093 24,080,562 26,020,717 294,173 55,563,545
Lease liabilities HEBE 53,950 143,191 459,036 681,299 1,337,476
Trade and bills payables RECETYES 603,992 39,300,146 9,887,490 - - 49,791,628
Due to joint ventures ERAENEHE 2,398,177 - - - 2,398,177
Due to other related parties R EMEYRAFE 137,566 - - - 137,566
Financial liabilities included in other SARMEAZEREEAN 1,280,305 3,651,398 3,514,701 - - 8,446,404
payables and accruals SHER
Other liabilities EtBE - - - 2,964,969 36,178 3,001,147
1,884,297 50,709,330 37,625,944 29,444,722 1,011,650 120,675,943
Financial quarantees issued BHEBER

Maximum amount guaranteed ERNEREE 8,644,159

= = = = 8,644,159
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49.

S

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 49.

AND POLICIES (continued)

BEEBEERRRBEK ()

Liquidity risk (continued) rEBESERE (&)
Financial liabilities (continued) THEE(F)
2019
ZENE
3to
Less than less than 110 Over
On demand 3 months 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
e )
RER  =fAUT BT —Enf RENE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'’000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETT  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETRT  AR¥TR
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings it 81T REMET - 17003964 39,267,396 24,055,084 176,621 80,503,065
Lease liabilities HEER 78,466 200,204 390,496 298,650 967,816
Trade and bills payables ENEZETREE 560,429 25,808,925 8,971,308 - - 35340,662
Due to joint ventures EREENRHE - 1025545 - - - 1025545
Due to other related parties NGBS AR - 110,857 - - - 110,857
Financial liabilities included in other STAEMEAZEREGERLN 1083449 2403659 2464497 - - 5951605
payables and accruals THAR
Other liabilities Eak - - - 192,239 18,855 211,004
1,643,878 46,431,416 50,903,405 24,637,819 494126 124,110,644
Financial guarantees issued RINBRER
Maximum amount guaranteed EROSALE 11,163,670 - - - - 11,163,670
Capital management EXER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management

are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going

concern and to maintain a healthy capital ratio in order to

support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

AEBEREENTRABRLSREANEERF
BRENESN  UHKRBROEARLEUR
HEBREIFRENCRRER -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is net debt divided by equity. The Group’s policy is to
maintain the gearing ratio as low as possible. Net debt
includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and
lease liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents. Equity
represents equity attributable to owners of the parent. The
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were
as follows:

49.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

BEEBEERRRBEK ()

EXEE (#)

AR EEREEARBILARBLENR R 1 2
DHEFELRAE - REFAFBRERRE
AREELEABRIMNTRROKE - BRRE
ABRKFITHRY - AREBEZTMAIN
HERNERZRAR -HEZF-_FF+
ZA=t—BR=ZFT-NF+ZA=1+—H
HFE - BAEENER  BRIBRLE
&S

AEBEBRERBEANGELX (BREFR
PROAVER) EEHER - AEBENBRERE
BAREERNBBLE - AEFHEBEFE
RITRAEMERLEEREL NGRS RIR
TEEY BEAY AR AEHEE -
RmERRNERBBLLRDT ¢

31 December 31 December

2020 2019

TEBEDEF —E-NEF

+=B=+—-H +=ZA=+—8H

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBFT

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &2 8877 & E 0 {& 5Kk 51,270,597 75,978,345
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,011,793 767,720

Less: Cash and cash equivalents

(13,738,498)  (11,674,297)

Net debt BEFE 38,543,892 65,071,768
Equity attributable to owners of the parent* A RIEA ARG 55,779,682 52 367,697
Gearing ratio BEARBELE 69% 124%

Equity attributable to owners of the parent excluded the
amount of perpetual loans of RMB1,094,592,000 (2019:
RMB4,394,592,000).

* SRAHEA ARGEZDNBRKEBA
R#1,094,592,0007C (ZZE— L4 ¢
AR 4,394,592,0007T) °
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50.

51.

DIVIDENDS 50. KA
2020 2019
—EZEHF —E-NEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBEFTT
Proposed final - RMB0.148 (2019: RMB0.06) #Z&#AKIPFR LB 423,449 163,689
per ordinary share ARM0.148TT (ZE—NF -
AR¥0.067T)
423,449 163,689

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets that are not derecognised in their
entirety

At 31 December 2020, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks in Mainland China (the
“Endorsed Bills”) with a carrying amount of RMB5,751,000
(2019: RMB9,348,000) to certain of its suppliers in
order to settle trade payables due to such suppliers
(the “Endorsement”). In the opinion of the directors, the
Group has retained substantial risks and rewards, which
include default risks relating to such Endorsed Bills, and
accordingly, the Group continued to recognise the full
carrying amounts of the Endorsed Bills and the associated
trade payables settled. Subsequent to the Endorsement,
the Group did not retain any rights on the use of the
Endorsed Bills, including the sale, transfer or pledge of the
Endorsed Bills to any other third parties. The aggregate
carrying amount of the trade payables settled by the
Endorsed Bills during the year to which the suppliers have
recourse was RMB5,751,000 (2019: RMB9,348,000) as at
31 December 2020.

51.

AEERBERPREATARRBREREREA
FHBCRIBE RS LHAER - TRER -

THEEER
AREHERINEHEE

RoBE-ZEHE+-A=+—H AEEAH
ETHERSE([BE]) BEFEAMERIT
BEMNETERZER ((ESXERE])  E@
BEAARES,751,000C (ZE—N1F : AR
#9,348,0007T) & LAKEB BN Z S ER M
ENESER -EERAE  AEBDREE
REBoREBMER  BEEHEEEEEERD
EHRR - At - HEETIHRADEEER
BOEREMMIFEEEERNEZER - ®
BHER  ASBUYAREEEZEMNERR
BAMER  BEATAELE=FHE
ERLEHEBERE R _FF+=
A=+—8 FREACEEZERNAFGE
REMNEEIEENENZE ZEFNEERR
BEAARES751,000C (ZE—LF : AR
#9,348,0007T) °
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(continued)

Financial assets that are derecognised in their
entirety

In 2020, the Group conducted certain bill discounting
with several banks in China (the “Discounted Bills”) with
a carrying amount of RMB12,378,432,000 (31 December
2019: RMB4,287,360,000). In the opinion of the directors,
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards relating to the Discounted Bills at the time of
discounting, which meets the conditions of derecognition
of financial assets, and therefore fully derecognised the
Discounted Bills at their carrying amount on the discounting
date. However, the Group continue to be exposed to the
risks of repurchasing such bills at their carrying amount
since the banks are entitled to recourse against the Group
if the bills are rejected by the acceptors when falling due
(“Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the directors,
the fair value of the Continuing Involvement is insignificant.
During the year, the Group did not recognise any profit
or loss from the transfer of Discounted Bills or from the
Continuing Involvement.

At 31 December 2020, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks in Mainland China (the
“Derecognised Bills”) to certain of its suppliers in order
to settle trade payables due to these suppliers with a
carrying amount of RMB6,585,688,000 (31 December 2019:
RMB6,673,147,000). The Derecognised Bills had a maturity
of one to twelve months at the end of the reporting period.
In accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments
in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills have a
right of recourse against the Group if the guarantor banks
default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of
the directors, the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills.
Accordingly, the Group has derecognised the full carrying
amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the associated
trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss from the
Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills
and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these
Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying amounts. In
the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the Group’s
Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills are not
significant. During the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group has not recognised any gain or loss from the transfer
of the Derecognised Bills or the Continuing Involvement.

51.

B 5 ¥ R B

31 December 2020
—TIFF+ZA=1+—H

THEEER (A)
TERERANEREE

RZEZZTF AEEEFEZRRITHAR
ETEBRR((MBREE X% BEESR
ANR#12,378,432,000t (= —hF+=
B=+—H: AR#4,287,360,0007T) ¥

ERR - NERBEAKECDKER THEHRE
SREAMNBRE D AR EBH - TS

BMEER LERGMSE  Fitt - RERBRR
FEHEZHRIEERMERE - Al - A&
FHaEEREEAERQARRENER
ABIMRAEAN AEERIMEEBLN - R
TEEAAEEER ([BESAN]) - EFR
R BESANAABEITEK - RAF
B AEBVEERVAREXAEEY
AFEREER o

RZZBZZF+_A=+—0 AX&EEHMA

HETHERSEETHAMARITER
m6¥ﬁ% "B ([EREERRE])
NBBHEAZSHERNCEEEAARKE
6,585,688,000 L 2 EN B ZIEA (ZFT—N,
F+=-—A=+—H: AR¥6,673,147,000
T0) c RERERR - BRUEERZEN R A

BR—Z2+_{EA  REVFEARAMER
BE - WMERRITHERIE  CHEERSE

BZREASAKEHEENE ([FES
H]) BEERA- $E.ELﬁﬁ%Eﬁ%
BRER 2B BERROIH - Bt - K
SEHEE %ﬁ%%ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁwmﬁ&ﬁ%
RNESERZEEE FRAEEFES
HEHEERAREZEBRRBRZEC R
BREBZANMBARSREZEANROEE
REEFB2EHE - EFRE - AEEF
BL2HECDRHERRREBZAABETIK - R
BE_ZT_ZF+_A=+—RHLEFE &
SEHARBEREFRREZRX QBB NER
Efl1B s
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51. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

(continued)

Financial assets that are derecognised in their

entirety (continued)

In the ordinary course of business, the Group has factored
a small amount of receivables measured at amortised
cost to financial institutions without recourse for its short-
term financing needs, and has entered into non-recourse
receivables factoring agreements with a number of
banks to transfer certain receivables to those banks (the
“Factored Receivables”). Under certain receivable factoring
agreements, the Group is not required to undertake default
risks and the delayed repayment risk from the debtors
after the transfer of the Factored Receivables, and all
risks and rewards relating to the Factored Receivables
are transferred. The condition of derecognition of financial
assets is met. Therefore, the Group derecognised the
Factored Receivables at their carrying amounts. As at
31 December 2020, the carrying amount of transferred
Factored Receivables amounted to RMB3,813,206,000
(31 December 2019: RMB14,120,159,000), and the loss
relating to derecognition amounted to RMB299,523,000 (31

December 2019: RMB519,134,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has
an enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
of trade receivables and trade payables and the Group
has an intention to settle on a net basis. The aggregate
carrying amount of the trade receivables and trade
payables offset was RMB3,017,666,000 as at 31 December

2020 (31 December 2019: RMB3,508,810,000).

52. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(1) The 2020 proposed profit distribution plan was
approved at the 8th Meeting of the Seventh Session
of the Board of the Company dated 29 March 2021.
Based on the total share capital of 2,861,142,855
shares as at 29 March 2021, a cash dividend of
RMB423,449,000 (i.e. a cash dividend of RMB0.148
per share (tax inclusive)) will be distributed. The
dividend distribution plan is subject to consideration
and approval of the Company’s shareholders at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

51.

52.

TRHEEER (&)

TERHERANSHEE (H)

AEETEHREBTRAOHARERT G2
LA SE R AR 2 M B IR A BB i A
ANRELCREIE  WHELSRIRITITLE
BRAENEKERRERS B85 TREK
EREETZERT ([ERERRE]) -
TETERERREHET  AEETFH
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SFEIEE SRR - R WER R
ZETERRMBE - TEREEREHE
EG - Bt - REBEYEKRERREBIZER
BREEAEER RIE-_EF+_A=+
—H DERMNEREFRREEEDEAA
R#3,813,206,000t (ZE—LF+=A
=+—H: AR#14,120,159,0007T) @ £
BUEEERAE B E R A AR 299,523,000
T(ZZE—hhF+ZA=+—8: AR¥
519,134,0007T) °

BE-ZTZZEF+_A=+—HLFE "
RNEBE A B A& FI 1T 205 T AEF AT 8H
EHRUAERESERNRBEZEERS
B AAEEAERFEEALELE - R
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RENESEFNERELEREARARKE
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(continued)

2)

According to the Approval Regarding the Issuance
of Overseas Listed Foreign Shares by BYD Company
Limited (CSRC Approval [2021] No. 83) from the
China Securities Regulatory Commission and the
approval from the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
regarding the listing of the the Placing Shares on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the Company
issued an aggregate of 133,000,000 new H shares
(the “placing shares”) to not less than six Placees
(who and whose ultimate beneficial owners are third
parties independent of and not connected with the
Company, connected persons of the Company and
any of the Directors, supervisors, chief executive or
substantial shareholder(s) of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries or their respective associates)
at the Placing Price of HK$225.00 on 28 January
2021, representing approximately 12.69% of the
total number of H Shares in issue as enlarged by
the allotment and issue of the Placing Shares. The
aggregate net proceeds after deduction of the
commissions and estimated expenses from the
Placing amount to approximately HK$29,801 million.
For further details please refer to the announcement
of the company dated 28 January 2021.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

The presentation of certain items and balances in the
financial statements have been revised and certain
comparative amounts have been reclassified and restated
to conform with the current year’s presentation.

52.
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54.

—ZEF+-A=+—H
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 54. ZXATZBEMRRR
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the BEAARRTRMERAR B RATNER
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BT
2020 2019
—E-EF = — L
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T T AREETTT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Yz BB REE 900,530 1,262,490
Investment properties "EME 57,168 58,778
Investments in subsidiaries EAMT%"TE’J&;& 18,183,382 17,904,535
Investments in joint ventures REERFINIEE 1,629,654 1,571,400
Investments in associates REERFNIEE 555,978 533,478
Other intangible assets HEtwBEEE 268,720 194,898
Non-current prepayments JERENTEN FRIE 11,028 29,706
Right-of-use assets FREEE 21,892 41,820
Equity investments at fair value through other ’A/‘t BEFTEXT ARG 1,420,080 1,922 304
comprehensive income @A
Other non-current financial assets HEMIEREBEHMERE 122,303 1,503
Total non-current assets REBEERE 23,170,735 23,520,912
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories F& 36,772 77,006
Trade receivables JEUE SER K 206,848 173,862
Trade receivable financing R FRIE B E 162,128 273,796
Prepayments, other receivables and other TERTFRIE - HAEUAR R R HAt 746,095 538,475
assets BE
Due from subsidiaries A C NI B 25,979,505 42,082,231
Due from joint ventures EU A &N RIFRIE 278,714 276,634
Restricted bank deposits xBE%UfEﬂT?ﬁA 0 26,640
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEY 2,774,076 1,783,033
Total current assets MEEERE 30,184,138 45,231,677
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 54.

COMPANY (continued)

Information about the statement of financial position of the

b E e S

31 December 2020

—TTF+ZA=t—H
KARZ BB R T (F)

BERAARARBERR I BERRKROER

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BT - ()
(continued)
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T T ARBET T
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and bills payables BNEZEANEE 1,697,701 2,714,960
Other payables Hoth FE S 5R0E 1,736,011 2,351,768
Lease liabilities fHeEaE 2,746 16,563
Contract liabilities ERAaE 115,769 72,924
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &2 3R1T & E M {E 5K 8,582,136 15,836,939
Due to joint ventures FERT& & ARIFIE 32,254 162,286
Due to subsidiaries RSB 2,163,815 4,934,911
Tax payable FE TR IR 1,425 1,425
Total current liabilities mB B EARE 14,331,857 26,091,776
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 15,852,281 19,139,901
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEAERARBEE 39,023,016 42,660,813
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5t /2$877 R H M ER 14,740,459 14,598,055
Lease liabilities HEAE 390 6,648
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEBE - 63,644
Deferred income IRIEHA 1,810 12,152
Other non-current liabilities HEM3EmeaE 249,501 -
Total non-current liabilities MBI EES 14,992,160 14,680,499
Net assets BESFE 24,030,856 27,980,314
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of the parent NEEE ANEGEZ
Share capital &N 2,728,143 2,728,143
Reserves & 20,208,121 20,857,579
Perpetual loans KEE 1,094,592 4,394,592
24,030,856 27,980,314
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54.

S

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 54.

COMPANY (continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Bisz -

AARzFHHMESHRWT -

RRRZ BT R (F)

Fair value
reserve of
financial
assets at
fair value
Share through other Statutory
premium Capital comprehensive surplus  Retained  Perpetual
account reserve income reserve fund profits loans Total
NAREETE
B ARt EE
WENEHEE EERE
REER  EARE WANEERE AEE BEEA XiEfE @t
RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETRT  AR%TR ARETR  ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETR
t 1 January 2019 RZE-n%-A-H 19,980,490 (225,407 (45,263) 676,619 921,390 3,895,800 25,203,629
Profit for the year EEET - - - - 112,607 - 112,607
Other comprehensive income for the year: FEEf&A M :
Change in fair value of trade receivable ~ ERFUBRE D4 BERE - - (2619) - - - (2,619)
financing
Change in fair value of equity DA BB RN AL MEGE - - 237,691 - - - 237,691
investments at fair value through other ~ MERERRENAABER
comprehensive income E)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ KB4 AN AE - - 235,072 - 112,607 - 347,679
Issue of perpetual loans BITKERE - - - - - 498,792 498,792
Perpetual loan interest (note 72) KEERIS (W 12) - - - - (241388) - (241388)
Final 2018 dividend paid EH-E-NERERE - - - - (56,541) - (556,541)
Appropriation to statutory surplus BREZETRRARS - - - 26,783 (26,783) - -
reserve fund
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA=+-H 19,980,490 (225,407) 189,809 703,402 209,285 4394592 25,252,171
t 1 January 2020 RZE-F%-f-H 19,980,490 (225,407) 189,809 703,402 209,285 4,394,592 25,252,171
Profit for the year EREF - - - - 169,420 - 169,420
Other comprehensive income for the year: FEEf&A M : - - - - - - -
Change in fair value of trade receivable ~ EMGERE N4 EEEZE - - 2,388 - - - 2,388
financing
Change in fair value of equity investments A4 BEELH AR MES - - (438,579) - - - (438,579)
at fair value through other WanERRELABEED
comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year  FRGANEER - - (436,191) - 169,420 - (266,771)
Issue of perpetual loans BITKEE - - - - - (3,300,000) (3,300,000)
Perpetual loan interest KEERIS - - - - (218,998) - (218,998)
Final 2019 dividend paid BENZE-NERBEE = - - - (163,689) - (163,689)
Appropriation to statutory surplus reserve  ERZATRHLES - - - 26,779 (26,779) - -
fund
At 31 December 2020 WoECTETSASH-R 19980490 (225,407) (246382) 730181 (30761) 1,004502 21,302,713
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Notes to Financial Statements

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 29 March 2021.
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BYD Company Limited
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Five Year Financial Summary

EFHBERE

31 December 2020

—F-FE+-A=t+-A

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and minority
interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the published audited financial statements and restated/

reclassified as appropriate, is set out below.

NTRAKEREREAVRFEZFEAREE
BERVBERRESIME  DREATIRZLE
REBHmE  WKEEEY S ERHE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
Z328E ZD-NF ZE-0\F ZZ-tE ZE5F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
(Restated)
(15
REVENUE WA 153,469,184 121,778,117 121,790,925 102,650,614 100,207,703
Cost of sales BENA (126,225,593)  (103,702,124) (103,724,161)  (84,715,540)  (81,189,440)
Gross profit EH 27,243,591 18,075,993 18,066,764 17,935,074 19,018,263
Other income and gains Et A\ Rz 1,700,078 1,974,950 2,137,163 1,153,210 926,216
Government grants and subsidies BT EE R 1,688,142 1,707,657 2,332,863 1,275,807 710,939
Selling and distribution costs HERDERE (5,085,613)  (4,345,897)  (4,729.481)  (4,925288)  (4,196,339)
Research and development costs HRERERAS (7,464,861)  (5629,372)  (4,989,360)  (3,739,491)  (3,171,694)
Administrative expenses GE (4,395,630) (4,232,316) (3,826,379) (3,047,734) (3,690,339)
Impairment losses on financial and contract assets  £BRAREENFELE (1,166,268) (477, 031) (332,080) TiEH TiEA
Loss on disposal of financial assets measured HENEHRAHENSRERRR (299,523) (519,134) (361,765) TER TEf
at amortised cost
Other expenses Eff% (2,056,691) (213,536) (568,610) (463,645) (629,203)
Finance costs BERA (3,123,801)  (3487.407)  (3,118751) (2,342,770  (1,799,609)
Share of profits and losses of: AMEENRER
Joint ventures ABRT (198,955) (435,311) (277,602) (270,959) (619,528)
Associates BERT 12,118 12,535 52,878 46,437 19,704
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B ARR 6,882,587 2,431,131 4,385,640 5,620,641 6,568,410
Income tax expense FEREZ (868,624) (312,274) (829,447) (703,705)  (1,088,398)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR KEERER 6,013,963 2,118,857 3,556,193 4,916,936 5,480,012
Attributable to: TATEL
Equity holders of the parent HRARERFBA 4,234,267 1,614,450 2,780,194 4,066,478 5,052,154
Minority interests PERRER 1,779,696 504,407 775,999 850,458 427,858
6,013,963 2,118,857 3,556,193 4,916,936 5,480,012
TOTAL ASSETS EEMAE 201,017,321 195,641,593 194,571,077 178,099,430 145,070,778
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEAE (136,563,409)  (133,040,173) (133,877,098) (118,141943)  (89,661,415)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS FERER (7,579,638)  (5839,131)  (5495,690)  (4,953,293)  (4,153,434)
NET ASSETS (EXCLUDING FEEE (TREFERESR) 56,874,274 56,762,289 55,198,289 55,004,194 51,255,929

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS)
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